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For the defendants: William Kuntsler, Esq.
New York, N. Y.
ROTHWAX, J.:

On Sunday, February 21, 1965, at the Audobon Ballroom
in Manhattan, Malcolm X, leader of the Organization of Afro-
American Unity and Muslem Mosque, Inc., was gunned down as he
addressed a meeting of his followers. An extensive police in-
vestigation ensued, with the cooperation of the FBI, One

i Thomas Hagan was wounded in the altercation and was arrested by

| police outside the Audobon Ballroom. Subsequently, on March 10,

Il 1965, Hagan and the petitioners here were indicted for the murder
of Malcolm X. They were tried before a jury and convicted on
March 11, 1966. The convictions were upheld on appeal, first by

| the Appellate Division First Department (29 AD2d 931) and finally




by the State Court of Appeals (24 NY2d 395). The United States
Supreme Court denied certiorari sub. nom,(Hayer v New York, 396
Us 886).

The petitioners, presently serving their sentence, now
move to vacate the judgments of conviction on the basis of
exculpatory evidence newly discovered and for reasons of prosecu-
torial misconduct (CPL 440.10 [1] [f] [g]). In the alternative,
petitioners request a hearing to determine whether, in fact,
their convictions should be set aside and a new trial ordered.

This court has had these motions under consideration
since February 1978. During that period, petitioners have
submitted numerous documentss including affidavits and FBI
memoranda pertaining to the investigation and prosecution of this
[ case. The question to be resolved by the court at this time is
whether these exhibits create a probability that the original
verdict in this case would have been otherwise had the jury
considered any evidence therein contained, or whether the docu-
¥7ments disclose prosecutorial misconduct which may have deprived
petitioners of a fair trial (People v Crimmins, 38 NY2d 407).

Two affidavits are in issue. The first, an original
and a supplementary affidavit, is that of Thomas Hagan. Mr.
Hagan affirms that it was he and four others, not the petitioners

here, who murdered Malcolm X in February 1965. The information

contained in Mr, Hagan's affidavit is a recapitulation, although

somewhat more specific, of his testimony at the original trial.
7 Petitioners argue that by virtue of the specifics which affiant

Hagan now relates, his testimony would be much more credible in




its present form so as to affect the outcome of a second trial.

7 }he court notes that the information Mr. Hagan now proffers is un-
corroborated by the testimony of any other witness either at
present or at the time of the original trial. The court also finds
that it is unlikely that the persons whom affiant Hagan names would
corroborate his allegations of their own accord. The petitioners
suggest that the district attorney be directed by this court to
conduct an investigation in corroboration of affiant Hagan's
allegations, including lineups, fingerprint comparisons and other
techniques. The court must question the reliability of any
identification which comes thirteen years after the events in
question to inculpate persons who apparently were never the object
of suspicion despite the thorough efforts of local, state and

federal law enforcement officials. The rights of those at whom

[affiant Hagan points the finger of suspicion must also be considered

'The facts adduced by petitioners do not rise to the level of
probable cause to believe that those named were in any way connected
with this crime. Accordingly, this court cannot order the district
attorney to interrogate these persons, nor subject them to court
ordered identification procedures. The district attorney has an
obligation to the fair administration of public justice independent
lof the authority of this court. His is the prosecutorial
discretion. The court notes that the prosecutor has been forth-
coming with government documents and has in no way obstructed the

reevaluation of this case. Were there reliable evidence which

tended to support the conclusions that petitioners suggest, this
lcourt is confident that the district attorney would undertake to

8




ensure that no miscarriage of justice had occurred. However, the

burden on a motion to vacate judgment is the petitionersi

The second affidavit upon which petitioners rely is that
of Benjamin Goodman. Mr. Goodman was present in the Audobon
Ballroom when the murderous acts occurred. He now affirms that
from his vantage on the dais he would have necessarily seen the
petitioners whom he knew, and that he can therefore testify that
petitioners were not present at the time of the crime. Mr.
Goodman's affidavit contradicts his verbatim testimony before the
grand jury that indicted the petitioners. Mr. Goodman testified
before the grand jury that he did not know and could not say
whether or not the petitioners were present in the Audobon Ballroom
at the time in question. Mr. Goodman's offer of proof is con-
sequently subject to impeachment from his own contemporaneous
testimony. There is no likelihood that his present testimony
would affect the original verdict upon a new trial (People v
Crimmins, supra at 417).

These affidavits, complete on their face, conclusively
demonstrate that the offer of proof they contain is neither new
nor so reliable as to create a probability of a more favorable
verdict. Accordingly no hearing is required (People v Crimmins,
supra at 417).

The coram nobis portion of petitioners' motion relates
that one Gene Roberts, who was listed among those witnesses
available to the defense at trial, was, unknown to the defense,

an undercover officer. Mr. Roberts' status was revealed in 1971




whan he testified in an unrelated case, Petitioners argue that

the jury would in all vrobability have given more credence to

the prosecution's case had the presence of an undercover officer

the claim of law enforcement involvement and less credence to ‘
|
|

at the crime scene been disclosed. The court notes that there

is no evidence which in any way connects Mr. Roberts or the

police or the WBI generally to the murder of Malcolm X.

Mr. Roberts! status as an undercover officer has no direct re-

lation to the issue of guilt or innocence. 4

Goggins, 3lp NY24 163, 170, wor is thers any ind

the prosecution purposefully deceived the defense couns as to

the presence of undercover police officers at t time of the

murder,
i The probability of a different verdict upon a new trial
must necessarily depend, in part, upon the nature and strensth

of' the evidence of guilt at the original proceeding. The
Appellate Division characterized the proof of petitioners?
guilt, based upon numerous eyewitness identificati ong, as "over-
whelming." (29 Appa at 931.) The courts review of the sub-
mitted documents corroborates the existence of numerous witnessed
who identified Mr. Hagan and the petitioners as the murd rs,
yther points raised by the petitioners have been
considered: inc'uding the disappearance and return, before trial,|
of Ruben Frances and the disappearance of the luger pistol; the i
existence of other suspects during the investigation; and the
questionable actions of the WBI toward the organization of

Afro-American Unity disclosed in the submitted documents., None

of these factors, however, has a direct bearing on the issue of
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petitioners! guilt or innocence or on the quality of the
prosecutor's case in the original trial,

Despite the best efforts of courts, prosecutors, and
the most able defense counsel,the spectre of justice denied
cannot ever be laid entirely to rest. No criminal case is ever

proved beyond all doubt. We may approximate, but may never

duplicate, the ideal of perfect justice.

Nonetheless, this court being mindful of the responsi-
bility which the discretionary nature of these motions places
upon it, is convinced to a high degree of certainty that the
facts which petitioners present do not suggest a miscarriage
of justice in their case.

The motion to vacate judgment or alternatively for a
] 3

denied.

hearing on these-motions is accordi




ORIGINAL

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X
BUTLER) and KHALIL ISLAM
(THOMAS 15X JOHNSON) ,
Petitioners,
-against- PETITION FOR WRIT OF
HABEAS CORPUS
SUPERINTENDENT OI' OSSINING AND
CLINTON CORPECTIONAL FACILITIES,

Respondents.

THE HONORABLE DISTRICT JUDGES FOR THE UNITED STATES
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK:

The petition of MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ and KHALIL ISLAM,
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2241 and 2254, alleges as follows:

1. Petitioners are two Black men who are presently
illegally, unlawfully and unconstitutionally incarcerated in the
following New York State penitentiaries, namely, Ossining
Correctional Facility, Ossining, New York (AZIZ) and Clinton

Correctional Facility, Dannemora, New York (ISLAM) .

2. The alleged reason for their said incarceration is their
conviction by a jury on March 11, 1966, for the assassination
of Alhaji Malik Shabazz (Malcolm X), in the Main Ballroom of the

Audubon Ballroom, New York, New York, at approximately 3:00 p.m.

prisonment imposed upon them by the trial judge on April 14, 1966.

|
|
on February 21lst, 1965, and the resultant sentences of life im- '
|
|
|
|




€. Subsequently, two other men, petitioners herein,
were arrested at their homes, on the following dates:

February 26, 1965 - AZIZ
Marchi 31 965 - ISLAM

d. On or about March 10, 1965, petitioners and the said ,

Mujahid Abdul Halim (Halim) were indicted by a New York County

Grand Jury for the murder of Malcolm X. (A. 95, 99).

e. On February 28th and March lst, 1966, Halim, after
having previously testified in his own behalf during the joint
trial of the three said defendants and denied his own guilt, was
recalled as a witness for AZIZ and now admitted that he had par-
ticipated with four accomplices in said murder but insisted that
neither petitioner had been involved therein. (A. 12).

f£. However, he refused, on cross-examination by the
prosecution, to name or describe his said accomplices or give
anything but the sketchiest of details about the crime. (A. 12).

g. In the fall of 1977, Halim decided to furnish more
details about the assassination and did so in an affidavit given
to petitiomers' counsel, which said affidavit did not contain the
names of his accomplices. (A. 5-7).

h. On February 25, 1978, Halim amplified his earlier
affidavit, now giving the names of his accomplices as follows:

(1) Ben or Benjamin Thomas or Thoupson, residing
on Hamilton Avenue, Paterson, New Jersey, and
a member of Mosque #25, Newark, New Jersey(A. 74).

{2) Leon Davis, residing on Hamilton Avenue, Pater-

son, New Jersey, across the street from Ben, and
a member of Mosque #25, Newark, New Jersey. I1d.




William X, residing on South Orange Avenue,
Newark, New Jersey, directly across the street
from the aforesaid Mosque. Id.

(4) Wilbur or Kinley, residing in Newark, New Jersey
(A. 74-75).

i. Halim was the first approached in the summer of 1964 ‘
i

“ by Ben and Leon with reference to the assassination of Malcolm X.
He was soon joined by William X and Wilbur. (A. 73-74).

j. Thereafter, a number of meetings about the project
were held, either in automobiles or at the homes of Ben or Leon.
B M)¢

k. On one occasion, the five men drove to the home of
Malcolm X in East Elmhurst, Queens, New York, but found it too
heavily guarded to carry out the project. (A. 75).

1. They eventually decided that the assassination would
take place at the Audubon Ballroom and, during the winter of
1964-65, attended a speech there given by Malcolm X and dis-
covered that nobody was being searched at the door. Id.

m. Driving back from the Ballroom in Ben's car that day,
they discussed the fact that, given the number of people who
| would be attending onme of Malcolm's speeches at that location,
| they would have a good chance to escape after the assassination.
Id.

n. They visited the Ballroom again on the evening of
February 20, 1965, attending a dance being given there, and looked

the place over. (AN 6) "




0. On the way back to New Jersey that evening in Ben's
car, they decided to commit the crime the next day and to meet
at Ben's house the next morning to formalize their plans. Id.

P. The next morning, they decided to get to the Ballroom
early and that Leon and Halim would sit in the front left side
of the Main Ballroom, facing the stage, with William and Ben
directly behind them. Wilbur/Kinley was to sit in the rear of the
room and acuse someone of picking his pocket and throw a smoke
bomb when Malcolm began to speak. Id. (See also A. 105-106).

q. All of the weapons possessed by the assassins were
purchased by Halim who also made the smoke bomb. (A. 77).

r. Halim had a .45 caliber automatic pistol, Leon a

9 mm. Luger pistol and William a 12-gauge shotgun. As scon as

| Wilbur created the disturbance referred to in Yp above, the three

men with the weapons were to rush to the podium, fire at Malcolm
X, and then run to the exit. (A. 76).

s. On the day of the crime, the five assassins drove to
New York in Wilbur's car, a blue, approximately 1962 Cadillac,
and parked a few blocks from the Ballroom, facing in the direction
| of the George Washington Bridge. (A. 77).

t. They then committed the crime as set forth in {r
above. (A. 116-119, 120 and 123).

6. On March 27, 1979, Halim furnished coui.sel for peti-

tioners with much more complete descriptions of his confederates.




These are as follows:
a. Benjamin Thomas
Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Newark Mosque;
30 years old; 5'8" or 5'9' tall; 170 pounds; wore glasses with
black frames; thin with brown complexion; close-cut hair; well-
spoken; married with four or more children; lived in a second-
floor 4-5 room apartment in a wooden building on Hamilton Avenue,
Paterson, New Jersey; worked in an envelope manufacturing company
in Hackensack, New Jersey as a cutter; attended public schools in
Paterson, New Jersey, and possibly Tuskegee Institute in Tuskegee,
Alabama; played basketball; member of the Fruit of Islam (FOI);
may have driven a black Chrysler.
b. 'Leon Davis
20-21 years old; 5'9" tall; 175 pounds; dark brown
complexion; no glasses; well-spoken; close-cropped hair; used to
“ reside on lower Market Street, Paterson, New Jersey; married and
lived on second floor of same kind of an apartment house as
‘ Benjamin Thomas on Hamilton Avenue, Paterson, New Jersey, diagon-

i ally across the street from him; attended public schools in

! Paterson, New Jersey; worked in an electronics plant in that city;:

member FOI.
c. William X

27 years old; stocky build; 5'10" or 5'l1" tall; dark

brown complexion; close-cropped hair; lived in Newark, New Jersey;

member Newark Mosque and FOI; known as a stick-up man. (This man,




whose last name is Bradley, is, upon information and belief,
presently incarcerated in the Essex County Jail, Caldwell, MNew
Jersey, and will not discuss the matter with a representative
of petitioners.,)
d. Wilbur Kinley

Over 30 yearsiold; 5'9" tall, on the thin side; brown
complexion; close»cropped hair; thick moustache; married; had
own construction business and did work around the Newark Mosque;
member FOI; lived in Newark; owned a light blue Cadillac; long-
time member of the Newark Black community.

7. Halim's version of what happened on February 21, 1965, at
the Audubon Ballroom and who was involved in the events of that
day concerning the killing of Malcolm X is amply buttressed by

‘ reports of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) concerning
the assassination. In this respect, the Court's attention is
jrespeccfully called to A. 98, L0800 RTINS le! W5 al),
[FL265T 27888113 2" 81 367 W38 and 13?? For example, compare the de-

‘ scription of the man who wielded the shotgun in the FBI report
tat A. 126, namely, "a tall dark-skinned Negro . . . a member of
the Newark Temple," with that given by Halim, who had never read
|| such reports, in Y6c, supra. There is also attached hereto, as

;refers to "a member of tue NOA from Paterson, New Jersey

|

}sitting in the last seat on the rightside, facing the stage
|

‘ is believed . . . to be one of the assassins. 13.

|
|
| § o

| _*/ One FBI report refers to a statement by a Life Mapazine reporter
llv—ﬂié was overhead saying that '"the killers of Malcolm X were possibly
! imported. to MYC.'" (A. 112). i
(
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8. In addition to petitioners' alibis (each was at home with

his family on February 21, 1965, a Sunday), there is disinterested

evidence that neither was present at the Audubon Ballroom at the
time of the murder. See, e.g., Affidavits of Benjamin Karim
(Goodman) who introduced Malcolm X that day (A. 153-159), and that
of attorney William M. Kunstler (A. 160-164).

9. Despite the voluminous documentation submitted by
petitioners in their efforts to obtain a new trial, their motion
was denied. (A. 169-174). In addition, they were denied leave to
appeal to any o f the New York appellate courts on December 19,
1978 (Appendix D, A. 176), thus exhausting all available state
remedies.

10. Halim and Benjamin Karim are prepared, if subpoenaed,
to testify at an evidentiary hearing herein, and William X. Bradley
is easily locatable in Caldwell, New Jersey. Moreover, the rather“
full descriptions now furnished by Halim make it highly probable
that the other three accomplices can easily be found.

11. Petitioners do not know of any comparable case in Americal
jurisprudential history when one accomplice in a murder has not
only furnished the names and descriptions of his confederates,
but has fully described the planning and execution of the crime,
without a thorough investigation by the prosecution ensuing there-

)
L

by~ t would be an unforgiveable and unconscionable travesty of

justice if, given the amount of information now available, no

efforts were undertaken to ascertain the accuracy thereof while
FTon Novomber 8, 1979, six Philadelphia homicide detectives began serving
Tederal prison terms for violating the civil rights of witnesses and subjects 1
a 1975 fatal firebombing case in that city. Prior to their conviction, it was
discovered that a person other than the defendant had cunfussc‘d committing the
c:;;va:i th;t his statement had been disregarded. New York Times, 11/11/79,

ip 525 col L




| Court issue its Writ of Habeas Corpus discharging them from

@da:}' of €., 197%
s ;c/% 2 g

| NOTARYZFUBLIC

two innocent men rot in jail, now into the fifteenth year of

their incarceration. Although the contents of Halim's second
affidavit, which was sealed at petitioner's request, were divulged
to the prosecution with a request that it investigate the alle-
gations contained therein (A. 166-168), it refused to conduct any
investigation thereof other than to check its own files, a position
unfortunately sustained by the court considering the motion to
vacate petitioner's sentences. (A. 171).

12. Since petitioners, having been incarcerated for almost
fifteen (15) years, possess no tangible property and are indigert,
they pray that they be granted in forma pauperis status.

13. No previous application for the relief sought herein,
other than as indicated above, has been mad > this or any other
Court.

WHERETORE, petitioners respectfully pray that this Honorable
custody or, in the alternative, grant them an evidentiary hearing

to prove the allegations of their petitiom.

Respectfully submitted,

Sworn to before me this

RHALIL ISLANM

Sworn to before me this
deyof .y 1. RALPH LIVELL e
y Publi~ of Dutches Coun
’\\?l:l:]?'a\u fod in Westchester Clonxty
ol e Notary Regulati 3

Comminsion

Egt




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X
BUTLER) and KHALIL ISLAM :
(THOMAS 15X JOHNSON), : i A
: ot Clin

Petitioners,

-against- : PETITION FOR WRIT OF
4 HABEAS CORPUS

SUPERINTENDENT OF OSSINING AND :
CLINTON CORRECTIONAL FACILITIES, : {udye  GriésA

Respondents.

THE HONORABLE DISTRICT JUDGES FOR THE UNITED STATES
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK:

The petition of MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ and KHALIL ISLAM,
pursuant to 28 U,S.C.‘@}ézi and 2254, alleges as follows:
1. Petitioners aré’kwo Black men who are presently
illegally, unlawfully and unconstitutionally incarcerated in the

following New York State penitentiaries, namely, Ossining
Correctional Facility, Ossining, New York (AZIZ) and Clinton
Correctional Facility, Dannemora, New York (ISLAM).

2. The alleged reason for their said incarceration is their
conviction by a jury on March 11, 1966, for the assassination
of Alhaji Malik Shabazz (Malcolm X), in the Main Ballroom of the
Audubon Ballroom, New York, New York, at approximately 3:00 p.m.

on February 2lst, 1965, and the resultant sentences of life im-

prisonment imposed upon them by the trial judge on April 14, 1966.




3. Neither the courts of the State of New York nor those
of the United States have exclusive jurisdiction over petitioners.

4. TFor the convenience of the Court, there are attached

| hereto as Appendix A copies of all papers submitted to the Supreme

Court of the State of New York, County of New York, Parts 30 and j

i 35 thereof, in support of their motion, pursuant to §440.10,

il Criminal Procedure Law, to set aside their judgments of conviction
and, as Appendix B, the decision of the said court on November 1
1978, denying said motion. For easy reference, these appendices,

{ as well as C-and C, infra, have been numbered consecutively from

pages 1 to 176, inclusively. ‘

5. The background facts upon which petitioners primarily
rely are as follows:
a. At approximately 3:00 p.m. on February 21, 1965,

Malcolm X was shot to death while addressing a meeting of the

Organization of Afro-American Unity (OAAU), a non-sectarian group

formed by him in 1964, in the Main Ballroom of the Audubon

Ballroom, located at 166th¥5treet and Broadway in the County and

City of New York. (A. 11)71

b. One man, namely Mujahid Abdul Halim (Thomas Hagan,

a/k/a Talmadge Hayer), was,lafte% being shot by followers of

Malcolm X, captured outside the Audubon Ballroom shortly after

the assassination had taken place. Id. (A. 91)

*/ All references to the Appendices attached hereto and referred
To in Y4 above, will be indicated by the letter A, followed by
the appropriate pagination.




c. Subsequently, two other men, petitioners herein,
were arrested at their homes, on the following dates:

February 26, 1965 - AZIZ
March 3, 1965 - ISLAM

d. On or about March 10, 1965, petitioners and the said
Mujahid Abdul Halim (Halim) were indicted by a New York County
Grand Jury for the murder of Malcolm X. (A. 95, 99).

e. On February 28th and March lst, 1966, Halim, after
having previously testified in his own behalf during the joint
trial of the -three said defendants and denied his own guilt, was
recalled as a witness for AZIZ and now admitted that he had par-
ticipated with four accomplices in said murder but insisted that
neither petitioner had been involved therein. (A. 12).

f. However, he refused, on cross-examination by the
prosecution, té name or describe his said accomplices or give
anything but the sketchiest of details about the crime. (A. 12).

g. In the fall of 1977, Halim decided to furnish more
details about the assassination and did so in an affidavit given
to petitioners' counsel, which said affidavit did not contain the

names of his accomplices. (A. 5-7).

h. On February 25, 1978, Halim amplified his earlier

affidavit, now giving the names of his accomplices as follows:

(1) Ben or Benjamin Thomas or Thompson, residing
on Hamilton Avenue, Paterson, New Jersey, and
a member of Mosque #25, Newark, New Jersey(A. 74

(2) Leon Davis, residing on Hamilton Avenue, Pater-
son, New Jersey, across the street from Ben, and
a member of Mosque #25, Newark, New Jersey. 1Id.




William X, residing on South Orange Avenue,
Newark, New Jersey, directly across the street
from the aforesaid Mosque. Id.

(4) Wilbur or Kinley, residing in Newark, New Jersey
(A. 74-75).

i. Halim was the first approached in the summer of 1964
by Ben and Leon with reference to the assassination of Malcolm X.
| He was soon joined by William X and Wilbur. (A. 73-74).

j. Thereafter, a number of meetings about the project

| were held, either in automobiles or at the homes of Ben or Leon.

(ANYIE)a

k. On one occasion, the five men drove to the home of
Malcolm X in East Elmhurst, Queens, New York, but found it too
heavily guarded to carry out the project. (A. 75).

1. They eventually dceided that the assassination would
take place at the Audubon Ballroom and, during the winter of
1964-65, attended a speech there given by Malcolm X and dis-
covered that nobody was being searched at the door. Id.

m. Driving back from the Ballroom in Ben's car that day,
they discussed the fact that, given the number of people who
would be attending one of Malcolm's speeches at that location,
they would have a good chance co‘escape after the assassination.
gl

n. They visited the Ballroom again on the evening of
February 20, 1965, attending a dance being given there, and looked

the place over. (A. 76.




0. On the way back to New Jersey that evening in Ben's
car, they decided to commit the crime the next day and to meet
at Ben's house the next morning to formalize their plans. Id.
P. The next morning, they decided to get to the Ballroom
early and that Leon and Halim would sit in the front left side
of the Main Ballroom, facing the stage, with William and Ben |
directly behind them. Wilbur/Kinley was to sit in the rear of the‘
room and acuse someone of picking his pocket and throw a smoke ‘
| bomb when Malcolm began to speak. Id. (See also A. 105-106).
q. All of the weapons possessed by the assassins were
purchased by Halim who also made the smoke bomb. (A7)
r. Halim had a .45 caliber automatic pistol, Leon a
9 mm. Luger pistol and William a 12-gauge shotgun. As soon as
L Wilbur created the disturbance referred to in ip above, the three
men with the weapons were to rush to the podium, fire at Malcolm
X, and then run to the exit. (A. 76).
s. On the day of the crime, the five assassins drove to

| New York in Wilbur's car, a blue, approximately 1962 Cadillac,

| and parked a few blocks from the Ballroom, facing in the direction

of the George Washington Bridge. (A. 77).
t. They then committed the crime as set forth in ir
above. (A. 116-119, 120 and 123).
6. On March 27, 1979, Halim furnished counsel for peti-

tioners with much more complete descriptions of his confederates.




These are as follows:
a. Benjamin Thomas
Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Newark Mosque;

30 years old; 5'8" or 5'9" tall; 170 pounds; wore glasses with

i black frames; thin with brown complexion; close-cut hair; well-
| spoken; married with four or more children; lived in a second-
: floor 4-5 room apartment in a wooden building on Hamilton Avenue,
; Paterson, New Jersey; worked in an envelope manufacturing company
: in Hackensacg, New Jersey as a cutter; attended public schools in

Paterson, New Jersey, and possibly Tuskegee Institute in Tuskegee,
% Alabama; played basketball; member of the Fruit of Islam (FOI);
l may have driven a black Chrysler.
b. Leon Davis

20-21 years old; 5'9" tall; 175 pounds; dark brown

| complexion; no glasses; well-spoken; close-cropped hair; used to
|

reside on lower Market Street, Paterson, New Jersey; married and
lived on second floor of same kind of an apartment house as
Benjamin Thomas on Hamilton Avenue, Paterson, New Jersey, diagon-
ally across the street from him; attended public schools in
Paterson, New Jersey; worked in an electronics plant in that city;
member FOI.
c. William X

27 years old; stocky build; '5'10" or 5'11" tall; dark

brown complexion; close-cropped hair; lived in Newark, New Jersey;

member Newark Mosque and FOI; known as a stick-up man.  (This man,




whose last name is Bradley, is, upon information and belief,
presently incarcerated in the Essex County Jail, Caldwell, MNew
Jersey, and will not discuss the matter with a representative
of petitioners.)
d. Wilbur Kinley
Over 30 years old; 5'9" tall, on the thin side; brown
il complexion; close-cropped hair; thick moustache; married; had
|| own construction business and did work around the Newark Mosque;
; member FOI; lived in Newark; owned a light blue Cadillac; long-
| time member o-f the Newark Black community,
7. Halim's version of what happened on February 21, 1965, at
i the Audubon Ballroom and who was involved in the events of that
day concerning the killing of Malcolm X is amply buttressed by
reports of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) concerning

the assassination. In this respect, the Court's attention is

i respectfully called to A. 98, 108, 109, 110, 112, 116, L1681 2.3

812638027801 32 136,08 138land 13908 For example, compare the de-

scription of the man who wielded the shotgun in the FBI report

|at A. 126, namely, "a tall dark-skinned Negro . . . a member of

| the Newark Temple,” with that given by Halim, who had never read
such reports, in {6c, supra. ' There is also attached hereto, as
Appendix C, a page of an FBI report dated March 12, 1965, which
refers to "a member of the NOA from Paterson, New Jersey

sitting in the last seat on the rightside, facing the stage and

is believed 2. . to be one of the assassins. §3.

%/ One FBI report refers to a statement by a Life Magazine reporter
who was overhead saying that "the killers of Malcolm X were possibly
imported to NYC." ‘(A. 112).

i,
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8. In addition to petitioners' alibis (each was at home with
his family on February 21, 1965, a Sunday), there is disinterested
evidence that neither was present at the Audubon Ballroom at the
time of the murder. See, e.g., Affidavits of Benjamin Karim
(Goodman) who introduced Malcolm X that day (A. 153-159), and that
of attorney William M., Kunstler (A. 160-164). |

9. Despite the voluminous documentation submitted by
petitioners in their efforts to obtain a new trial, their motion
was denied. €A. 169-174). In addition, they were denied leave to
appeal to any o f the New York appellate courts on December 19,
1978 (Appendix D, A. 176), thus exhausting all available state
remedies.

10. Halim and Benjamin Karim are prepared, if subpoenaed,

to testify at an evidentiary hearing herein, and William X. Bradley
|

is easily locatable in Caldwell, New Jersey. Moreover, the rather

full descriptions now furnished by Halim make it highly probable

that the other three accomplices can easily be found.

jurisprudential history when one accomplice in a murder has not

only furnished the names and descriptions of his confederates,

|
11. Petitioners do not know of any comparable case in American
|
i
|
|

but has fully described the planning and execution of the crime,
without a thorough investigation by the prosecution ensuing there-
by~ It would be an unforgiveable and unconscionable travesty oI

justice if, given the amount of information now available, no

efforts were undertaken to ascertain the accuracy thereof while

%/ On November 8, 1979, six Philadelphia homicide detectives began serving
Federal prison terms for violating the civil rights of witnesses and subjects i
a 1975 fatal firebombing case in that city. Prior to their conviction, it was
discovered that a person other than the defendant had confessed committing the
crime but that his statement had been disregarded. New York Times, 11/11/79,

. ol. 1
6 g iy




two innocent men rot in jail, now into the fifteenth year of
their incarceration. Although the contents of Halim's second
~affidavit, which was sealed at petitioner's request, were divulged
to the prosecution with a request that it investigate the alle-
gations contained therein (A. 166-168), it refused to conduct any
investigation thereof other than to check its own files, a positioé
unfortunately sustained by the court considering the motion to
| vacate petitioner's sentences. (A. 171).
12. Since petitioners, having been incarcerated for almost |
! fifteen (15) years, possess no tangible property and are indigent,
they pray that they be granted in forma pauperis status.

13. No previous application for the relief sought herein,

| other than as indicated above, has been made to this or any other

| Court.

WHEREFORE, petitioners respectfully pray that this Honorable
Il Court issue its Writ of Habeas Corpus discharging them from
custody or, in the alternative, grant them an evidentiary hearing
to prove the allegations of their petition.

Respectfully submitted,

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ
Sworn to before me this
day of o AT

NOTARY PUBLIC

RHALTL ISLAM

Sworn to before me this
day of S L9795

NOTARY PUBLIC




WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER

c/o Center for Constitutional Rights
853 Broadway

New York, New York 10003

(212) 674-3303

STEVENS, HINDS, EL AMIN & ROACH
209 West 125th Street

New York, New York 10027

(212) 850-4240

Attorneys for Petitioners

Dated: New York, N.Y.
November, 1979




UNITED-STATES DISITKiUL COURT

SOUTHERN\DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ
(Norman 3X Butler)

and

KHALIL ISLAM . AFFIDAVIT IN OPPOSITION
(Thomas 15X Johnson * TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF
HABEAS us

Petitionerg,
80 Civ. 1346

~against- (TPG)

SUPERINTENDENTS OF OSSINING

and CLINTON CORRECTIQNAL FACILITIES,

Respondents.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF NEW YORK
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK)

ALLEN ALPERT, being duly sworn, deposes and states

1. I am an Assistant)\District Attorney, of counsel
to ROBERT M. MORGENTHAU, District\Attorney of New York County,
and am duly admitted to practice in\this Court.

2. I am familiar with the\prior papers and proceed-
ings had in this matter, and I am submitting this affidavit,

and the accompanying memorandum of law which is attached hereto




and made a part hereof, in opposition to the above-captioned
petition for a writ of habeas corpus.

3. The statements in this affidavit are based upon
the minutes of the petitioners' trial, and upon documents sub=
mitted to the courts of New York State regarding proceedings
in those courts following petitioners' convictions.

4. In the afternoon of February 21, 1965, as he be-
gan to address an assemblage of his followers inside the Audu-
bon Ballroom in Manhattan, Malcolm X (born Malcolm Little),
a former leader of the Nation of Islam (also known as the Black
Muslims) who had left that organization to form his own, was
murdered by three men who rose from the audience, created a
diversion to draw Malcolm's bodyguards away from him, and then
shot Malcolm repeatedly with a shotgun and pistols.

5. One of the men, Thomas Hagan (now apparently
known as Mujahid Abdul Halim), was wounded by one of Malcolm's
bodyguards and was captured as he fled from the ballroom.
The other two assassins made good their escape from the ball-
room. However, on February 26, 1965 Norman 3X Butler (now
known as Muhammad Abdul Aziz), and on March 3, 1965 Thomas
15X Johnson (now known as Khalil Islam), were arrested at

their homes.




6. On March 10, 1965, a New York County Grand Jury
charged Butler, Johnson and Hagan with Murder in the First
Degree. Indictment No. 871/65.

7.  Trial commenced on December 6, 1965 in the Su-
preme Court, New York County, before the Honorable Charles
Marks and a jury. At trial, Hagan admitted that he was one of
the killers, and he provided details regarding the manner in
which the murder originated and was planned and excecuted. He
claimed, though, that Butler and Johnson had nothing to do
with the murder, and that he, Hagan, had planned and carried
out the assassination with three or four men whom he refused
to identify. Butler and Johnson each claimed that they were at
their respective homes when Malcolm was murdered. Butler con-
tended that he left his home early in the morning of February
21, 1965, returned by and remained there the rest
of the day. Johnson maintained that he stayed at home all day
and did not leave until evening. Each presented friends and
family members to support their alibis.

8. The People, however, presented eyewitness testi-

mony to establish the guilt§)of Butler and Johnson.

Two witnesses, both of whom had previously known

Johnson, saw him inside the ballroom on the day of the murder




shortly before the murder. VERNAL TEMPLE testified that when
he arrived at the Audubon Ballroom at 11:00 a.m. on the morning
of the murder, he saw Thomas 15X Johnson, a man whom he had
previously seen at a Muslim Mosque in Chicago, and whom he knew
as "15X,"| already seated inside the ballroom (Temple: 662-5,
799). CARY THOMAS testified that when he arrived at the ball-
room at 2:20 p.m., he saw Jn;ﬂscn, whom he had seen several
times in the Muslim's Manhattan Mosque, and whom he knew by the
name "Thomas 15X," sitting in a rear booth facing the stage
(Thomas: 229-31, 241-2).

Several witnesses, one of whom previously knew But-
ler, identified Butler as the person who, with Hagan, cre-

ated the diversionary "pocket-picking"incident which was de-

signed to, and did, draw Malcolm X's body guards away from him.

JASPER DAVIS testified that he was sitting towards the front
of the auditorium in the third seat from the aisle waiting for
Malcolm's speech to begin when a man he identified as Butler
sat down next to him and talked with him for a few minutes.
Then another man arrived and sat in the aisle seat next to
Butler. Several minutes later, as Malcolm began to speak,
this other man jumped up and said to Butler, "Take your hand

out of my pocket" (Davis: 1093-1100).  Cary Thomas testified




that Butler, whom Thomas had seen in the Muslim's Manhattan
Mosque, whom he knew by the name "Norman 3X Butler," and whom
he recognized "right away," was sitting directly in front of
him vhen, just as Malcolm began to speak, Hagan stood up and
asked Butler, "Man, what are you doing with your hand in my
pocket?" (Thomas: 235-8). FRED WILLIAMS testified that, two
or three rows behind him, two men, one of whom he identified
as Butler, got into an argument when one accused the other of
trying to pick his pocket (Williams: 1513-6).

Similarly, eyewitnesses testified that as the at-
tention of the crowd was drawn to this disturbance, Johnson
fired a sawed-off shotgun at Malcolm X from the front of the
auditorium near the stage. Cary Thomas testified that he heard
the blast of the shotgun coming from near the stage. Thomas
looked toward the stage, and saw a man facing the stage, stand-

ing just under where Malcolm had been. The man then turned and

o
faced the audience, an Thomas saw that he was holding a sawed-

off shotgun in his hand. Thomas identified this man as Thomas
15X Johnson (Thomas: 239-42). Fred Williams testified that
as Malcolm tried to quell the disturbance, he heard a shotgun
blast from the front near the stage, and immediately shoved

his wife to the floor and protectively bent over her. When he




looked up, after hearing another shotgun blast and some pistol
shots, he saw  man, whom he identified as Johnson, twelve to
fourteen feet away from him and six to eight feet from the
stage, facing the audience and holding a sawed-off  shotgun in
his hand (Williams: 1517-22).

Likewise,a number of witnesses testified that immedi-
ately after the shotgun blast, Butler and Hagan raced toward
the stage firing handguns at Malcolm X. Cary Thomas testified
that he saw Butler and Hagan run to the stage and shoot at the
prostrate body of Malcolm X as shells ejected from the gun
Butler was firing @nd_fell to the flood (;homas: 242-3, 249,
576-7). EDWARD DE PINA testified that Butler and Hagan re-
peatedly shot at Malcolm on the stage (De Pina: 814-22, 910).
And CHARLES BLACKWELL testified that the same two men who had
engaged in the diversionary disturbance raced toward the stage,
shooting at Malcolm X. Blackwell identified these men as But-
ler and Hagan. Blackwell further testified that Butler was
firing a German Luger and Hagan a .45 calibre automatic pistol,

and that as Butler ran past Blackwell toward the stage, Butler

pointed his Lugar at Blackwell (Blackwell: 1614-24).

Finally, several eyewitnesses identified Butler

and Johnson as they fled from the scene of the murder. After

=




firing repeatedly at Malcolm, Butler, observed by De Pina and
chased by Blackwell and by RONALD TIMBERLAKE who knocked him
down with a "body block,"/turned from the stage and ran to
the ballroom's rear exit (De Pina: 816-23; Blackwell: .1624-5;
Timberlake: 1310-17). And, as Blackwell chased Butler, he "ran

into" Johnson who turned away from Blackwell and ran into the

ladies' louge (Blackwell: 1625-8).

9. On March 10, 1966, the jury found Butler, John-
son and Hagan guilty of Murder in the First Degree.

10.  On April 14, 1966, Justice Marks sentenced each
of them to life imprisonment.

11. The transcripts of the trial and sentence pro-
ceedings are incorporated by reference herein and made a part
of this affidavit. They will be provided to the Court im-
mediately upon request.

12.  On May 22, 1968, the Apellate Division, First
Department, concluding that Butler's, Johnson's and Hagan's
guilt "was overwhelmingly established", unanimously affirmed
their judgments of conviction. 29 A.D. 2d 931 (1st Dept.,
1968) .

13. On April 16, 1969, the New York State Court of
Appeals, characterizing the proof as "abundant", unanimously

affirmed the judgments. 24 N.Y.2d 395 (1969).




14, On octover 27> 1969, the ynited states supreme
396 U.S- 886 (1969) -

1977, by therd

Court denied certiorari.

45.. On o Bbodt December 51 Q4 attorne¥s
william M. TG B and Jonnson L to New
York State criminal procedure bal §uuo.wo(w)(g>, to vacate
tneir judgments e EaonyAcionies the ground of iiciiak ELLAGAST
ca evigence:"* heir motion was predicated °F the affidavi®

*CPL §UL‘G.\DU)(3) provides that:

entry
which

of the
Juagment uPO®

(g)

gence afver
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of Thomas Hagan, dated November 30, 1977.* 1In his affidavit,
Hagan set forth some of the details of the origin, planning and
execution of the murder. He asserted that Butler and Johnson
had nothing to do with the murder, and he named as his ac-
complices "Brothers Lee, Ben, Willie X and Willbour.

16.  The People responded on or about February 9,
1978. We compared Hagan's trial testimony with his affidavit
and pointed out that his affidavit was very little more than a
repetition of his trial testimony. We further contended that
even if Hagan's identification of his accomplices were deemed
to be more than a repetition of his trial testimony, the infor-

mation in his affidavit was not "of such character as to create

a probability that had such evidence been recevied at the trial

the verdict would have been more favorable" to Butler or John-
son. We based our argument primarily on the overwhelming evi-
dence of Butler's and Johnson's guilt, which we set forth.
Furthermore, Hagan had presented himself to the jury as a "mar=

tyr, i.e., someone who was willing to take the responsibility

Rl e S

¥puring the course of the motion, Butler and Johnson
advanced several additional grounds upon which they contended
hvir judgments should be vacated. However, since Butler and
D emGon now assert only the "Hagan" aspect in support of thelr
instant petition, only that aspect of the motion to vacate will
be recapitulated here.




30 thaty the mengwWtosS innocence he professed would not be
convicted, but who was ot concerned With bringing to Jus-
tice those whom he ssertadiinadyacted with him. Thus, ¥e
contended, Hagan's jdentification and consequent sacrifice
of nis (brethren would ot have fit the image he sought to con=
Seyitol tnepincyspand would not have YCadRybe anysist eRbATRI
any more believable thanfiwass tne) testizony the jury heard and
rejected. The people's responses gated February 9» 1978, to
the motion tol vacate the judgments 18 attached hereto a3 Ex-
nibit "Af\) and incorporated: herein- In chronological orders
44 belongs: after PsEe 56 of petitioners' appendix to=tie
instant petition.
AT, PO February 15: 1978, at the oral argument on

mobdon: o vacake- the judgments, the S onorable Barold KOURS
termed Hagan's affidavit Np1volousioV/rHe stated that it

not significantly qifferent than Hagan's trial testimony,

he adjourned the matber[\to give Mr. Kunstler time to submit

a further affidavit from Hagan.

16, on February 25 1978, Hagan prepared 2 supple-
ental affidavite Yo vagadot sat forkhEhs amner in' wnden|/me
said the murder Wes planned and carried out, and he provided 2

few additional qeuasiss aHelalso gave the last names of "Ben"




and "Lee," and the streets on which they and "William X" were
living in 1965.

19. 1In April, 1978, the People responded to Hagan's
supplemental affidavit. In essence, we argued that Hagan's
supplemental affidavit no more satisfied the requirements of
CPL §440.10(1)(g) than had his original affidavit. The Peo-
ple's supplementary response is attached hereto as BExhibit

R
\Bl,"'s and incorporated herein. In chronological order, it be-

)
longs after page 88 of petitioner(s/ appendix to the instant

petition.

20. Beginning with an affidavit dated on or about
April 18, 1978, and continuing with affidavits dated April 29
and May 12, 1978, Butler and Johnson submitted numerous Federal
Bureau of Investigation documents, in their redacted form,
which, they claimed, supported Hagan's identification of his
accomplices as set forth in his November 30, 1977 and February
25, 1978 affidavits.

21. 1In response to this aspect of Butler's and
Johnson's motion, the District Attorney's Office case file was
examined. It contained no mention or indication of, or refer-
ence to, any of the persons identified by Hagan as his accomp-

lices. Additionally, most of the FBI documents submitted by




Butler and Johnson were obtained from the FBI in their unre-
dacted form and were provided to Justice Rothwax. Nothing in
these FBI documents supported Hagan's allegations regarding
the identity of his| accomplices; ‘specifically; ‘there was ‘no
mention or indication of, or reference to, any of the persons
Hagan alleged were his accomplices HThose FBI documents not on
file in the FBI's New York office were not provided to Justice

Rothwax.

As we reported to the court, these documents, ac-
cording to Steven Edwards, the FBI agent who coordinated the
search for the documents, were on file in the FBI's head-
quarters in Washington, D.C., and given the volume of pa-
pers on file there, it would take a considerable period of
time to obtain them. In any event, according to Agent Ed-
wards, in all likelihood nothing in these documents would have
corroborated the identity of the persons Hagan claimed were
his accomplices. This was so because many of the documents
were internal FBI memoranda which merely summarized the New
York City Police Department's Investigation into the murder,
and which contained no original information developed by the
FBI; others contained information developed by the FBI which

paralleled information obtained by the New York City Police

=10




Department; and others referred to matters not relevant to
the motion to vacate the judgments. Nevertheless, as we in-
formed the court, if the court wished to examine these docu-
ments, we would attempt to obtain them as quickly as e;ssible.

The People's response, dated July 14, 1978, is attached as

SN Graot
'gxhlbu C", and incorporated herein. ' In chronological order,

it belongs after page 155 of petliioner{'\j appendix to the in-
stant petition. (The unredacted FBI documents are not being
submitted herewith, but will be provided to the Court upon
request).

21. 1In an affidavit soyrn to on or about May 14,
1978, Benjamin Goodman (now apparently known as Benjamin Karim)
stated that Butler and Johnson, both of whom he knew well for
several years, were not in the Auddbon Ballroom when Malcolm X
was murdered.  Goodman was the man who first spoke to the audi-
ence and then introduced Malcolm. In his affidavit, Goodman
claimed that "one of [his] functions was to provide security
for Malcolm's person that he therefore "did observe the faces
of all the [four to five hundred] people in the cmw.,wand
that, because of the animosity between the Nation of Islam
to which Butler and Johnson belonged and the Organization of

Afro-American Unity which Malcolm founded and to which Goodman
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oy, Howeveds in an affidavit dated september 122
1978, Mr- Kunstler admitted O the court hav ine perRet who
nad been snterviewed wpirst denied any participation in the
purder;and ¥RET itaod hesils s notuecing S copandzs
nimself for anyone. - " (see; pemnoners' appendix £ their
Jpotaptipstition e Nz KunsCLEE snaicaved 3P nis
arfidavit that no further offorts had peen made ©° A o e
person, and ¢nat nothiné Hadtpeenadons 4o, docate " contact ¥he
other two men o whom M- kunstler had referred o0 september ©2
1om - Tds at 166-T-

5 2 telephon® conversabion with me on
septemver 18s 1978, Mr- Kunstler et SO ¢hat he had not
spoken 0 gne one person since Berorestbs 1ast court zppearance
on September - R ¢nathe ¢34 ot intend ©° speak to

this perse® or to attempt 0 1ocate OF speak With gne (bwo O5heT

persons ©° hom he had referred o september 6, 1978-

o e in his sepvemver 12 1978 apfidavity
Mp. Kunstie® asked the B urticosondcs tne pistrict atvorney's
office O snterrogat® gnese men phbsasgavar St Kunstler stated
R nel inkond september 18, 1978 yelephone conversation: we are
npetter 2t getting confessions” than he 18 P alneprely wyncom=

gortable” asking someone £ onfess ooie crime-




27. The People's summary of the events described in
g4 23-26 above, and our response o Mr. Kunstler's September
12, 1978 affidavit, were contained in an October 6, 1978 letter
from us to Justice Rothwax. That letter is attached as Ex-
hibit "D", and incorported herein. In chronological or‘der,“it
belongs after page 168 of pe\:it:oncr‘/"\sj“ appendix to the instant
petition.

28. On October 29, 1978, in a letter to the court,
Butler and Johnson responded to the People's October 6 let{/\er.
Mr. Kunstler's October 29, 1978 letter is attached as Exhibit
g/ and incorpoated herein.

29. On November 1, 1978, Justice Rothwax denied the
motion to vacate the judgments.

30. On or about November 31, 1978, Butler and John-
son applied for leave to'appeal to the Appellate Division.

31. The People opposed the application in a letter
e b b7 i copy of tnet letier dsiattachod

hereto as Exhibit "FJ7 and incorporated herein. In chrono-

7
logical order, it belongs after page 180 of petitioner/'s/ ap-

pendix to the instant petition.
32. On December 19, 1978, the Honorable Arnold
L. Fein, a Justice of the Appellate Division, First Depart-

ment, denied Butler and Johnson leave to appeal to that court.




33.  Butler and dJohnson subsequently commenced the

instant proceeding for a writ corpus.

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, and on the ac-

companying memorandum of law which is attached hereto and made
a part hereof, it is respectfully requested that the petition

for a writ of habeas corpus be denied.

Sworn to before me this
day of June, 1980




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUZEIE DISIRICT OF NEW YORK

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ
(Norman 3X Butler)

/4, 80 Civ. 1346
! Hre
KHALIL ISLAM
(Thomas 15X Johnson),

Petitioners,
-against-
SUPERINTENDENTS OF OSSINING and

CLINTON CORRECTIONAL FACILITIES,

Respondents.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN
OPPOSITION TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

Tt
Petioners Muhammad Abdul Aziz (Norman 3X

Butler) and Khalil Islam (Thomas 15X Johnson), presently
incarcerated in New York State in consequence of their
conviction of the February 21, 1965 murder of Malcolm X,
seek a writ of habeas corpus from the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York.

This Court, however, has no power to grant
a writ of habeas corpus unless the prisoner "is in custody
in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of
the United States," 28 U.S.C. §2241(c)(3). Further, this

Court may not even entertain an application for the writ




from a state prisoner unless the petitioner grounds his
request for relief on the contention that he "is in
custody in violation of the Constitution or laws or
treaties of the United States," 28 U.S.C. §2254(a). The

instant petition merely alleg

in conclusory fashion that,
"Petitioners are two black men who are presently illeg-
ally, unlawfully and unconstitutionally incarcerated in
[two] New York State penitentiaries..." Petition at fl.
There is no allegation that their custody is violative of
any of their federal constitutional or statutory rights;
indeed, neither the federal constitution in general or
any of its specific provisions, nor federal statutory or
case law, is mentioned, indicated, or referred to in any

manner in the instant petition. This Court is therefore

~5
without powéer to grant, or even to entertain the
= 5

application for, the(fequestedjwrit of habeas corpus, and
the application must be dismissed.

Beyond this, it is not at all clear exacj:ly
what petitioners claim is the infimmity which invalidates
their present custody. The petition is nothing more than
a one-sifed re-statement of the history of the proceedings
in the l{i\ew York State trial-level court regarding peti-
tioners' motion to vacate their judgments of conviction

pursuant to New York State Criminal Procedure Law §440.10




(1)(g). The petition consists solely of petltiuner{’j\s/

affidavits. There is no memorandum of law in support of
the petition, and the affidavits are unencumbered by any
legal argument.

To 'the  limited extent that a claim may be
 gleancd fron the petition, hovever, it appears to be that
ot the "haskh ot Lhellnf‘ormatlon Sefibiien hagan s
second affidavit, the District Attorney's Office impro-
perly refused to investigate Hagan's allegations when it f:
declined to attempt to interrogate the one "accomplice" to
whon petitioners' representative had talked and to attempt
to locate and talk to Hagan's other "accomplices," and
that the state court i/:\“properly refused to order the
District  Attorney's Office to ‘;q 5) i.vieution at y1l.
Assuming this to be the gist of petitioners' current
complaint; and that they are asserting it here as a matter
of federal constitutional law (which, as shown above, they
have not done), petitioners are not entitled to the relief
they seek.

In the state courts, petitioners never asserted
that, as a matter of federal constitutional law, the
District Attorney's Office should interrogate Hagan's
alleged accomplices or conduct any other investigation of
Hagan's accomplices, or that the refusal of the state

court to order this investigation violated any of their




rights as a matter of federal constitutional law. Rather,

tracking the words of CPL §440.10(1)(g), they urged the

3
Qurt that "had Mr. Hagan testified at the original trial

as he has in his second affidavit, there might well have
been  different verdicts insofar as [Butler and Johnson]
were concerned." Exhibit E at p. 2. Further, speci-
fically @bedifically) citing the statute, they urged that
the allegations already presented did, and the testimony
they expected at a hearing would, "meet the statutory
standard for the granting of a new trial under §440.10,
Criminal Procedure Law." Id. Finally, they asked thatg->
"in the interest of justiceg! the court direct the
District Attorney's Office to conduct the investigation
they had requested. Id. Similarly, in their application
to the Appellate Division for leave to appeal from the
denial of their §440.10 motion, petitioners did not assert
that the denial of the motion or the refusal of the court
to order the requested investigation violated their
federal constitutional rights. Instead, they merely
asserted, again in the words of §440.10(1)(g), that the
information which was presented during the course of the
motion "in the event of a new trial for these defendants,

might, and, indeed, probably would, result in a different




verdict," and that, "it is felt that simple and elemental

justice requires at least the granting of an evidentiary

e <
hearing." " Petitioners' Appendix at pp. 179-80, ¥7.

Having failed in the state courts to assert that the
refusal of the People to conduct the investigation they
sought and of the state court to order this investigation
were violative of their federal comstitutional rights,
petitioners may not now raise this claim in the instant
application for habeas corpus relief. &Johnson v. Metz,

609 F.2d 1052 (2nd Cir, 1979)-

¥The only reference to the federal constitu-
tion in the state court proceedings was in Mr. Kunstler's
December 5, 1977 affidavit. That affidavit was submitted
together with Hagan's first Affidavit (Hagan's second
affidavit would not be submitted for another three months)
and urged only that Hagan's affidavit justified a hearing
pursuant to CPL §440.10(1)(g), not that an investigation
of his allegations should be conducted. Thus, Mr.
Kunstler asserted that Hagan's first affidavit constituted
newly discovered evidence "within the meaning of §ANO.
10(g), Criminal Procedure Law", and that it "entitled
[Butler and Johnson], as a matter of law, to an eviden-
tiary hearing at which the said new evidence can be
presented to this Court for its consideration thereof with
reference to the granting or denying of the relief, or any
of it, sought herein". Petitioners' appendix at p.14.
Contending that Hagan was prepared to testify at this
hearing, Mr. Kunstler claimed that, "Nothing short of such
a hearing would comport with the standards of due process
of law and the equal protection of the law mandated by the
Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the
United States. - ." Id. at pp. 14-15. Restricted as it
was to Hagan's first affidavit and to a call for an
evidentiary hearing based on that affidavit, the
invocation of the references to the federal constitution
has no applicability to the instant claim which, if we
have divined correctly, is concerned with the allegedly
wrongful refusal to investigate the allegations in
Hag{z: second affidavit.




Even if the instant petition is read more
broadly:as a claim that Hagan's affidavits constitute
newly discovered evidence of petitioners' innocence - the
instant petition must still be dismissed, for a habeas
corpus| proceeding is simply not available to inquire into
this type of claim. Federal courts have jurisdiction over
habeas corpus petitions only if the petition raises a
question of "constitutional significance." Schaefer v.
Leone, 443 F.2d 182, 184 (2nd Cir.1971), cert, denied 4OY
U.S. 939 (1971). The writ will issue if the conviction
upon which the petitioner is in custody was obtained in a
fundamentally unfair menner which deprived petitioner of

due process of law in violation of the Fourteenth Amend-

e A
ment. ' Fay v. Noia, 372 U.S. 391 (1963).  Orfdinarily,

though, "the guilt or innocence of the accused, as an
independent consideration, is mot relevant [to a habeas
corpus proceeding]l." J. Cook, Constitutional Rights of
the Accused: Post-Trial Rights (1976), §86, pp. 205-6. It
is only when there has been a "conviction on charges
unsupported by any evidence [that there] is a denial of
due process" to which habeas corpus relief is appro-
priate. Boilermakers v. Hardeman, 401 U.S. 233, 246

(1971). "Absent a complete lack of evidence for the




conviction, the question of whether there was sufficient
proof ror the conclusion reached by the trier of fact is
not cognizable on federal habeas review... [When] it
cannot be said that there was a complete lack of evidence
for Petitioner's conviction [there is no] issr ~f consti-
tutional dimension on which federal habeas co... relief
may be granted." Stephens v. LeFevre, 467 F. Supp. 1026,
1030 (S.D.N.Y., 1979), citing, among others, United States
ex rel. Terry derson, 462 E2d 1125 (2nd Cir., 1972).

Petitioners, of course, have not alleged that their

il aeil themocloes of Fdarsl ha

A T e N o evidence, A(Indeed,

given the eyewitness testimony against them, and in light
of the characterization of the evidence by the New York
Appellate courts as "overwhelming" and "abuziant," such a
contention would be patently absu@.

Instead, given its most generous construction,
their petition contends that Hagan's affidavits constitute
neuly discovered evidence of their innocence. Assuming
for the moment the truth of Hagan's allegations and that
the information in them is newly discovered, petitioners
are still not entitled to habeas corpus relief. ...
[N]ewly discovered evidence only warrants habeas corpus
relief where it bears on 'the constitutionality of the
applicant's detention; the existence merely of newly

discovered evidence relevant to the guilt of a state




netitioner is not a ground for relief on federal habeas
corpus.'"  Mapp v. Clement 451 F. Supp. 505, 511
(S.D.N.Y., 1978), aff'd 591 F.2d 1330 (2nd Cir. 1979),
cert. denied 99 S. Ct. 1428 (1979) (quoting Townsend V.
Sain, 372 U.S 293, 317 (1963). Thus, even on the basis of
an expansive interpretation of their petition - that
Hagan's affidavits provide new evidence of their innocence
- petitioners are not entitled to habeas corpus relief,
R Kitggni;h* bt constitutionally required to

so, New York, by legislative grace, enacted a mechanism
whereby persons convicted of crimes could attempt to have
their convictions reversed by presenting to the State
courts newly d)’soover)zi evidence of their innocence. CPL
§440.10(1)(g).  Petitioners, who' availed themselves of
this opportunity, appar‘entlﬁ;‘cntend that they were denied

due process of law by the manner in which their §440.10

N
motifon was disposed of * /it sidtinie from ot pope
L £ @

*In interpreting the petition as alleging a
denial of due process, where in fact no such allegation
was set forth, we are, of course, affording petitioners
the benefit of the doubt. If the petition is read to
allege only that the state courts had wrongly decided the

ion, the application for the writ of habeas corpus
Would clearly be inappropriate, for the "the proper role
of historic federal habeas corpus jurisdiction [is] not to
Serve as the basis for merely an additional appeal."
Schaefer v Leone, supra, 443 F.2d at 185.

for thera
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“

J—This clain is wholly meritless. ' From the beginning of
the motion in December, 1977 to its conclusion eleven
months later, Justice Rothwax repeatedly indulged petiti-
oners in their efforts to obtain evidence that would meet
the requirements of the statute. For example, at: the
outset, the court could have denied the motion after
receiving Hagan's first Affidavit, an affidavit which the
court concluded did not significantly differ§ from Hagan's
trial testimony, and which the court termed "frivolous."
Instead, however, the court adjourned the motion without
date, thus affording petitioners whatever time they felt
thay nceded To predece additicanl suppst for Fhut nifien,
glmuarly, moncﬂs later, when Mr. Kunstler reported that
he needed additional time to talk to the persons Hagan
said were his accomplices, the court gave him an additi-
onal five weeks. There is, moreover, nothing to indicate
that petitioners would not have been afforded even more
time if they had requested it. In fact, the proceedings
drew to a close not because of the impatience of the court
to decide the matter (an inclination which would, in any
event, have been fully warranted), but because petitioners

abandoned their attempts to obtain the information for

thal
which they had requested pthe motion be adjourned.

Although Mr. Kunstler had requested additional time to

talk further with one of Hagan's alleged accomplices (who




had ' already denied to petitioners' representative any
involvement in the murder or malcoiu 4) auu to attempt to
locate and talk to the other alleged accomplices, he
admitted that he had done nothing further since he had
obtained the requested adjournment to contact any of these
people, and that he intended to take no further action
with respect to any of them. Mr.Kunstler explained that
he felt "uncomfortable" asking someone to confess to a
crime. Petitioners are certainly hard-pressed to make out
a claim that the manner in which their motion was disposed '
of denied them due process of law when they themselves

intentionally refused to take the steps to bring before

whil
the court @hey they believed vas evidence relevant to

i ey, 5
Moreover, the abandonment by petitioners of
the attempt to obtain statements from Hagan's alleged

accomplices meant that Hagan's affidavit, which was, as

A

Justice Rothwax observed in his opinion denying the

motion, a mere "recapitulation, although somewhat more

*¥Indeed, although their petition alleges that,
following the denial of the §440.10(1)(g) motion, they
received even more detailed information regarding the
descriptions and backgrounds of Hagan's alleged
accomplices, petitioners have apparently done nothing to
Jocate or obtain statements from them. In this posture,
their attempt to obtain habeas corpus relief on the ground
that thedf-4xists new evidence of their innocence is
singularly inappropriate.

ST




specific, of his testimony at the original trial" - was,
as the court further noted, "uncorroborated by the testi-
mony of any other witness either at present or at the time
of the original trial." Recognizing the weakness of their
position, based as it was solely on Hagan's affidavit,
petitioners attempted to have the People gather evidence

/
corroborative of Hagan's allegations. (Mr. Kunstler

o xaaply
1nststed/AtharL %we are "better at getting confessions" than

he is). But, as the court correctly noted in its opinion,
it was petitioners' burden, not the People's, to bring
forth evidence in support of their motion. The insistence
of the court that petitioners satisfy this burden in order
to be entitled to the relief they sought under the
statute, and its refusal to shift this burden to the
People, inn/iway deprived petitioners of due process of

law.




CONCLUSION

The petition for a writ of habeas corpus
should be dismissed.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT M. MORGENTHAU
District Attorney

New York County

155 Leonard Street
New York, New York 10013

i) 553 - ga00

ROBERT M. PITLER
ALLEN ALPERT

it DimtictHebome

Of Counsel

June, 1980




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ
(Norman 3X Butler)

/\(m : 80 Ciy, 13
: 339
KHALIL ISLAM
(Thomas 15X Johnson), g
Petitioners,
-against-
SUPERINTENDENTS OF OSSINING and
CLINTON CORRECTIONAL FACILITIES,

Respondents.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN

OPPOSITION TO PETITION

FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

i %

Petioners Muhammad Abdul Aziz (Norman 3X

Butler) and Khalil Islam (Thomas 15X Johnson), presently
incarcerated in New York State in consequence of their
conviction of the February 21, 1965 murder of Malcolm X,
seek a writ of habeas corpus from the United States

District Court for the Southern District of New York.
e\ oadhe 6 Do it 0 bl
habers cor prs relef a it priveee MT]WJ his

request for relief on the contention that he "is in

tody in violation of the Constitution or laws or
SE 2241 (@) and
treaties of the United States," 28 U.S.C.ﬁ%ZSM(a). The

instant pebitigrzir:n‘erx’ely allegesk] conclusory fashion that,

WPetitioners are two black men who are presently illeg-

“ally, unlawfully and unconstitutionally incarcerated in
[two] New York State penitentiaries. Petition at 1.
There is no allegation that their custody is violative of
any of their federal constitutional or statutory rights;
indeed, neither the federal constitution in' general or
any of its specific provisions, nor federal statutory or
case law, is mentioned, indicated, or referred to in any

sanner in the instant petition. | While i He chase oF
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Beyond 'this, it is not at' all clear exa;ly
what petitioners claim is the infirmity which invalidates
their present custody. The petition is nothing more than
2 one-siged re-statement of the history of the proceedings
in the New York State trial-level court regarding peti-
tioners' motion to vacate their judgments of conviction
pursuant to New York State Criminal Procedure Law $440.10
(1)(g). The petition consists solely of petitionerﬂs/
affidavits. There is no memorandum of law in support of
the petition, and the affidavits are unencumbered by any
" legal argument. /\/;.Hur Hhis Cur‘f' nor rq/aw/(,‘rf
shavld be ‘ﬂfr/r led 1 e 5 m il i
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To the limited extent that a claim may be

/. gleaned from the petition, however, it appears to be st
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second affidavit, (the District Attorney's Office immes
pasimtmed o investigate Hagan's allegations m.a,(é(
;_hq,,.r,!:ii‘e’.c;lrlned to attempt to interrogate the one "accamplice" to
whom petitioners' representative had talked and to attempt
to locate and talk to Hagan's other "accunpl)ces”)’ and
o th’eA;éaéé e ipropspisvobulsd to order the

) : o )
District Attorney's Office to Invesligale /~//9/M s
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Assuming this to be the gist of petitioners' current
conplainty and that they are asserting it here as a matter
of federal constitutional law (which, as shown above, they
have not done), petitioners are not entitled to the relief

they seek.




Mg It the instant petition is read e
mas a claim that Hagan's affidavits constitute
newly discovered evidence of petitioners' innocence dy the
W petition must sEE be dismissed’:%”a habeas
corpus proceeding is simply not available to inquire into
this type of claim. Federal courts have jurisdiction over
habeas corpus petitions only if the petition raises a
question of Meonstitutional significance.” Schaefer v.
Leone, 443 F.2d 182, 184 (2nd Cir.1971), cert, denied 4Ok
U.S. 939 (1971). The writ will issue if the conviction
upon which the petitioner is in custody was obtained in a
fundamentally unfair manner which deprived petitioner of
due process of law in violation of the Fourteenth Amend-

ment. ' Fay v. Noia, 372 U.S. 391 (1963). BuTh m..

4
w;)ewly discovered evidence only warrants habeas corpus

relief where it bears on 'the constitutionality of the
applicant's detention; the existence merely of newly
discovered evidence relevant to the guilt of a state
petitioner is not a ground for relief on federal habeas
corpus.'" Mapp v. Clement 451 F. Supp. 505, 511
(S.D:N.Y., 1978), aff'd 591 F.2d 1330 (2nd Cir. 1979),
cert. denied 99 S. Ct. 1428 (1979) (quoting Townsend v.
Sain, 372 U.S 293, 317 (1963). Thus, even on the basis of

an expansive interpretation of their petition - that
Hagan's affidavits provide new evidence of their innocence

— petitioners dre not entitled to habeas corpus relief,
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In the state courts, petitioners never asserted
that, as a matter of federal constitutional law, the
District Attorney's Office should interrogate Hagan's
alleged accomplices or conduct any other investigation of
Hagan's accomplices, or that the refusal of the state
court to order this investigation violated any of their
rights as a matter of federal constitutional law. Rather,
tracking the words of CPL §440.10(1)(g), they urged the
ci;rt that "had Mr. Hagan testified at the original trial
as he has in his second affidavit, there might well have
been different verdicts insofar as [Butler and Johnson]
were concerned." Exhibit E at p. 2. Further, speci-
fically Giting the statute, they urged that
the allegations already presented did, and the testimony
they expected at a hearing would, "meet the statutory
standard for the granting of a new trial under $440.10,
Criminal Procedure Law." Id. Finally, they asked thatg—"
"in the interest of justicey" the court direct the

District Attorney's Office to conduct the investigation

they had requested. Id. Similarly, in their application
to the Appellate Division for leave to appeal from the
denial of their §440.10 motion, petitioners did not assert
that the denial of the motion or the refusal of the court
“to order the requested investigation violated their
federal constitutional rights. Instead, they merely
asserted, again in the words of §440.10(1)(g), that the
information which was presented during the course of the
motion M™n the event of a new trial for these defendants,

might, and, indeed, probably would, result in a different




verdict," and that, "it is felt that simple and elemental
Justice requires at least the granting of an evidentiary
hearing."" Petitioners' Appendix at pp. 179-80, §7.
Having failed in the state courts to assert that the
refusal of the People to conduct the investigation they
sought and of the state court to order this investigation
were violative of their federal constitutional rights,
petitioners may not now raise this claim in the instant
application for habeas corpus relief. ®lohnson v. Metz,

609 F.2d 1052 (2nd Cir, 1979).

*The only reference to the federal constitu-
tion in the state court proceedings was in Mr. Kunstler's
December 5, 1977 affidavit. That affidavit was submitted
together with Hagan's first Affidavit (Hagan's second
affidavit not e submitted for another three months)
and urged only that Hagan's affidavit justified a hearing
pursuant to CPL §440.10(1)(g), not that an investigation
of his allegations should be conducted. Thus, Mr.
Kunstler asserted that Hagan's first affidavit constituted
newly discovered evidence "within the meaning of §440.
10(g), Criminal Procedure Law", and that it "entitled
[Butler and Johnson], as a matter of law, to an eviden-
tiary hearing at which the said new evidence can be
presented to this Court for its consideration thereof with
reference to the granting or denying of the relief, or any
of it, sought herein". Petitioners' appendix at p.14.
Contending that Hagan was prepared to testify at this
hearing, Mr. Kunstler claimed that, "Nothing short of such
a hearing would comport with the standards of due process
of law and the equal protection of the law mandated by the
Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the
United States. . ." Id. at pp. 14-15. Restricted as it
was to Hagan's first affidavit and to a call for an
evidentiary hearing based on that affidavit, the
invocation Of the references to the federal constitution
has no applicability to the instant claim whicl
have divined correctly, is concerned with the allegedly
wrongful refusal to investigate the allegations in
Hagéfzz second affidavit.

,
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——Although not constitutionally required to do
sg;m %f’{egislauve grace, enacted a mechanism
whereby persons convicted of crimes could attempt to have
their convictions reversed by presenting to the gtate
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W@WW% ﬂl:rom the beginning of
the motion in December, 1977 to its conclusion eleven
months later, Justice Rothwax repeatedly indulged petiti-
oners in their efforts to obtain evidence that would meet
the requirements of the statute. For example, at the
outset, the court could have denied the motion after
receiving Hagan's first Affidavit, an affidavit which the
court. concluded did not significantly differ§ fron Hagan's
trial testimony, and which the court termed "frivolous."
Instead, however, the court adjourned the motion without
date, thus affording petitioners whatever time they felt
fn7 to predvce additionnl suppst fu o
S.mlamy, months later, when Mr. Kunst,ler reported that
he needed additional time to talk to the persons Hagan
said were his accomplices, the court gave him an additi-
onal five weeks. There is, moreover, nothing to indicate
that petitioners would not have been afforded even more

if they had requested it. In fact, the proceedings
drew to a close not because of the impatience of the court
to decide the matter (an inclination which would, in any
event, have been fully warranted), but because petitioners

abandoned their attempts to obtain the information for

thaT
which they had requeshedAthe motion be adjourned.

Although Mr. Kunstler had requested additional time to

talk further with one of Hagan's alleged accomplices (who




had already denied to petitioners' representative any
involvement in the murder of Malcolm X) and to attempt to
locate and talk to the other alleged accomplices, he
admitted that he had done nothing further since he had
obtained the requested adjourrment to contact any of. these
people, and that he intended to take no further action
with respect to any of them. Mr.Kunstler explained that
he felt "uncomfortable" asking someone to confess to a
crime. Petitioners are certainly hard-pressed to make out
a clain that the manner in which their motion was disposed
of denied them due process of law when they themselves
intentionally refused to take the steps to bring before
the court! @:{ney believed was evidence relevant to
their motion.

Moreover, the abandonment by petitioners of
the attempt to obtain statements from Hagan's alleged
accomplices meant that Hagan's af‘f‘idavi%héww was,és
Justice Rothwax observed in his opinion denying the

motion, a mere "recapitulation, although somewhat more

*Indeed, although their petition alleges that,
following the denial of the §440.10(1)(g) motion, they
received even more detailed information regarding the
descriptions and backgrounds of Hagan's alleged
accomplices, petitioners have apparently done nothing to
Jocate or obtain statements from them. In this posture,
their attempt to obtain habeas corpus reliefaon the ground
that thed$Akists new evidence of their(innocence is
singularly inappropriate. {
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specific, of his testimony at the original trial"]4/fggm,
as the court further noted, "uncorroborated by the testi-
mony of any other witness either at present or at the time
of the original trial." Recognizing the weakness of their
position, based as it was solely on Hagan's affidavit,
petitioners attempted to have the People gather evidence
corroborative of Hagan's allegations. (Mr‘. Kunstler
insisgéd:A‘tjl:aP;L‘ue are "better at getting confessions" than
he is). But, as the court correctly noted in its opinion,
it was petitioners' burden, not the People's, to bring
forth evidence in support of their motion. The insistence
of the court that petitioners satisfy this burden in order
to be entitled to the relief they sought under the
statute, and its refusal to shift this burden to the
People, in,way deprived petitioners of due process of

A

law.
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The petition for a writ of habeas corpus

should be dismissed.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT M. MORGENTHAU
District Attorney

New York County

155 Leonard Street
New York, New York 10013

@iy 553 - 990

ROBERT M. PITLER
ALLEN ALPERT 'Y
Assistant District Attorneyds

of Counsel 1

June, 1980
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (Norman 3X
Butler) and KHALIL ISLAM (Thomas
15X Johnson),
Petitioners,
AFFIRMATION

% Civ. 1345/1346
SUPERINTENDENTS OF OSSINING and : (TPG)
CLINTON CORRECTIONAL FACILITIES,

Respondents.

STATE OF NEW YORK )

)
COUNTY OF NEW YORK)

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, an attorney duly licensed as such in
the State of New York, under the pains and penalties of perjury,
affirms as follows:

1. I am the attorneys for petitioners herein and I am submit-

|
ting this affirmation in reply to the affidavit in opposition to the

ssence, Mr. Alpert merely repeats arguments advanced

Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus herein.

by him in the state courts and I do not believe that any response
other than that which is already submitted to this Court would do
anything more than burden an already leng;hy record.

3. However, I would like to point.out that he misses the

essential point of the petition. Mujahid Abdul Halim (Thomas Hagan)

has, after a great number of conversations with the undersigned,
furnished complete descriptions of the four men who participated
with him in the murder of Malcolm X on February 21, 1965, as well

as their names. Petitioners lack both the resources and the means




to investigate the matter any further and, without the subpoena pow-
er, are unable to proceed further with the material presently known
to them and before this Court.

4. It would seem that when petitioners serving long terms
of imprisonment succeed in obtaining pertinent information from an

who

admitted participant in the crimes of which they were convicted/has
f ally come forward and given as much detail as he can about the
planning and execution of the crimes in question, including names,
addresses, physical descriptions and other identifying factors, the
burden should pass to the state to investigate fully this informa-
tion so that two innocent men do not languish in prison for want
of official stmulus. We all understand that the crimes here involved
took place some fifteen years ago but to allow such pertinent and
relevant information to go uninvestigated by the agency empowered
and directed by law to do so is to avoid the fundamental due process
and equal protection arguments here advanced.

5. It is not enough to say that the FBI files would be un-
availing. There are, upon information and belief, almost 2,000,000

pages on the Nation of Islam and/or Malcolm X which have not yet been

§
released under the Freedom of Information Act in the hands of the

Bureau. Even a rudimentary investigation by the FBI into Halim's
allegations would undoubtedly reveal a great deal about the truth
or falsity of his statements. This case should not --and cannot--
be decided upon affidayits alone. It presents a challenge to the
entire adminitsration of justice and to leave it in its present

unresolved status is to avoid the difficult and hope that it will




just go away and be forgotten.

6. If what Halim says is true, it is clear that a tragic
miscarriage of justice has taken place. He has no reason to fabri-
T b R e O P S e KT ne a (b oSt Chance wlchihib
own life in making the statements he has done in writing and under ‘
oath. What he says can in no way be of benefit to him and, as in-
dicated above, can cause him inestimable harm. Should this Court
grant an evidentiary hearing, Halim is prepared to testify and be
subjected to cross-examination. In addition, subpoenas to the per—i
sons named by him as his accomplices will, in at least one case,
and possibly in others, bring before this Court a person or persons
accused by him as being his accomplices. Compulsory process to the
FBIand other ‘laul‘enforcement agericies will produce material that
may well buttress Halim's allegations; there is enough before the

I
Court now to see that those allegations have some support in officihl
documents presently available to counsel. |

7. In other words, there must be a forum in which petition-
ers can air the grave doubts which have been cast upon their ccnvic‘L—
tions. They certainly have presented enough material to justify ‘
such a hearing. In the interest of justice, they pray that this ! |
Court, which has not shirked in the past from difficult and hard dec-
isions in much the same area, will grant them, at the very least,
an evidentiary hearing so that they can prove that they are both in

Sor il fler

(it /(&

£.)elle
Dated: New York, N.Y. WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER
July 23, 1980

|

|
nocent of the crimes for which they have been sentenced to prison
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FD 6 (R, 7. 5-22-64)

Date: 2/27/65
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|
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Transmit the following in 7L, W
(Type in plaintext or code)
TELETYPE URGEAT
(Priority)
_____________________________________________ e oy e
TO: DIRECTOR, FBI (100-399321)
FROM: SAC, NEW YORK (105-8399)

MALCOLM K. LITTLE, ALSO KNOWH AS, IS DASH MMI

RC NEW YORK TELETYPE TO BUREAU FEBRUARY TWENTY SIX LAST
CAPTIONED AS ABOVE, WHICH REPORTED THAT NEW YORK CITY POLICE
DEPARTMENT HAS ADVISED THAT WITNESS RONALD TIMBERLAKE HAS NO.
IDENTIFIED BOTH TALMADGE HAYER AND NORMAN BUTLER AS ASSAILANTS OF
HALCOLY'.»X AT THE TIME OF HIS KILLING. AS BUREAU HAS BEEN
PREVIOUSLY ADVISLED, RONALD TIMBERLAKE WAS FIRST CONTACTED BY
NEW YORK OFFICE AGENTS, AT HIS REQUEST, WHEN HE TURNED OVER FORTY
FIVE CALIBER AUTOMATIC HE HAD RECOVERED AT SCENE OF KILLING.
TIMBERLAKE WAS AT FIRST RELUCTANT TO SERVE AS WITNESS BUT IS oW
COOPLRATING FULLY WITH POLICE.

ON FLBRUARY TWENTY SIX, CHIEF OF DETECTIVES PHILLIP WAL

INSPECTOR THOMAS C. RENAGHAN, AND DEPUTY INSPECTOR ARTHUR
GRUBERT (NA), WEW.YORK CITY POLICE DEPARTMENT, ALL EXPRESSLD
THEIR DEEP APPRECIATION TO NEW YORK OFFICE AGENTS FOR THE
EXCELLENT COOPLRATION IN TURNING OVER WITNESS TIMBERLAKE A:D TilL

l-New York
1l-Supervisor #43

RJR:cds .
(2)

a7,

Speciffl Agent /3 Charge
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NY 105-8999
PAGE TWO

GUN HE RLCOVERED, ONE POLICE OFFICER SAID THAT AS OF FEBRUARY

TWENTY SIX TIMBERLAKE WAS THE MOST IMPORTANT WITNESS THEY HAD,

FOR BUREAU'S INFORMATION,

Approved:

Special Agent in Charge




FBI WASH DC 2-40 AM 2-26-65 HFL
9-30 Pl URGENT 2-25-65 NWL
T0 DIRECTOR CH’CAGO NEWARK AND NEW YORK
NEW YORK YIA ----3---- WASHINGTON - ENCODED
FROM PHILADE}PHIA 252025

MALCOLM K. LITTLE, AKA, IS-MMI.

RE PHILADELPHIA CALL TO NEW YORK TODAY.

ON FEBRUARY TWENTYFIVE, NINETEEN SIXTYFIVE, GEORGE MITCHELL
/PROTECT IDENTITY/, FIVE ONE THREE FOUR HAZEL AVENUE, PHILADELPHIA,
WHO IS IN POSITION TO FURNISH RELIABLE INFORMATION, BUT WITH WHOM
INSUFFICIENT CONTACT HAS BEEN HAD FOR EVALUATION, ADVISED AS FOLLOWS....
HE RECOGNIZED NEWSPAPER PHOTO OF TALMADGE HAYER, AKA THOMAS HAGAN, AS
PERSON HE KNEW AS NOI AND FOI MEMBER IN NINETEEN SIXTYTHREE AND
NINETEEN SIXTYFOUR. CANNOT RECALL X NUMBER, BUT BELIEVES FIRST NAME WA:
TALMADGE OR THOMAS. ATTENDED NOI MEETINGS WITH HAYER IN NEWARK
AND PATERSON, N.J. ALWAYS ASSUMED HAYER MEMBER MM NUMBER TWENTYFIVE,
NEWARK, HOWEVER, NOW FEELS MAY HAVE BEEN ﬁEMBER OF TEMPLE IN PATERSON.
AT MEETINGS, BOTH NEWARK AND PATERSON, HAYER WAS SUXXX SECURITY GUARD
AND SEARCHED MITCHELL MOST THOROUGHLY ON SEVERAL OCCASIONS.
MITCHELL ALSO OBSERVED HAYER AT MEETING AT ARENA, FOUR FIVE THREE SEVEN
MARKET STREET, PHILADELPHIA, ON SEPTEMBER TWENTYNINE, NINETEEN SIXTYTHRI®

END PAGE ONE ADST R
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AT WHICH ELIJAH MUHAMMAD WAS PRINCIPAL SPEAKER. HAYER WAS ON SEARCH
DETAIL INSIDE ARENA ON NORTH CORRIDOR. i
1aLcoLAST SAY HAYER. IN ,CHICAGO FEBRUARY NINETEEN SIKTY FOUR AT SAVIOT-S
DAY CONVENTION. HAYER SAT ON EITHER FIRST OR SECOND ROW WHEN
ELIJAH-MUHAMMAD SPOKE AS_A-GUARD FOR MUNAMMAD IN EVENT OF

TROUBLE. -

-MITCHELL DESCRIBED HAYER-AS HANDSOME AND WITH PHYSICAL ABILITY TO

TAKE CARE OF HIMSELF. e T R e o

CHICAGO AND NEWARK CONTACT SOURCES IN ATTEMPT TO VERIFY
AND ENLARGE UPON ABOVE. s 7 2
-~ - -NEW YORK SEND PHILADELPHIA PHOTOGRAPHS OF HAYER FOR
DISPLAY TO MITCHELL AND OTHER SOURCES. i
END

NY 55 JAA.‘ 1 f/ﬁ_,‘%/f /4/ ;57/2/9/.

FBI NEW YORK
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Transmit the following in PLAT
(Type in plain text or code)
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(Priority) |

DIRECTOR, FBL

SAC, CFICA

SAC PHILADLLPHIA
FROM: SAC, NEW YORK (105—8999)
SUBJECT: MALCOLM K, LITTLE aka

-MMI
RE NEW YORK TELEPHONE CALLS TO AND FROM THE

BUREAU AND TO CHICAGO, FEBRUARY TWENTY ONE AND TWENTY Vo,

NINETEEN SIXTY FIVE,
T Wi r,,“,{,/#:

NY SaRmemng ¥, RELIABLE, ADVISED

THREE TEN P.M., FEBRUARY TWENTY ONE, NINETEEN SIXTY FIVE,
THAT MALCOLM X WAS JUST SHOT AT THE AUDUBON BALLROOM, NEW
YORK CITY, WHILE ADDRESSING AN ORGANIZATION OF AFRO DASH

AMERICAN UNITY RALLY. AT THE TIME MALCOIM WAS SHOT AN
EXCHANGE OF GUNFIRE FROM THE SPEAKERS PLATFORM WAS

<3
OBSERVED. /‘RUBJ:N X FIRED SEVERAL SHOTS AT T ESASSAS;LLS., X
1 - Washington Field (AM) (RM)(wre)
- Boston (AM) (RM% (nees
Cleveland (AM) (RM)(Gwro)
Los Angeles An (RM) /vu)
Newark (AM) TH
San Franclsco (/‘h) (Rh)(pvh)

:rfh

M
Specigl dqcﬁt‘n,\"c}mqe
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NY 105-8999

PAGE TWO

NYCPD CAEEJRED ONE PERSON OUTSIDE OF AUDUBON BALLROOM

WHO WAS LATER IDENTIFIED AS THOMAS HAGAN, NEGRO MALE, AGE
TWENTY TWO. HAGAN HAD IN HIS POSSESSION AT THIS /TIME A
FORTY FIVE AUTOMATIC CLIP CONTAINING FOUR ROUNDS OF
AMMUNITION. HAGAN WAS SHOT IN THE LEFT THIGH AND WAS
ADMITTED TO JEWISH MEMORIAL HOSPITAL FOR TREATMENT, AND AT
FIVE THIRTY P.M., FEBRUARY TWENTY ONE, NINETEEN SIXTY FIVE
WAS TRANSFERRED TO BELLEVUE HOSPITAL, NYC. NYCPD ADVISED
THAT A SAWED OFF, DOUBLE BARREL SHOTGUN WAS FOUND ON THE
STAGE OF THE BALLROOM WRAPPED IN A GREEN SUIT COAT,
CONTAINING A KEY FOR YALE LOCK, PACK OF CAMEL CIGARETTES,
EMPTY GLASS CASE BEARING OPTOMETRIST'S NAME, M.M. PINE,
MAIN STREET, FLUSHING, SHOTGUN CONTAINEDITWO DISCHARGED
REMINGTON EXPRESS SHELLS, SINGLE O BUCKSHOT SHELLS AND
INDICATIONS THAT GUN WAS RECENTLY USED. ALSO LOCATED

IN THE HALL WERE THREE FORTY FIVE CALIBER SHELLS AND SLUGS,
SIX NINE MILEMETER SHELLS AND TWO SLUGS AND THREE THIRTY
TWO CALIBER SLUGS AND TEN PIECES OF LEAD, PRESUMABLY

FIRED FROM A SHOTGUN.

Approved:

Special Agent in Charge
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ANOTHER SOURCE, WHO IS IN A POSITION TO FURNISH

RELIABLE INFORMATION, ADVISED THAT MALCOLM WAS PRESENTED
TO THE AUDIENCE AT APPROXIMATELY THREE TWO P.M. AND HAD
MOVED TO AZROSITION BEHIND THE PODIUM. AS HE ROSE FROM
BEHIND THE PODIUM AND WALKED TO THE SPEAKER'S POSITION

TO GREET THE AUDIENCE SOMEONE FROM THE LEFT SIDE OF THE
HALL, PPROXIMATELY FOUR ROWS FROM THE FRONT, DESCRIEED

AS A NEGRO MALE, YELLED QUOTE GET YOUR HANDS OUT OF MY
POCKET UNQUOTE. AS THIS WAS DONE, MALCOLM X'S BODY

GUARDS MOVED IN THE DIRECTION OF THIS INDIVIDUAL AND
ATTEMPTED TO SUBDUE HIM, WHEREUPON MALCOLM X SAID

QUOTE HOLD IT UNQUOTE. AT THIS TIME SOURCE WAS

WALKING TOWARD THIS MAN IN FRONT OF THE AUDIENCE AND FROZE
AS A RESULT OF MALCOLM'S COMMAND TO QUOTE HOLD IT UNQUOTE.
WITHOUT HESITATION, TWO MEN, OCCUPYING THE FRONT SEATS,
LEFT SIDE OF MIDDLE AISLE, APPROXIMATELY EIGHTEEN FEET
FROM MALCOLM X, GOT INTO A CROUCHED POSITION AND FIRED
SEVERAL SHOTS IN THE DIRECTION OF MALCOLM X. THESE MEN

UG AED

Special Agent in Charge
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PAGE FOUR

. WERE DRESSED IN DARK CLOTHES, STILL IN A
CROUCHED ;’POSITION THE GUNMEN HASTILY MOVED TOWARD THE
%)EIVTB?ED SEEMED TO BE STILL FIRING. SOURCE ADVISED’ THAT
~RESEN FRANCIS, MEMBER OF MALCOLM'S GROUP, HAD SHOT ONE OF
THE QUOTE DECOYS UNQUOTE AND THAT ONE OF THE GUNMEN WAS
CAUGHT BY SEVERAL OF THE MMI MEMBERS.

TRUSTED MEMBERS OF THE MMI MET AT THE HOTEL THERESA
AT WHICH TIME JAMES SIXTY SEVER:X, WARDEN, EXECUTIVE
SECRETARY OF THE MMI, STATED THAT HE HAD NEVER HEADED AN
ORGANIZATION BUT WOULD DO ALL HE COULD TO PRESERVE THE IDEA
AND KEEP THE PROGRAM ALIVE. HE RLSO STATED THAT A LESSON
HAD BEEN LEARNED BY THE GROUP IN THAT NOW THEY MUST TIGHTEN
UP THE SECURITY OF BOTH MEMBERS AND LEADERS AND STATED
QUOTE WE ARE AT WAR UNQUOTE.

NYCPD ADVISED THAT IN ADDITION TO MALCOLM AND HAGAN,
THE SUSPECT, BEING SHOT, TWO PEOPLE IN THE AUDIENCE WERE

(STRUCK BY FLYING BULLETS. ONE WILLIE HARRIS, A MEMBER OF)

MALCOIM'S ORGANIZATION, WAS SHOT IN THE RIGHT SIDE AND WILLIE

PARKER WAS WOUNDED IN THE LEFT FOOT. BOTH WERE TAKEN TO

A B Sent M per
Special Agent in Charge
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COLUMBIA PRESBYTERIAN HOSPITAL AND THEIR CONDITIONS V
ARE CONSIDERED GOOD. POLICE CONSIDER BOTH PARKER AND HARRIS
TO BE MERELY ONLOOKERS AND NOT TO HAVE BEEN INVOLV:ED IN THE
SHOOTING. AUTOPSY ON MALCOIM X REFLECTED THAT EE HAD TEN
BULLET WOUNDS IN HIS CHEST, THIGH AND Aw, PLUS
FOUR BULLET GREASES IN THE CHEST AND THIGH. THIS AUTOPSY
LOCATED ONE NINE MILEMFETER SLUG, ONE FORTY FIVE CALIBER
SLUG AND SEVERAL SHOTGUN PELLETS IN HIS BODY. THE POLICE
HAVE CHARGED HAGAN WITH HOMICIDE ON MALCOLM X AND HAVE
CHARGED % X FRANCIS WITH FELONIOUS ASSAULT AND POSSESION
OF A DEADLY WEAPON. THE POLICE SAY THAT IN VIEW OF THE
NATURE OF HAGAN'S INJURY HE MAY BE HOSPITALIZED FOR UP
TO SIX WEEKS. THE NYCPD HAVE A WITNESS WHO HAS
IDENTIFIED FRANCIS AS FIRING BACK AT ASSATILANTS OF MALCOLM
X. FRANCIS IS PRESUMED TO HAVE FIRED THE . SHOT WHICH STRUCK
HAGAN. POLICE ALSO SUSPECT FRANCIS SHOT THE THIRTY TWO
CALIBER REVOLVER USED IN THESE SHOOTINGS, THOUGH THE GUN
HAS NOT BEEN LOCATED. THE POLICE NOW ESTIMATE THAT THE NUM
OF |MALCOIM'S ASSAILANTS NUMBER FROM TWO TO FOUR, " INCLUDING

Special Agent in Charge
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PAGE SIX

THE CAPTURED HAGAN. FBL IDENTIFIEATIONYDIVISION IDENTIFIED

FINGERPRINTS OF HAGAN AS IDENTICAL TO ELM.ADGE HAYER, &SO

KNOWN AS THOMAS HAYER, FBI NUMBER ONE FOUR TWO FOUR NINE SIX
iy St s e o LR e xR

S
F, NEGRO MALE, BORN MARCH SIXTEEN, NINETEEN FORTY TWO AT

HAC]CENSACK NEW JERSEY, RESIDES THRuE FOUR SEV’“N MARSHALL
ST}’LET, PATT]:.RSON NEH JERSEY ARRESTED ELEVEN SEVEN SIXTY

THRLE FOR RECEIPT OF STOLEN GOODS BY PASSAIC COUNTY BUREAU
OF IDENTIFICATION, PATTERSON, NEW JERSEY, ARREST NUMBER
THREE TWO NINE SIX ONE, NO DISPOSITDN SHOWN. NYO AND
NEWARK INDICES NEGATIVE ON HAYER. DESCRIPTION OF ONLY ONE
OTHER ASSAILANT HAS BEEN DETERMINED. HE IS A NEGRO
MALE, AGE TWENvTY EIGHT, SIX FEET TWO INCHES, TWO HUNDRED
POUNDS, HEAVY BUILD, DARK COMPLEXION, WEARING GRAY COAT
AND BELIEVED TO BE ASSAILANT WHO USED SHOTGUN. HAGAN
HAS REFUSED TO FURNISH ANY INFORMATION OTHER THAN HIS NAME
AND AGE, WHICH IS TWENTY TWO YEARS. NYO INDICES ON
HAGAN NEGATIVE.

RONALD TIMBERLAKE, SELF-ADMITTED OAAU MEMBER,
RESIDING ONE SEVEN SIX FOUR BEDFORD AVENUE, BROOKLYN, NY,

Sent

Special Agent in Charge
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TELEPHONICALLY CONTACTED NYO AND ADVISED HE HAS BNE
OF THE GUNS USED TO KILL MALCOLM X. CONTACTED BY BUREAU
AGENTS, TIMBERLAKE TURNED OVER TO THEM A UNITED STATES
ARMY COLT FORTY FIVE, MODEL ONE NINE ONE ONE, SERIAL NUMBER
THREE THREE FIVE ZERO FIVE FIVE, WITH CLIP CONTAINING THREL
ROUNDS OF AMMUNITION. DURING INTERVIEW, TIMBERLAKE STATED
HE WITNESSED THE SHOOTING FROM THE REAR OF THE AUDUBON
BALLROOM AND BELIEVED FOUR TO FIVE NEGRO MALES PARTICIPATED
IN THE SHOOTING. TIMBERLAKE STATED THAT TWO MEN PASSED
HIM WHEN LEAVING THE BALLROOM. TWO OTHERS WERE RUNNING
OUT OF THE BALLROOM, ONE TURNED TO RETURN THE FIRE AT
MALCOIM'S MEN. .AS THIS MAN TURNED TO RUN OUT THE DOOR,
HE, TIMBERLAKE, THREW A BODY BLOCK AT HIM, AND THIS PERSON
FELL ON THE STEPS, DROPPING THE GUN. THE LAST MAN RUNNING
OUT OF THE BUILDING JUMPED OVER THE PERSON HE STRUCK AND
WAS APPARENTLY ARRESTED WHEN HE LEFT THE BUILDING. THE
PERSON WHO WAS STRUCK DOWN FELL DOWN THE STAIRS, SCRAMBLED
TO HIS FEET, AND BEGAN RUNNING OUT OF THE BUILDING. TIMBERLAKE
STATED HE PICKED UP THE GUN AND TRIED TC SHQOT Hﬂl BUT

Special Agent in Charge
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THE GUN JAMMED. ABOUT THIS TIME, SOME OF MALCOLM'S

A DARK BROWN, DIRTY SUEDE JACKET. THE LAST MAN LEAVING

SIX FEET RLL, ONE HUNDRED AND SIXTY POUNDS, SHORT BLACK

MEDIUM GRAY TOP COAT AND NO HAT.

THAT THE INDIVIDUAL¥ WHO GAVE AGENTS THIS GUN DESIRED

AND IDENTIFY HIMSELF TO THE POLICE. INSPECTOR RENEGHAN

MEN PUSHED HIM BACK INSIDE THE BUILDING WHERE HE THEN PUT THE
GUN IN HIS POCKET AND WAITED UNTIL MALCOLM WAS TAKEN AWAY,
AND LEFT THE BALLROOM. TIMBERLAKE DESCRIBED THE MAN WITH
THE GUN AS BEING MALE NEGRO, AGE TWENTY, FIVE FEET SEVEN
INCHES, MEDIUM BUILD, SHORT BLACK HAIR, BROWN SKIN, WEARING

THE

BUILDING WAS DESCRIBED AS MALE, NEGRO, THIRTY YEARS OF AGE,

HAIR, MAY HAVE HAD A SMALL MUSTACHE, WORE DARK TROUSERS,

INSPECTOR THOMAS G. RENEGHAN, DEPUTY INSPECTOR
ARTHUR GRUBERT, N.A. AND DETECTIVE LOUIS W. JARLY, ALL OF
THE NYCPD, CAME TO THE NYO AND PICKED UP THE FORTY FIVE
CALIBER GUN MADE AVAILABLE BY TIMBERLAKE AND WERE ADVISED

HIS IDENTITY BE KEPT CONFIDENTIAL AT THIS TIME, AND THAT THE
FBI WOULD ATTEMPT TO PREVAIL UPON THIS SOURCE TO_ COOPERATE

A a Sent M Per

Special Agent in Charge
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ADVISED THAT HE DID NOT‘DESIRE THAT WE ATTEMPT TO APPROACH
THIS SOURCE AT THIS TIME AND PREFERRED THAT WE WAIT UNTIL
THE FBI IS CONTACTED BY HIM AT A LATER DATE AS AN APPROACH
AT THIS TIME MAY $& FRIGHTEN THIS POTENTIAL WITNESS,
CAUSING HIM TO LEAVE THE NY AREA., NY WILL NOT RECONTACT
THIS SOURCE AT THIS TIME PURSUANT TO INSPECTOR RENEGHAN'S

REQUEST.

Approved:

Special Agent in Charge
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NY 105-8999

POLICE INDICATE THEY HAVE THE FOLLOWING WITHESSES
TC THIS SHOOTING: FREE LANCE REPORTERS CHARLES MOORE AND
ALBERT MC CLELLAN, BOTH OF SIXTY-SIX RIVERSIDE DRIVE, NYC,
WILLIE PARKER, TWO THREE NAUGHT FIVE THIRTIETH AVENUE, ASTCRIA,
DOB JANUARY TWENTY-SIX TWENTY-NINE, MENTIONED PREVIOUSLY,

AND EDWARD PARENTHESIS LNU END PAREN, OF ONE NINE NAUGHT DASH
NAUGHT THREE ONE HUNDRED ELEVENTH AVENUE, QUEENS, N.Y., A NEGRO
MALE, AGE SIXTY-NINE.

JACK SHANAHAN, CITY DESK, ASSOCIATED PRESS, FIFTY
ROCKEFELLER PLAZA, NYC, ADVISED FEBRUARY TWENTY-FIRST SIXTY-FIVE
THAT ONE OF THEIR SOURCESTWHOSE RELIABILITY IS UNKNOWN EY THIS
OFFICE, HAD STATED THAT SOME MEN, INCLUDING DONALD WASHINGTON
AND OMAR (PH) (BELIEVED TO BE OMAR AHMED) (KNOWN OAAU IMENEERS
IN NYC), WERE GOING TO CHICAGO EITHER BY PLANE OR CAR FOR TIHE
PURPOSE OF KILLING ELIJAH MUHAMMAD, NOI NATIONAL LEADER. AP
SOURCE ALSO ADVISED THAT PLANS HAVE EEEN MADE TO KILL JAIES
SIXTY-SEVEN X WARDEN AND MARTIN LUTHER KING. AP SOURCE
INDICATED THAT KING WAS TO HAVE BEEN KILLED WHEN THE STATUZ
OF LIBERTY WAS SUPPOSED TO HAVE EEEN DESTROYED. HE ALSO ST

THAT MALCOLM X WAS NOT DUE TO BE ASSASSINATED UNTIL TWO WEEKS

Sent Per

Special Agent in Charge
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NY 105-8999
FROM TODAY (FEBRUARY TWENTY-ONE SIXTY-FIVE) BUT THAT T:E
SCHEDULE HAD BEEN MOVED AHEAD.

IT IS TO BE NOTED IN REFERENCE TO DONALD WASHINGTON
THAT NY FOUR SIX NAUGHT FIVE R ADVISED FEBRUARY TWENTY-CIE
SIXTY-FIVE THAT DONALD WASHINGTON IS DESCRIEED AS NEGRO, IALE,
AMERICAN, LATE TVWENTIES, FIVE FOOT NINE INCEES, ONE SEVERTY
FIVE POUNDS, MEDIUM BUILD, BROWN EYES, BLACK HAIR, SMALL

MUSTACHE, SMALL BEARD, VERY PRONOUNCED HOOK NOSE, COFFEE EZAN

COMPLEXION, VERY NERVOUS, EXCITABLE MANNER, WEARS PAKISTINIAN

TYPE GINNAHA CAP. OMAR AHMED WAS DESCRIBED BY NY FOUR SIX NAUGHT
FIVE R AS FOLLOWS: NEGRO, MALE, AMERICAN, THIRTY-ONE YEARS OF
AGE, SIX FEET TWO OR THREE INCHES TALL, ONE SEVENTY-FIVE TO

ONE EIGHTY POUNDS, WELL-KNIT BUILD, SHAVED HEAD, THIN MUSTACEE,

VERY DARK COMPLEXION, DARK EYES, FALSE TEETH IN FRONT OF

MOUTH, WEARS GINNAHA TYPE P AND BLACK COAT.
i Z nm«)ﬁﬁ < =
NY VISED HE OVERHEARD

CRAWFORD, REPORTER "LIFE'" MAGAZINE, IN CONVERSATION WITH
GEORGE (LNU), WASHINGTON, D. C., APPROXIMATELY ELEVEN THIRTY
P.M. FEBRUARY TWENTY-ONE SIXTY-FIVE DURING WHICH CONVERSATION

Special Agent in Charge
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NY 105-8999
CRAWFORD STATED THAT THE KILLERS OF MALCOLM X WERE POSSIELY
IMPORTED TO NYC. NY+memseniliilSidissaimmes RELIEVED THE
FOLLOWING STATEMENTS BY CRAWFORD TO EE ACCURATE, THAT CRAWFORD
ADVISED GEORGE TO CHECK OUT WASHINGTON AND CIA EECAUSE THEY
WANTED MALCOLM OUT OF THE WAY BECAUSE HE JSNAFUED’AFRICAN
RELATIONS FOR THE U. S. INFORMANT ALSO OVERHEARD CRAWFORD
CALL DICK DURHAM IN CHICAGO AT TELEPHONE AB FOUR EIGHT SIX TWO
THREE DURING WHICH CONVERSATION CRAWFORD ADVISED DURHAM TEAT
TWO OF MALCOLM'S MEN WERE THEN IN CHICAGO HAVING FLOWN THERE
TO HIT EITHER ELIJAH OR THE UNIVERSITY (PRESUMABLY UNIVERSITY
OF ISLAM). HE ALSO ADVISED DURHAM TO STAY OUT OF THE WAY
WHEN BULLETS START FLYING.

THE NYCPD ADVISED FEBRUARY TWENTY-ONE SIXTY-FIVE AT
ELEVEN P. M.THAT THE PHILADELPHIA POLICE HAD CONTACTED THEM
TO ADVISE THAT THEY HAD PICKED UP ONE LLOYD WRIGHT (EELIEVED
TO BE AN MMI MEMBER IN PHILADELPHIA) WHO CAME TO ST. LUKE'S
HOSPITAL IN PHILADELPHIA WITH A BROKEN ARM AND ADMITTED EEING

ALLROOM
AT THE AUDUBONﬁHEN THE SHOOTING TOOK PLACE INVOLVING MALCCLM

LITTIE. NO FURTHER DETAILS WERE FURNISHED AT THIS TIME IN THIS

Special Agent in Charge
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REGARD BY THE NYCPD. THIS BEING SUBMITTED FOR PHILADELFHI:'S
INFORMATION.
BUREAU WILL BE KEPT ADVISED.

AM COPIES BEING FORWARDED TO BOSTON, CLEVELAND,

L0S ANGELES, SAN FRANCISCO, NEWARK AND WASHINGTON FIELD OFFICE.

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN PERTAINING TO
CHICAGO HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY FURNISHED TO THEM BY TELEPHCNE.

Special Agent in Charge
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DIRECTOR, FBI (100-399321)

SAC, NEW YORK (105-8999)

MALCOLM K. LITTLE, AKA; IS DASH MMI

RENYTELETYPE TO BUREAU DATED FEBRUARY, TWENTY TWO,
SIXTY FIVE. | i

LT. FRANK SULLIVAN, HOMICIDE SQUAD, NEW YORK CITY POLIC:
DEPARTMZNT (NYCPD) STATED HE CONTACTED RONALD TIMBERLAKE EVENING
OF FEBRUARY TWENTY TWO, SIXIY FIVE. HE STATED TIMBERLAKS WAS
BELLIGZRENT AND REFUSED TO GIVE A STATEMENT EVEN AFTER NYCPD
OFFERED HIM PROTECTION. TIMBERLAKE SAID HE DIDN'T WANT TO GET
INVOLVED IN ANYWAY WITH THE INVESTIGATION OF MALCOLM X'S DEATH.
TIMBERLAKE WAS TAKEN TO BELLEVUE HOSPITAL, NYC BY NYCPD WHERE
ACCORDING TO LT.. SULLIVAN TIMBERLAKE EITHER COULD NOT OR WOULD
NOT IDENTIFY TALMADGE HAYER AS ONE OF THE ASSASSINS. LI.
SULLIVAN STATED HAYER'S FINGZRPRINT WAS FOUND ON THE CLIP OF THZ
FORTY FIVS CAL. PISTOL TURNZD OVEZR TO THE NYO BY TIMBERLAK:.
NYCPD PLANS TO RECONTACT TIMBIRLAKE IN ABOUT TWO DAYS.

(_1"\- New York b |
1 - Supv. #+3 i { A= ('V/
: 7 ;

JCS:mrm
(2) .

SpecigiAgent in Charge
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TELETYPE URGENT

T0 ¢ DIRECTOR, FBI (100-399321)
FROM  : SAC, NEW YORK (105-8999) (43)

SUBJECT: MALCOIM K, LITTLE, AKA,
IS - MMI

ON TWO TWENTY THREE, SIXTY FIVE, JASPER DAVIS
ADVISED NYO THAT HE ATTENDED OAAU RALLY AT AUDUBON BALLROOM, NYC,
WO IWENTY ONE, SIXTY FIVE, WHEN MALCOLM X WAS KILLED. ACCORDING
T0 DAVIB HE WAS SITTING IN THE SEVENTH OR EIGHTH ROW FROM THE
FRONT ON THE RIGHT SIDE WHEN FACING THE AUDIENCE. DAVIS SAID
MALCOLM X HAD JUST GREETED THE AUDIENCE WHEN A NEGRO MALE SEATED
NEXT TO HIM SAID "GET YOUR HANDS OUT OF My POCKET' THEN STOOD
UP AND PUSHED HIS CHAIR BACK. SEVERAL OTHER PERSONS IN THE SAME
ROW GOT UP CAUSING SOME CONFUSION WHICH IN TURN CAUSED OTHERS TO
LOOK IN THAT DIRECTION. DAVIS SAID THEN HE HEARD A LOUD SHOT
RING OUT COMING FROM THE FRONT OF THE HALL NEAR THE STAGE. KE
SAID HE GOT A LOOK AT THE BACK OF THE HEAD OF THE PERSON HE
BELIEVES FIRED THE FIRST SHOT BUT WOULD NOT BE ABLE TO IDENTIFY
HIM. DAVIS SAID EVERYTHING HAPPENED SO FAST AND THE FACT THAT

= New York
-{S?:msb e

Approved:
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(Type in plaintext or code)

TELETYPE

(Priority)

NY 105-8999
PAGE TWO

HE "HIT" THE FLOOR TO SAVE HIMSELF FROM -BEING SHOT, PREVENTED HIM
FROM BEING ABLE TO IDENTIFY ANY OF THE GUNMEN. DAVIS DESCRIBED

THE MAN WHO SAID ''GET YOUR HANDS OUT OF MY POCKET" AS MALE, NEGRO,
ABOUT THIRTY FIVE TO FORTY YEARS, FIVE FEET NINE INCHES, MEDIUM

BUILD, BROWN SKIN, WHO WORE A RATHER DARK GRAY OR PLAIN GRAY JACKET.
DAVIS SAID AFTER THE SHOOTING HE WENT UP TO SEE MALCOLM X AND
SAID HE WAS ALL BLOODY AND NO SIGN OF LIFE. DAVIS SAID HE WAS

INTERVIEWED BY THE NYCPD AND FURNISHED THE SAME INFO TO THEM ON

TWO TWENTY ONE, SIXTYFIVE. A
rrman )i e d
A FORMER PSI, (INSUFFICIENT CONTACT

T ndomant's Sy wbet
TO DETERMINE RELIABILITY) AND NY

(RELIABLE) ADVISED TWO TWENTY THREE, SIXTY FIVE, THAT ALL MEETINGS
OF THE MMI AND OAAU HAVE BEEN CANCELLED UNTIL AFTER MALCOIM X'S
FUNERAL ON SATURDAY, TWO TWENTY SEVEN, SIXTY FIVE. THE ONLY
SCHEDULED AFFAIR IS A MEMORIAL BENEFIT TO RAISE MONEY FOR

MALCOLM X'S WIDOW AND FAMILY, SCHEDULED FOR EIGHT P.M., TWO

Special Agent in Charge
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Transmit the following in
(Type in plaintext or code)

TELETYPE

(Priority)

NY 105-8999
PAGE THREE

TWENTY THREE SIXTY FIVE, IN THE SKYLINE ROOM OF THE HOTEL
THERESA, NYC, BY THE OAAU.
r ﬂw% ﬂow.l“HREE, SIXTY FIVE, CSNY saiuiaddinmege
%‘ RELIABLE) ADVISED THAT THE HOTEL THERESA HAS
CANCELLED THE RESERVATION OF THE OAAU FOR THE SKYLINE ROOM ON
TWO TWENTY THREE, SIXTY FIVE, AND BENEFIT WILL DEFINITELY NOT
BE HELD THERE. CANCELLATION BY HOTEL WAS ON SUGGESTION OF
NYC PD CAPTAIN SEALEY (NA), TWENTY EIGHTH PRECINCT, TO AVOID
FURTHER TROUBLE,
BSS, NYCPD, ADVISED OF SCHEDULED BENEFIT AND THE

CANCELLATION OF THE HOTEL RESERVATION.

Special Agent in Charge
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FBI
Date: 3/30/65

Transmit the following in

TELETYPE

(Type in plaintext or code]
GENT

(Priority)

DIRECTOR, FBI (100-399321)
FROM: SAC, NEW YORK (105-8999)
SUBJECT: MALCOLM K. LITTLE aka

IS - MMI

RE NEW YORK TEL THREE TWENTY NINE SIXTY FIVE.

SGT. GEORGE PORETTE, TWENTY FOURTH PRECINCT,
NYCPD, ADVISED THREE THIRTY SIXTY FIVE THAT ROBERT THIRTY
FIVE X SMITH, BUFILE ONE H'UNDRED:FOUR FOUR THREE THREE ONE
FOUR, FAILED TO APPEAR IN COURT, NEW YORK THREE TWENTY NINE
SIXTY FIVE ON CHARGES OF POSSESSION OF A GUN. ROBERT |
FORFEITED ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS BAIL. SMITH WAS ONE OF
MALCOM X'S BODYGUARDS ON TWO,TWENTY ONE SIXTY FIVE WHEN
MALCOLM X WAS KILLED. SMITH WAS SEEN WITH LARGE AMOUNT
OF MONEY DAY AFTER MALCOILM X'S DEATH. POLICE DEPARTMENT HAS
WARRANT FOR SMITH'S ARREST FOR FAILING TO APPEAR IN gougn‘
1-New York 100: ~ (LANGSTON SAVAGE)
1-New York 100-153269 (ROBERT SMITH)
‘I*New York 3
JES:pmg .

1-Supervisor # 43
]

4;47

//)$sz Per ‘4




FBI1
Date:

Transmit the following in

(Type in plaintext or code]

(Priority)

NY 105-8999

PAGE TWO

ALSOWNTED BY POLICE DEPARTMENT FOR QUESTIONING IN DEATH
OF MAICOLM X. LANGSTON SAVAGE KNOWN MEMBER MMI SUBPOENAED
TO APPEAR BEFORE GRAND JURY THIS DATE. ACCORDING TO SGT.
PORETTE, SAVAGE MAY BE HELD IN CONTEMPT FOR REFUSING TO
ANSWER QUESTIONS BEFORE GRAND JURY. CURRENT INVESTIGATION
BEING CONDUCTED BY NYO ON SAVAGE FOR CONSIDERATION ON THE

SECURITY INDEX,

Special Agent in Charge




Q. .

Date: 4/2/65

Transmit the following in

(Type in plain text o code)

Airtel

(Priority)

Tos SACs, New York (105-8999)
Philadelphia (100-39918)

o
[/From: Director, FBI (100-399321)

MALCOLM K, LITTLE
INTERNAL SECURITY - MMI

ReNYairtels 4/1/65 and 3/8/65,both captioned as above
S

NYairtel of 3/8/65 contained information that NY
was among informants who had viewed a photograph of Edward Oliver
and had been unable to identify Oliver as being in attendance at
the meeting at which Little was killed, Reairtel of 4/1/65
reported that NY JBSSWS® had stated after reviewing a photograph
of Oliver that a person resembling Oliver had been observed at
the above-mentioned meeting, The informant could not make a
positive identification,

Prior to granting authority for the New York Office
to furnish the tentative identification of Oliver as having been
present at the meeting held 2/21/65, at which Little was killed,
to the New York City Police Department; New York should advise
by return airtel whether Oliver's photograph had been reviewed
by all informarts in attendance at the meeting.

In addition, Philadélphia should advise by return
airtel whether “RgE@sor his wife were able to identify Oliver

as attending the meeting,
S/W‘F

n
/

’}qw\ Sent Via
ko)




FBI
Date: 1/1/65
Transmit the following in

Via

/

TO0: DIRECTOR, FBI (100-399321) /
FROM: SAC, NEW YORK (105-8999)

SUBJECT : MALCOLM K. LITTIE aka
IS - MMI

ReNKteletype, 3/5/65, captioned "NORMAN HOWARD
MORTIMORE, aka; SM - NOI'. ¥

on 3/8/65, reliable, viewed numerous
photographs, including the photographsof TALMAGE HAYER,
THOMAS JOHNSON, NORMAN HOWARD MORTIMORE and EDWARD OLIVER.
HAYER and JOHNSON have been indicted for the homicide of
MALCOLM X on 2/21/65, at New York City. MORTIMORE is a
suspect of the NYCPD in the homicide of MALCOLM X. OLIVER
is considered one of the Nation of Islam (NOI) "strong
armed men" from Newark, :

6 ~ Bureau (RM)
1l -~ 100~
1l - 100~

THOMAS JOHNSON)

TALMAGE, HAYER
NORMAN HOWARD MORTIMORE)

NORMAN HOWARD MORTIMORE
1 - 100~ EDWARD OLIVER) Ve
2 ~ Philadelphia (Encs. 2) (R >
(1 - 100-39918 ) (MALCOLM K. LITTLE)
5 « New York
~ 100-154880) (NORMAN HOWARD MORTIMORE) ,
- 100-154846) (TALMAGE HAYER)
~ 149-689

% TALMAGE HAYER)

Bu Tfw

CS :gfb
(7)

7
Approved: Sent

SPECIAL AGENT IN CHARGE




NY 105-8999

The informant, upon reviewing a photograph of
HAYER, stated that he observed an individual resembling
ront section of the Audubon Ballroom on

SEerhe
informant stated, however, that he could not make a
positive identification of the photograph,

Upon reviewing photographs of MORTIMORE and
the informant stateq that these photographs

got
into his pocket". This caused a disturbance and drew
the attention of the audience and MALCOLM X's bodyguards
to themselves, The guards approached them and left
MALCOLM X unguarded, at which time Some shooting occurred
down in front near the rostrum, The informant could not
make a positive identification of the photographs,

killing of MALCOLM X. The informant advised he could
not make a positive identificdtion of the photograph. .

Sergeant GEORGE PORETTE, 24th Precinct, NYCPD,
advised on 3/31/65, that at the present time HAYER
JOHNSON and NORMAN 3X BUTLER are the only persons known
to them to have had anything to do with the death of
MRLCOLMEX et i St G R

Bureau authority is reﬁuested to furnish infor-

mation made available by to the NYCPD on a
confidential basis. 1f Bureau approves, this information
will be furnished to NYCPD through Assistant Chief
Inspector JOSEPH L. COYLE, Hegd of Manhattan North
Detectives, NYCPD, e

Ss




NY 105-8999

Philadelphia Office is requested to exhibvit P
attached photograph of MORTIMORE and OLIVER touEmi. 3T .
and his wife to determine if they could identify %
MORTIMORE and OLIVER as taking part in the assassination
of MALCOLM X or were observed in the audience at the
Audubon Ballroom on 2/21/65 in New York City.

¥




4/9/65

REGISTURED MAIL

TO: DIRLCTOR, FBI (100-399321)
FROM: SAC, PHILADELPHIA (100-39918)

MALCOLM K. LITTLE
IS - WML

RePilzairtel to Director, 3/30/65, cc New York: NYairtel
to Director, 4,1,65, cc Philadelphia; Buairtel to iew York
and Philadelphin, 4/2/65.

A photograph of EDWARD OLIVER, furnished by the
New York Office, was exhibited to P SR and his wife.
Neither PH 3 nor his wife coulad ideatify OLIVER. They
stated that €0 thelr knowledge they hed never seen him
before,

In reilYeirtel it 1s noted that NY MEERER: adviced
NORMAN H RD MORTIMORE and THOMAC JCUNSON rescmbled two
individuals who sat in the middle of the cudience a2t the
Audubon Ballroom, New York City, on 2/21/65 &nd jumped up
at about tihie time MALCOLM X appeared at the rostrum. Onc of
these individuals shouted that someone "got into his pockoet.”

In rePiairtel, PH@ISBEE advised that bofore
Grand Jury in licw York City, he ideniified TALMAGE LA

the individu:l who stood up and told the person oan nhi
"Get your hiund out of my poclket.”

/3\- Burecau (1)
(2 -~ New York (105-8999)(RM)
2 - Phil:de o

=

?{'3 ‘ac

B




PH 100-39918

PH has identificd photographs of HAYER,
THOMAS JOHN:& nd NORMAN BUTLIR as being present at the
Organization of Afro-American Unity (OAAU) meeting on 2,21/65
at the Auduboa Ballroom in New York City, at which MALCOLM
LITTLE was murdered. These photozravhs are the only
photographs of suspects that Pﬂww.haﬂ identified.
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT

Memorandum

: SAC, New York (105-8999) paTE! 4/13/65

: pirector, FBI (100-399321)

MALCOLM K. LITTLE
INTERNAL SECURITY - MMI

ReBSlet 3/25/65 captioned "Leon Lionel Phillips, Jr.,
aka, SM - NOI," a copy of which is attached for the Newark
Office which has not previously received copies.

New York should carefully review the information
contained in referenced letter . as furnished by the late
Leon Lionel Phillips. After this review, New York should
determine whether Phillips had been interviewed by the
New York City Police Department (NYCPD) during his visit
there after the murder of Little. An attempt should be
made to determine whether the information contained in
referenced letter is already in the possession of the NYCPD,
particularly the information alleging that the individual
who fired the shotgun at Little was supposedly a lieutenant
from the Newark Temple of the Nation of Islam (NOI) In the
event this information is not already in the possession of

, the NYCPD, such information should not be furnished to the
{ NYCPD without first receiving Bureau authority.

Newark should review its files for the purpose of
identifying the lieutenant in the Newark Temple of the NOI.
If Newark has not already done so, a photograph of this
lieutenant should be furnished to the New York Office for
the purpose of having informants who were present at the time
Little was killed view the photograph for possible identifica-
tion as one of the murderers. This matter should be handled
promptlye.

Boston should in the future insure that copies of
all communications are furnished to every interested office
80 that it will not be necessary for the Bureau to furnish
copies of such communications to additional interested offices.

.
2 - Newark (Enclosure) i...-—. . = SEARCHED oered |
1 - Boston (100-27649) smmzsoﬂﬂlzq,z
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT

Memorandum

DIRECTOR, FBI (100-399321) DATE4/21/65
8AC, NEVARK (100-40295) (P)

SUBJECT: KALCOLY K, LITTLE, aka
IS-MuI

Re Bureau letter to New York, 4/13/65,

Referenced Dureau letter concerns information
furnished to the Boston 0ffice by LELON LIO}Zm,,I’JILLIPS, T,
@lleging that the individual who fired the shotgun &t LITTLL
was supposedly a lieutenant from the Newark Teample of the
RATION OF ISLAM (KOI).

At the time subje were only two
lieutenants at MUHAMMAL's b Hewark, N.J.

RICHARD 15X (LNU)

Sex Male

Race Negro

Age 28-30

Height e'2n

Weight 150-160 pounds

Hair Black

Eyes Brown

Build Slender

Conplexion Dark brown

Characteristics Large eyes;
egg-shaped head

Maritial Status 8Single

Occupation Floor waxer

Enployer Unknown

2-B RY) i ek
(1 Syt :’:r{ (105-8999) (info) (RN) A -€ 99’7 ¢ = ‘/
4 - Newark o
1 = 100-48001) (RICHARD 15X) e
21 ~ 100-48026) (EIWARD 15X) i =
?l;g:uh S 3 =




KK 100-40285

EDVARD 15X (LNU)

Sex Male

Race Negro

Age 28-31

Height 612

Weight 150-165 pounds

Bairy , Black

Eyes Drown

Build Slender

Complexion Medium brown

Characteristics Large eyesj
thin mustache

Harital Status Bingle

Occupation VWorks in & hospitalj -
place unknown

Investigation is continuing to ddentify RICHARD 15X
sng‘mm 15X 374 pbotographswill be furnished to New York
£fice.

Referenced Bureau letter included a copy of Boston
letter dated 3/25/65, captioned “LEON LIONEL PEILLIPS, JR.,
aka; SH-KOI", but did not include & copy of the letterhead
memorandun submitted to Bureau with that letter.

The Bureau is requested to furnish Newark with a
copy of this letterhead memorandum,
»
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Date: 8-25-65

Transmit the following in

(Type in plaintext or code)

airtel

(Priority]

To: SAC, New York (105-8999)

From: Director, FBI (100-399321)
NALCOL!! X LITTLE : x
INTERKAL SECURITY - MMI

Reurtel 8-23-65 and telephone call to New York
Office 8-24-65,

Since information has now been received indicating
Rueben M. Francis is in llexico, you should, utilizing this
information, fully explore with appropriate officials of the
New York City Police Department the possibility of obtaining
a Federal unlawful flight warrant concernirng hin,

In the event there is a continuing reluctance on
the part of the New York City Police Department to request
FBI assistance under the Unlawful Flight Statute in this
matter, you should furnish the Bureau full details,

This should be promptly handled and the Bureau
advised of results.

1 - New York (100-146782)

Sent Via




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

In Reply, Please Refer to
ile No.

Miami, Florida
0CT 21 1965
105-8554"

RE: MALCOLM K, LITTLE;
INTERMAL SECURITY -
MUSLIM MOSQUE, INC.

Deputy Superintendent Edward F. Blake, Boston,
Massachusetts, Police Department, advised that Depart-
ment received the followirg ancnymeous comzmunicationm datad
June 13, 1965, wkich had been addressed to the Suffolk
County Superior Court, Probationm Department:

"James Cook. Black Moslem, said to be

1Gg 18 sncther state with gunshot
wounds due to the fact that he was in-
volved in the kiliirg cf Malco m X. Try
questioning kis wife. Florida is a likely
place.

"He was on probatiocn.™

Deputy Elake advised the persosn referred to
in this communication was believed to be James W. Cook,
Jr.

»

The files of the Middlesex Ccunty Superior Court,
Probation Department, Cambridge, ¥assachusstits, ghow that
James W. Cock, born Dzcember 27, 1433, at Bozton, Massachu-
setts, was on probation there for & "f1lim-flam" type opera-
tion. This file shows that Cock plead uilty to a charge

../—;,'/’ﬁ,r/ (c’ v \

ML
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Cite as 557 .24 289 (1977)

oward LIPINSKI, Petitioner-Appellant,

v.
PEOPLE of the STATE OF NEW
YORK, Respondent-Appellee.
No. 826, Docket 76-2154.
United States Court of Appeals,
Second Circuit.

Argued March 8, 1977.
Decided March 28, 1977.

State prisoner petitioned for writ of
abeas corpus; The United States District
bourt, Henry F. Werker, J., dismissed the

tition and prisoner appealed. The Court
f Appeals, Irving R. Kaufman, Chief
udge, held that use of the New York
" rule, which prevented prisoner
-om impeaching his own witness, did not so
soner’s defense that his conviction
jolated the due process clause.
Affirmed.

. Constitutional Law &=268(2)
Use of the New York “voucher”

rulc.
hich prevented prisoner from i i

4. Constitutional Law =266(1)

Where state prisoner was amply
warned that he would not be permitted to
impeach store detective who arrested him
for petty larceny and that he was endan-
gering his case by eliciting testimony that
confirmed other detective’s story, fact that
detective gave damaging testimony did not
constitute a denial of due process.

Phylis Skloot Bamberger, New York City
(William J. Gallagher, The Legal Aid Socie-
ty, Federal Defender Services Unit, New
York City, of counsel), for petitioner-appel-
lant.

Vincent L. Leibell, ITI, Asst. Dist. Atty.,
Westchester (‘ount;, ‘White Plains, N.
(Carl A. Vergari, Dist. Atty., Westchester
County, White Plains, N.Y., of counsel), for
respondent-appellee.

Before KAUFMAN, Chief Judge, and
SMITH and MULLIGAN, Circuit Judges.

IRVING R. KAUFMAN, Chief Judge:

The hoary rule of L‘\l(](‘ncL that prevents

in criminal prosecution, did

! - prisoner’s defense that his
onviction violated the due process clause.
Criminal Law &=338(1)

s have g de in determin-

a
s of evidence to govern proceedings
their own courts.

. Witnesses <=380(5)

Prisoner who was not permitted to

peach his own witness in criminal trial
uld not complain that application of the
foucher rule prevented him from circum-
enting rule of evidence that out-of-court
Jeclaration introduced to impeach & witness
prinot be used as substantive evidence
PL N.Y. 60.35, subd. 2.

E. Morgan, Basic Problems of Evidence 70-71
962).

New York law provides

Rules of evidence; impeachment of own wit-
ness by proof of prior contradictory state-

ment

a party from his own witness
has plagued scholars for over fifty years.
The consensus of modern commentators is
forcefully expressed by Professor Morgan
“the general prohibition, if it ever had any
basis in reason, has no place in any rational

investigation in  modern

[1] Nevertheless, many states continue
to adhere to the traditional rule, at least in
some form. See 3A Wigmore on Evidence
§§ 896-906 (Chadbourne ed. 1970). The
State of New York provides by statute that
a party in a criminal case may impeach his
own witness with & prior inconsistent state-
ment only if the prior statement is either
sworn or subscribed? We are asked today

1. When, upon examination by the party
who called him, a witness in a criminal pro-
ceeding gives testimony upon a material is-
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to hold that the use of the New York
“youcher” rule, which prevented Howard
Lipinski from impeaching the store detec-
tive who arrested him for petty larceny,
deprived Lipinski of a fair trial. But de-
spite the questionable basis of the voucher
rule, we believe that the trial judge’s refus-
al to permit Lipinski to impeach his own
witness did not so impair Lipinski's defense
that his ultimate conviction violated the due
process clause. Accordingly, we will affirm
the denial of Lipinski's petition for habeas
corpus.

1.

A brief summary of the facts is indis-
pensable for an understanding of this case.
In the evening of March 15, 1974, Howard
Lipinski entered the Gimbels Department
Store at the Cross County Shopping Center
through the Central Park doors. He imme-
diately attracted the attention of two store
detectives, Robert Bendetson and Michael

Starrish, because he had been involved a

short time previously in an altercation with
a Gimbels salesgirl. Starrish testified that
Lipinski wore a raincoat and carried an
ordinary brown shopping bag with the
curved handle of a black umbrella protrud-
ing. Their suspicions aroused, the detec-
tives decided to follow Lipinski’s progres-
sion through the store.

Lipinski walked immediately to the stair-
case leading to the basement, the detectives
close behind. As Lipinski descended, Starr-
ish was no more than six inches away and
had a clear view of the contents of the
shopping bag. He testified that it was
empty save for the black umbrella.

sue of the case which tends to disprove the
position of such party, such party may intro-
duce evidence that such witness has previ-
ously made either a written statement signed
by him or an oral statement under oath con-
tradictory to such testimony.

2. Evidence concerning a prior contradicto-
1 statement introduced pursuant to subdivi-
Slon one may be received only for the pur-
pose of impeaching the credibility of the wit-

chief.
Jury trial, the court must 5o instruct the jury.

557 FEDERAL REPORTER, 2d SERIES

The store detectives pretended to shop
for phonograph records while they main-
tained surveillance over Lipinski. Starrish
testified that Lipinski proceeded immedi-
ately to the tennis racket display in the
Sporting Goods Department. There, set-
ting his shopping bag on the floor, Lipinski
carefully looked around to satisfy himself
that he was not being watched. He then
removed two tennis rackets from the wall,
glanced about him once again, and placed
them into the shopping bag. Lipinski then
approached the sales counter and engaged
the attention of a clerk.

The salesman, Louis Pistecchia, testified
that Lipinski sought to “return” the tennis
rackets in the shopping bag for a cash re-
fund. Lipinski presented a sales slip dated
the previous day which showed he had pur-
chased two tennis rackets of the same mod-
el (Wilson T-3000) as those he had just
removed from the wall. Pistecchia asked
Lipinski to wait while he went to the mana-
ger’s office with the sales slip to procure a
return voucher. The sales clerk was inter-
cepted by Starrish, who explained that Li-
pinski had not brought the tennis rackets
into the store but had just taken them from
the wall display. Pistecchia proceeded with
the transaction as directed. Lipinski duly
signed the voucher, and the sales clerk se-
cured the manager’s approval. Pistecchia
then delivered the return voucher, made out
for $106.98, to Lipinski and directed him to
the credit department for his refund.

After Lipinski had left the sales area,
Starrish approached him, identified himself
as a store detective, and confronted him
with the skein of events the detective had
just witnessed. Lipinski remained silent.

3. When a witness has made a prior signed
or sworn statement contradictory to his testi-
mony in a criminal proceeding upon a mater-
al issue of the case, but his testimony does
not tend to disprove the position of the party
who called him and elicited such testimony,
evidence that the witness made such prior
statement is not admissible, and such party
may not use such prior statement for the
purpose of refreshing the recollection of the
witness in a manner that discloses its con-
tents to the trier of the facts.

CP.L. § 60.35
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Starrish asked Lipinski to accompany him
and Bendetson to the security office, As
they reached the top of the stairs leading to
the ground floor Lipinski bolted for the
door. The two detectives thwarted the es.
cape and, after a slight struggle, hand.
cuffed him.

In the store security office Lipinski was
questioned but obdurately refused to an-
swer. He was, accordingly, turned over to
the Yonkers police. After Lipinski had left,
the detectives found the return voucher,
signed by the aceused, crumpled behind the
chair where he had been sitting.

Bendetson signed an information the fol-
lowing day. Shortly thereafter, Lipinski's
father, Arthur, a retired lawyer, inter.
viewed Bendetson concerning the incident.
A tape recording reveals Bendetson’s story
as follows:

[Bendetson] He came in through the Cen-

tral Park Doors, the Men's Department,

We followed him in. He’s been in the

store before. | Well, that's beside the

point

I saw he had a shopping bag. We
followed him down. Inside the shopping
bag nothing was sticking out. We fol.
lowed him into the Sporting Goods De-
partment. He went right to the tennis
rackets. He took two tennis rackets off
the wall and put them inside the shop-
ping bag. T saw this and so did somebody
else. "He then went over to the cash
register and produced a receipt for them,

And that was that.

[A. Lipinski] He only took two racquets

from the wall, you say?

[Bendetson] He took two tennis racquets

off the wall and put them into the shop-

ping bag. There was another tennis rac-
quet too; whether he wanted to buy it or

exchange it or w T don’t know. All T

did was, see him take two tennis racquets

off the wall and put them into the shop-

Ping bag; and walk over to the cash

register.

[A Lipinski]
him because he had a big
{Bendelson] Sure.

vlou followed
bag?

[A. Lipinski] were you able to see what

he had in that bag?

[Bendetson] No. But I know he didn't

have two tennis racquets. It was impos-

sible to have two tennis racquets in there.

[A. Lipinski] How big a bag was it?

[Bendetson] Regular size shopping bag.

[A. Lipinski] Well, a regular size shop-

ping bag is big enough

Lipinski was tried before Yonkers City
Judge Robert W. Cacace and a jury on
October 7, 1975. The state relied upon Mi-
chael Starrish and Louis Pistecchia to es-
tablish the sequence of events. Lipinski,
proceeding pro se, called Bendetson to the
stand. The detective admitted that he had
not read the complaint before signing it and
that the document contained several errors.
The time of day, Lipinski's address, and the
spelling of Lipinski’s name were incorrect,
In addition, the value of the merchandise
was set forth rather than the value of the
voucher.

After exploring these mistakes, Lipinski
directed his questioning to the conversation
between his father, Arthur Lipinski, and
Bendetson. At this point, Judge Cacace
patiently explained and repeatedly empha-
sized that Lipinski would not be permitted
to impeach his own witness with a prior
inconsistent statement, unless the out-of-
court declaration was a subscribed writing
or a statement under oath. Despite the
Judge’s warning Lipinski insisted on pro-
ceeding to examine Bendetson, who con-
firmed Starrish’s testimony, including the
statement that there was an umbrella in
Lipinski's shopping bag when he entered
the store. This, of course, seems to contra-
dict the tape recording of Bendetson’s com-
ments on March 16, which indicates that
Bendetson did not see an umbrella in Lipin-
ski's shopping bag.

The jury found Lipinski guilty of at-
tempted petty larceny, and Judge Cacace
sentenced him to 30 days imprisonment in
the Westchester County Penitentiary, ser-
vice of which was stayed pending appeal.
The Appellate Term of the Supreme Court
thereafter affirmed Lipinski’s conviction,
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though it did suggest that the legislature
should “modernize” the law to permit
impeachment of one’s own witness by prior
contradictory statements preserved on tape:
taped declarations, the court observed, pro-
vide the same level of reliability as a sub-
seribed or sworn statement. The New York
Court of Appeals denied leave to appeal:

On July 7, 1976, Judg€ Werker denied
Lipinski’s petition for habeas corpus on the
ground that the limitation of Lipinski's
cross-examination of Bendetson did mot
raise a constitutional infirmity to the con-
viction.

I8

{21 'A. The standard to be applied
The states have traditionally been accorded
great latitude in determining rules of evi-
dence to govern proceedings in their own
courts. In this sensitive ares, characterized
by delicate and interrelated judgments of
fairness and efficiency, the federal courts
have trod lightly to refrain from abrasive
disruptions of state procedures and to avoid
rigidity in an area of law that should be,
above all others, empirical.

The benchmark case is Chambers v. Mis-
sissippi, 410 US. 284, 93 SCt. 1038, 35
L.Ed2d 207 (1973). Leon Chambers was
convicted of murdering a policeman, al-
though another man, McDonald, had con-
fessed to the crime. McDonald was called
as a witness by the defendant, but repudiat-
ed his confession on the stand. Because of
the Mississippi rule that a party vouched
for the veracity of his witness, Chambers
was not permitted to cross-examine Mc-
Donald regarding his repudiation. And,
since Mississippi did not recognize declara-
tions against penal interest as an exception
4o the hearsay rule, Chambers was not per-
mitted to introduce testimony from three
witnesses that McDonald had told them
that he, not Chambers, had shot the police-
man.

The Supreme Court held that the use of
the voucher and the hearsay rules in tan-
dem violated Chambers'’s due process right
to a fair trial, since it drastically hampered
Chambers's ability to demonstrate to the
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jury that McDonald, not Chambers, commit-
ted the crime. Justice Powell, however,
was careful to limit the holding:

[Wle establish no new principles of con-

stitutional law. Nor does our holding

signal any diminution in the respect tra-
ditionally accorded to the States in the
establishment  and implementation of
their own criminal trial rules and proce-
dures. Rather, we hold quite simply that
under the facts and circumstances of this
case the rulings of the trial court de-
prived Chambers of a fair trial.
410 US. at 302-03, 93 S.Ct. at 1049. The
touchstone established by Chambers, ac-
cordingly, is simply that of fundamental
fairness. This standard is sufficiently flexi-
ble to avoid excessive interference with
state  procedures,  see Maness V.
Wainwright, 512 F.2d 88 (5th Cir. 1975),
cert. granted, 429 U.S. 893, 97 S.Ct. 253, 50
LEd.2d 176 (1977), yet sensitive enough to
prevent the grave injustices that may result
from the mechanistic application of eviden-
tiary rules.

This court has extended Chambers under
cortain circumstances to situations in which
the application of the voucher rule alone is
involved. See Welcome V. Vincent, 549
F.2d 853 (2d Cir. 1977). But, we too have
approached the difficult task of assessing
the constitutional validity of particular ap-
plications of state evidentiary rules with
salutary caution.

Judge Oakes wrote for
the court in Welcome :
Our holding is narrowly confined to rare

situations where another per-
con, present on the witness stand, has
previously confessed that he, rather than
the defendant on trial, has perpetrated
the crime. We hold that to restrict ex-
amination of such a witness, SO that his
prior confession may not be proven, is to
deny the defendant a fair trial, at least
when the confession, though retracted,
has some semblance of reliability

.. We disavow any attempt to
ugonstitutionalize” the law of evidence
pertaining to the use of prior statements
of a witness, except to the extent of
answering the narrow question left open
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in part by the nature of the holding in
Chambers.
Id. at 858.

B. The legitimate interests served by
the voucher rule. In considering whether a
criminal defendant has been denied due
process by the application of the voucher
rule, we cannot ignore the questionable ba-
sis of the rule itself. The voucher rule
appears to be one of those atavisms that no
quantity of reasoned criticism seems able to
destroy,® though the federal courts* and
many states ® have now abandoned it. The
origin of the rule against impeaching one’s
own witness is shrouded in the mists of
time. Perhaps the rule is nothing more

than a relic of the ancient procedure of
compurgation by oath;® perhaps it is a
mere excess generated by the emergent ad-
system  of

versary the Seventeenth

3. See Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. at 295
98, 93 S.Ct. 1038; United States v. Freeman,
302 F.2d 347, 350-52 (2d Cir. 1962), cert. de-
nied, 375 U.S. 958, 84 S.Ct. 448, 11 L.Ed.2d 316
(1963); Johnson v. Baltimore & O. R. Co., 208
F.2d 633 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 347 U.S. 943, 74
S.Ct. 639, 98 L.Ed. 1091 (1954); 3A Wigmore
on Evidence §§ 896-906 (Chadbourne ed.
1970); McCormick on Evidence § 38 (2d ed.
1972); Ladd, Some Observations on Credibility:
Impeachment of Witnesses, 52 Cornell L.Q.
239, 249-51 (1967); Ladd, Impeachment of
One’s Own Witness—New Developments, 4
U.Chi.L.Rev. 69 (1936).

F.REv. 607 provides: “The credibility of a
witness may be attacked by any party, includ-
ing the party calling him.

L g.. State v. Fronning, 186 Neb. 463,
laa “NWa 520 (1971); Note, Impeaching
One’s Own Witness in Nebraska, 51 Neb.L.Rev.
352 (1971).

In the early medieval period,

proof was not an attempt to convince the
judges; it was an appeal to the supernatural,
and very commonly a unilateral act. The
common modes of proof are oaths and or-
deals. It is adjudged, for example, in an
action for debt that the defendant do prove
his assertion that he owes nothing by his
own oath and the oaths of a certain number
of compurgators, or oath-helpers. The de-
fendant must then solemnly swear that he
owes nothing, and his oath-helpers must
swear that his oath is clean and unperjured.
If they safely get through this ceremony,
punctually repeating the right formula, there
is an end of the case; the plaintiff, if he is

Century.” In any event, few rules of the
common law appear to better justify
Holmes's acid aphorism,

It is revolting to have no better reason
for a rule of law than that so it was laid
down in the time of Henry IV. Tt is still
more revolting if the grounds upon which
it was laid down have vanished long
since, and the rule simply persists from
blind imitation of the past.

Oliver Wendell Holmes, Path of the Law, 10
Harv.LR. 457, 469 (1897).

The traditional justifications of the rule
against impeaching one’s own witness are
plainly bankrupt. No thoughtful jurist or
scholar will today defend the proposition
that a party is morally bound by the testi-
mony of his witnesses. And, since it is
universally accepted that a party must take
his witnesses where he finds them, it is

hardy enough to go on, can only do so by
bringing a new charge, a criminal charge of
perjury against them. They have not come
there to convince the court, they have not
come there to be examined and cross-exam
ined like modern witnesses, they have come
there to bring upon themselves the wrath of

God if what they say be not true.

F. Maitland, The Forms of Action at Common
Law 15 (1962). A party’s oath-helpers were
ordinarily his relatives and did in fact stand as
guarantors, if not of his veracity, at least of the
justice of his position. See 1 M. Bloch, Feudal
Society 124-25 (1961). If the poet of The Song
of Roland may be credited, a party’s guarantors
risked even more than their souls: the thirty
kinsmen who vouched for Ganelon, Roland’s
betrayer, were promptly hanged after his
champion was slain in a judicial duel. See The
Song of Roland (J. Bedier ed). “The Trial of
Ganelon”.

Compurgation by oath was viewed as unsat-
isfactory even in the time of the Year Books.
With the centralization of justice in the royal
courts, oath-helpers no longer faced the disci-
pline of having to live with their opponents—
and the parish priest—in a small community.
They, were increasingly hired oOff the streets,
and eventually from the ranks of court ushers.
See S.F.C. Milsom, Historical Foundations of
the Common Law 51 (1969). It is somewhat
bewildering to consider today a rule whose
historical predecessor seems to have been dis-
credited for almost 600 years.

7. See Ladd, Impeachment of One’s Own Wit-
ness—New Developments, 4 U.Chi.L.Rev. 60,
70-72 (1936).
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completely unrealistic to imagine him as the
guarantor of his witness’s veracity in every
respect. Indeed, the policy of the State of
New York, which permits impeachment by
a prior inconsistent statement provided the
declaration is written and subscribed, or
sworn to, is, in fact, inconsistent with the
general principle of “voucher”.

The true basis of the New York statute
appears to be a fear that, if a party were
permitted to impeach his own witness free-
ly with prior inconsistent statements, the
New York rule excluding such statements
as hearsay would be undermined® This
principle appears to establish some minimal
rational basis for the rule. But we must
note that here, as in Chambers, the hearsay
danger in permitting a witness to be ques-
tioned on the stand regarding his own prior
statement is minimal. Moreover, in many
cases it seems most arbitrary to make the
ability to impeach a witness on the basis of
a prior inconsistent statement depend on
the mere accident of who called the witness
to testify.? It is clear, therefore, that the
rule against impeaching one’s own witness
may, under some circumstances, be of so
little weight that a serious impairment of
the right to present a defense cannot be
justified.

C. Lipinski’s interest in a fair trial. We
cannot conclude, however, that the applica-
tion of the New York voucher rule in this
case seriously impaired Lipinski’s ability to
present an effective defense. Lipinski was
not placed in the dilemma so often engen-
dered by the rule, where helpful testimony
can be secured only by foregoing the very
threat of cross-examination that alone
guarantees the veracity of a hostile witness.
Even if Bendetson had testified in accord-
ance with his taped conversation, Lipinski
would have established only that Starrish
alone had seen the umbrella in Lipinski’s
shopping bag. But the state was quite
prepared to rely exclusively on Starrish’s
testimony. It is hardly unfair to discourage
8. See Schatz, Evidence—Impeachment of

One’s Own Witness: Present New York Law

and Proposed Changes, 27 Cornell LQ. 377,

385-86 (1942).

Lipinski from calling Bendetson for the sole
purpose of showing that Bendetson could
add nothing to what Starrish had said.

[3] This conclusion is strengthened by
the consideration that, under an aspect of
New York law not challenged here, an out-
of-court declaration introduced to impeach
a witness cannot be used as substantive
evidence. See N.Y.C.P.L. 60.35(2); Fitzgi
bons Boiler Co. v. National City Bank, 287
N.Y. 326, 39 N.E.2d 897, motion den., 287
N.Y. 843, 41 N.E.2d 169 (1942). According-
ly, even had Judge Cacace permitted Lipin-
ski to question Bendetson regarding the
taped conversation, the jury would probably
have been instructed that any inconsisten-
cies that might be revealed could be con-
sidered only to neutralize Bendetson’s testi-
mony, and not to raise doubts concerning
the veracity of Starrish. Of course, it is
possible that such instructions might have
made no impact on the jury. But Lipinski
can hardly complain that the application of
the voucher rule prevented him from cir-
cumventing a rule of evidence that not even
he has_challenged.

[4] Finally, we underscore that Lipinski
was amply warned that he would not be
permitted to impeach Bendetson and that
he was endangering his case by eliciting
testimony that confirmed Starrish’s story.
Lipinski chose to proceed despite the trial
judge's repeated cautioning. The fact that
Bendetson gave damaging testimony that
Lipinski could have kept from the jury en-
tirely had he heeded the judge’s warnings
does not constitute a denial of due process.

9. See Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. at 297
98, 93 S.Ct. 1038,
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Clydo BATES, petitioner, v. CALIFOR-
NIA. No. 1061, Mis

Bates, pro se.

Stanley Mosk, Atty. Gen. of California,
and Arlo E. Smith, Chief Asst. Atty.
Gen,, for respondent.

Petition for writ of certiorari to the
Supreme Court of (,1|v[uvn

Feb. 22, 1963. Denied.

==

Hasls Oame MARTIY, ,.mn.....‘.-, v. KEN-
. No. 743, Mi

Former decision, 83 S.Ct. 553.
Facts and opinion, Ky., 361 S.W.2d
&

Feb. 22, 1
denied

Petition for rehearing
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Former decision, 369 U.S. 846, 82 S.
Ct. 878,

Facts and opinion, 303 F.2d 899; 810
.24 445.

William Vanderereck, for petitioner.

Waggoner Carr, Atty. Gen. of Texas,
Sam R, Wilson, Asst.” Atty. Gen,, and
Henry Wade, for m,mmzm

Petition for writ e
Uiitadisiaies Goott ot ammaiaitos e
Fifth Circuit.

Feb. 18, 1963. Denied.

George W, SHELDON ot si/p Detitipnersy
v. Charles M. MERRILL, United States '
Circuit Judge for the Ninth Circuit, et "

al. No. 823, Mis PRV,

Hayden C. Covington, for petitioneré!1 &
Feb. 18, 1963, Motion for leave to file [

petition for writ of mandamus denied.s

ol

corgus!

= \on Fudal

| o2 vs. s

72 0. 203
oo TOWNSEND, Pettioner,

Frank G. suv ~hum of Cook

Reargued Oct. 8 and 9, 1962.
Decided March 18, 1963.

State prisoner’s habeas corpus pro-

eding. From an adverse judgment of
the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois, the peti-
tioner appealed. The Court of Appe
affirmed, 276 F.2d 324. The Supreme
Court granted certiorari, and, speaking
{hrou g Al Chet Justice Warren, held
that where it could not be ascertained by
the district e e
applied by the trial judge in admitting
a confession and in instructing jurors
that they could disregard the confession
if they believed defen
testified concerning a dr
swhere the trial court had made no express
findings and 1o implied findings could

e “** *pe reconstructed, and previous

corpus petitions had been denied with-
¢ out evidentiary hearings, an evidentiary
hearing was required in federal court.
“l 4 Reversed and remanded.
Stewart, Mr. Justice
M. ol
tice White, dissented.

1. Criminal Law S=736(2)

Under llinois law, admissibility of
confession is solely for judge, but ques-
tion of voluntariness may also be pre-
sented to jur
2. Criminal Law S=519(1), 520(1), 522

1f an individual's will was ove
borne or if his confession was not product
of rational intellect and free mn his
confession is inadmissible because
ed, and these standards are s e
whether confession was coerced by pl
ical intimidation_or psychologi

TOWNSEND v. SAIN 45
it as 89 8.0t 745 (1963)

sure, and are equally applicable to a
drug-induced statement.

3. Criminal Law S=519(1)
Whether scopolamine ces true
confessions or false cmvfl*“mn\. if it in
 caused person to make statements
which he made to police, statements were
constitutionally inadmissible.

4. Criminal Law €=519(1)
If drug had properties as a_truth
, it was not significant whether
dministered and questions
¢ persons unfamiliar with such
il the drug, and admissibility
confession rested on whether ques-
tmmng by police officers in fact produced
confession which was not product of free

intellect

5. Criminal Law €532

Trier of facts would be required to
consider, in determining whether injec-
tion of drug caused person to confess, all
relevant circumstances of case such as
person’s lack of counsel, drug addiction,
act that he was “near mental defective”,
and his youth and inexperience.

6. Habeas Corpus ©=51

Habeas corpus petition which alleged,
in effect, injection of drug having prop-
erties of truth serum, that police doctor
willfully suppressed information as to
qualities of drug and as to his intent to
induce physiological and psychological
state susceptible to interrogation result-
ing in confessions and that injection
caused confession alleged deprivation of
constitutional rights. 28 US.CA. §
224

. Habeas Corpus =90

“issues of fact” as used in re-
lation to power and duty of federal
judges to hold evidentiary hearings on
habeas corpus meant basic, primary or
historical facts; facts in sense of recital
of external events and credibility of their
narrators, and did not include mixed
questions of fact and law requiring ap-
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Plication of legal standard to itericat
Tact determinations

8. Habeas Corpus
Act emmlmu el e

writ to state prisoners was designed to
trial-t

pe

prisoners aggricved by

unconstitutional detentions. 28 U.S.C.A.
43

9. Habeas Corpus

Funetionf fedurss ey corpus is
to test by way of original civil proceed-
ing, independent of normal channels of
Teview of criminal judgments, the very

on proving that,
their demmou violates the fundamental
libes the person, safeguarded
against o action by federal Constitu-
tion. 28 US.C.A. § 2243
10. Habeas Corpus ¢=45.2(2)
Opportunity for redrems against de-
tention in violation of fundamental liber-
ties of person, safeguarded against state
action by federal Constitution, though
such opportunity presupposes nmvu!hx
ty to be heard, o argue and pres
dence, must never be totally Iowdnxrd
28 US.C.A. §§ 2243, 2254,
11 Habeas Corpus ©=90
Power of inquiry on federal habeas
corpus is plenary, and whe

e an o tacts o 28,015
§ 2248,
12. Habeas Corpus <90

Federal court on habeas corpus must
hold evidentiary hearing if applicant did
not receive full ind fair evidentiary hear-
ing in state court, either at time of t
or in collateral proceeding. 28 US.C.A.
§ 2243
13, Habeas Corpus <90

Federal court must grant eviden-
tiary hearing to habeas corpus applicant

372 US. 208

3 (1) merits of factual dispute were not
ed in state hearing; (2) -Ldv fac-
el fairly support
ed by record as a whle; (3) fact Snding
procedure in state court was not adequate
to afford full and fair hearing; (4) there
is substantial allegation of newly dis-
covered evidence; (5) material facts
were not adequately developed at
court hearing; or (6) for an;
appears that state trier of fa
afford  applican ull anddaie
ing. 28 US.C.A.§ 2
14. Habeas Corpus &=

£ no express findings 9. fact have
been made by state court, federal district
court on habeas corpus must initially
determine whether state court impliediy
found material facts; and no relevant
findings were made unless state court de-
cided on the merits the constitutional
claim tendered by defendant. 28 U.S.
15. Habeas Corpus =90

£ state court has decided merits of
habeas corpus claim but has made no
express findings, federal district court
may be able to reconstruct findings, but
if it cannot, district CEAAD
pelled to hold. hearing.
224
1. Hsbeas Corpus o=I811),

lear whether state finder

of facts Epphed comrct constiutional
standards in disposing of constitutional
claim, federal district court must sad
hearing, but district judge ordinarily
may properly assume, absent reason to
suspect that incorrect standard was in
fact applied, that correct standards of
federal law were applied to facts by state
trier of fact. 28 US.CA. § 224
17, Criminal Law c=022(3)

New. trial 3 el . criming]
case if trial judge or jury, in finding
facts, was guided by orroneeus standany
of law
18. Habeas Corpus

If statements of state trier of fact
do no more than create doubt as to wheth-

372 US. 293

TOWNSEND v. SAIN 7

Cite a1 558,01 T5 (1965)

ez cineect standa of l-\w was applied,
federal district n habeas corpus
i Hold Reasing i e
tional issue. 28 U.S.CA. § 2243,
LG CE
hird-degree methods necessarily

mmhuc coerced confession.
20. Habeas Corpus =90

£ federal court on habeas corpus
cannot exclude possibility that trial judge
believed facts which showed deprivation
of constitutional rights and yet conclud-
ed that relief should be denied, hearing
must be held. 28 US.CA. § 2243.

21. Habeas Corpus =90
Where fundamental liberties of per-
n are claimed to have been infringed,
federal courts carefully scrutinize state
court record, and duty of federal district
court on habeas corpus is no less exact-
ing. 28 US.C.A. § 2243.
22. Habeas Corpus =90
If state trial judge made serious
procedural errors respecting claim
ed in federal habeas corpus in such
things as burden of proof, federal hear-
ing is required. 28 US.CA. § 2243,

23. Habeas Corpus ¢=00

Even where procedure employed does
not violate Constitution, if it appears to
be seriously inadequate for ascertainment
of truth, it is federal judge’s duty on
habeas corpus to disregard state findings
and take evidence anew. 28 US.CA. §
2243,

24. Habeas Corpus S=30(1)
There are procedural errors so grave
as to require appropriate federal court
order directing habeas corpus applicant’s
release unless state grants new  trial
forthwith, 28 US.CA. § 2243.
25. Habeas Corpus =90
Where newly discovered evidence is
alleged in habeas corpus application, evi-

federal court must grant evidentiary
hearing, providing such evidence bears

on constitutionality of applicant's deten-
tion. 28 US.CA.
#6. Maboas Corpus €=281(1)
istence merely of newly discover-
o e T bl gt st et
oner is not ground for relief on federa
habeas corpus. 28 U.S.C.A. § 224
27. Habeas Corpus €90
District judge is under no obliga-
tion to grant hearing in habeas corpus
upon frivolous or incredible allegation of
newly discovered evidence. 28 US.C.A
243,
28. Habeas Corpus &=90
, for any reason not attributable to
inexcusable neglect of habeas corpus pe-
titioner, evidence crucial to adequate con-
sideration of constitutional claim was not.
developed at state hearing, federal hear-
ing is compelled. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2243.
29. Habeas Corpus =90
Duty of federal court on habeas cor-
pus to try facts anew e

28 USCA. §

0. Habeas Corpu
PSS k] noMmg el enden—

with district judge where material f:
are in dispute, and if he concludes that
applicant was afforded full and fair hear-

but need not, accept facts as found. 28
JS.CA. § 2243.
31, Habeas Corpus =90
rery case on habeas corpus, fed-
ml district court has power, constrained
TR B ol
e evidence bearing on nnpllcan!’s con-
itutional caim. %8 USCA, § 2243

32. Habeas Corpus €90

District judge on habeas corpus may.
not defer to state court’s findings of law
but must apply applicable federal law to
state court fact findings independently.
28 US.C.A. § 2248,
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35. Habeas Corpus =850 (2)
Federal District Court sitting in
habeas corpus has power to compel pro-
e state-court, recor
§§ 2245, 2247, 2249,
34, Habeas Corpus G=00
£ because no record can be obtained
the disrict judge on habess corpus has
determining whether full and
which resulted in findings
of relevant fact was vouchsafed, he must.
hold one. 28 US.C.A, §§ 2213, 2245,
2247, 2249,
35. Habeas Corpus ©=00

On habeas corpus, district court’s in-
quiry was not properly limited to study
of undisputed portions of the record. 28
USCA. § 2243.

36, Habeas Corpus G=00

Where it could not be ascertained by
federal district court on habeas corpus
what standard had been applied by trial
judge in admitting confession and in in-
structing jurors that they could disre-
gard confession if they believed defend-
ant's expert who testified concerning
drug injection, and where trial court had
made no express findings and no implied
findings could be reconstructed, and pre-
vious habeas corpus petitions had been
denied without evidentiary hearings,
dentiary hearing was i o
court. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2
37, Habeas Corpus =90

Failure of medical expert in murder
prosecution to testify fully as to nature
of drug as truth serum could not realis-
tically be regarded as inexcusable default
of defendant whose confession given aft-
er drug injection was admitted in evi-
dence, and in absence of such testimony.
there was not fair, rounded development,
of facts during trial, and evidentiary
hearing on federal habeas corpus was
necessary. 28 US.C.A. § 2243.

38. Habeas Corpus ¢=85.3(1, 2)

Where evidentiary hearing is re-
quired on federal habeas corpus because
of unresolved factual dispute, state-court
record of eriminal prosecution is o
tent evidence, and either par

rely colelv uno:

872 US. 293

opportunity to present other testimoniz
nd documentary_evidence relevant. to
disputed issues. 28 US.C.A. § 2213.

George N. Leighton, Chicago, Tll, for
petitioner.

Edward J. Hladis, Chicago, TlL, for re-
spondent.

Mr. Chief Justice WARREN delivered
the opinion of the Court.

[1] This case, in its present posture
raising questions as to the right to a
plenary hearing in federal habeas corpus,

m once again after a tangle of
prior proceedings. In 1955 the petitioner,

harles Townsend, was tried before ‘a
jury for murder in the Criminal Court of
Cook County, Tllinois. At his trial pe-
titioner, through his court-appointed

counsel, the public defender, objected to
he

introduction of his confession on
the ground that it was the product of
coercion. A hearing was held outside the
presence of the jury, and the trial judge
denied the motion to suppress. He later
admitted the confession into evidence.
Further evidence relating to the issue
of Yolintaciness was Infroduced befors
he jury. The charge permitted them
. disregard the confession if they found
that it was involuntary. Under Illinois
law the admissibility of the confession
is determined solely by the trial judge,
but the question of voluntariness, be-
@ it bears on the issue of credibi ty,
may also he =i,
e. 2., Peoj

found petit
death penalty to its verdict.
preme Court of Tllinois affirmed the con-
viction, two justices dissenti
Townsend, 11 TIl2d 30,
729, 69 A.L.R.2d 371.
a writ of certiorari. 355 U.S. 850, 78 S.
Ct. 76, 2 L.EA.2d 60.
Petitioner next sought post-convietion
llatoral o s P
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dismissed his petition without holding an
evidentiary hearing.  The Supreme
Court of linois by order affirmed, hold-
ing that the issue of coercion was 7es
judicata, and this Court again denied
certiorari. 358 U.S. 887, 79 S.Ct. 128, 3

.Ed2d 115. The issue of coercion

vas pressed at all stages of these pro-
ceedings.

Having thoroughly exhausted his state
remedies, Townsend petitioned for habeas
corpus in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Tlli-
nois. That court, considering only the
pleadings filed in the course of that pro-
ceeding and the opinion of the Illinois
Supreme Court rendered on direct ap-
veal, denied the writ. The Court of Ap-
peals for the Seventh Circuit dismissed
an appeal. 265 F.2d 660. However, this
Court granted a petition for certiorari,
vacated the judgment and remanded for
a_decision as to whether, in the light
of the

207
state-court record, a plenary hear-

655, 3 LEd.2d 634.
on «he remand, the District Court held
and dismissed the petition,
ﬁndlmz ot it kit wold ot s
served by ordering a full hearing or by
awarding any or all of [the] relief sought
by Petitioner.” The judge stated that
he was satisfied from the state-court rec-
ords before him that the decision of thy
state courts holding the challenged con-
fession o have been freely and volun-
tarily given by petitioner was correct,
and that there had been no denial of fed-
eral due process of On appeal the
Court of Appeals concluded that “[o]n
habeas corpus, the district court’s in-
quiry is limited to a study of the undis-
puted portions of the record” and that
the undisputed portions of this record
showed no deprivation of constitutional
rights. 276 F.2d 324, 329. We granted
certiorari to determine whether the
courts below had correctly determined
and applied the stand: governing
hearings in federal habeas corpus,
1SRG RIS CH 907 5 T.Fd 24 850

The case was first argued during the Oc-
tober Term 1961. Two of the Justices
were unable to participate in a decision,
and we subsequently ordered it reargued.
USS. 834, 82 S.Ct. 864, 7 L.Ed.2d 841,

now have it before us for decision
The undisputed evidence adduced at
the trial-court. hearing on the motion to
suppress showed the following. Peti-
tioner was arrested by Chicago police
shortly before or after 2 a.m. on New
They had received in-
formation from one Campbell, then in

their custody for robbery

murder of Jack Boone, a Chicago steel-
worker and the victim in

tice to take injections three to five hours
apart. At about 2:30 a. m.
208

petitioner was
taken to the second district police sta-
cmn AsiCaboriiy\ithe s A\ rad
tioned for a period variously fixed
E e e e
period, he denied committing any crimes.
Thereafter at about 5 a. m. he was taken
to the 19th district station where he re-
mained, without being questioned, until
about 8:15 p.m. that evening. At that
time he was returned to the second dis-
triet station and placed in a line-up with
crli e IR D el
viewed by one Anagnost, the vietim of
i fAus poseelident

tified another man, rather than petition-
er, as his assailant, a scuffle ensued, the
details of which were disputed by pe-
tioner a; Following this
incident petitioner was again subjected
to questioning. He was interrogated
re or less regularly from about 8:45
until 9:30 by police officers. At that time
an Assistant State’s Attorney arrived
Some time shortly before or after nine
o'clock, but before the arrival of the
State's_attornev_ netitioner_comniained
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mptoms,  that
e o, o o vas
need of a dose of narcoties. Petitioner
clutchad ‘convalaively ¢ s stomueh
. Caney, aware tha
bt R
Phoned for a polce physician. Thero
sas some_dispute between him and the
States' Attorney, both prosseution
nesses, as to whether the questioni
contimued until the doctor arrived.  Cug.
ney festified that it did and the State's
Attomey to the contrary. In any event,
after the withdrawal symptoms com.
menced it appears that petitioner was un-
© o, dustioning. The doctor
¢ the presence of
he gave Tov\mcnd a com-
e by injection of Y-grain of
Shenobarbital and 1/230.grain of hyo.
scine. Hyoscine is the same as scopola-
mine and is claimed by petitioner in this
proceeding to have the properties of a
“truth serum

200

7 doctor also left
petitioner four or five ¥-grain tablets
of phenobarbital.

e remainder the following day.
doctor testified that these medications

As to events succceding this point i
time on January 1, the testimony of the
prosccution. witnesses and of the petl.
tioner irreconcilably conflicts o

for the purposes of this proceeding both
sides agree that the following occurred
After the doctor left, Offcer Fitzgerald
and the Assistant State's Attorney joined
Offcer Cagney in the room with the pe-
titioner, where he was questioned for
about 25 minutes. They all then went. fo

372 US. 208

another room; a court reporter there
took down petitioner’s statements. The
State’s Attorney turned the questioning
to the Boone case about 11:15. In less
than nine minutes a full confession was.
ranscribed. - At about 1145 the ques-
tioning s (ermimncd, and poitiong
was returned to his cell
‘The following day, Saturday, January
2, at about 1 p. m. petitioner was taken
to the offce of the prosccutor where the
ant State's Attorney. read, and pe-
nmmm signed, transcriptions of the
statements which he had made the n
fore. When Townsend aa
enced discomfort on Sunda;
s summoned. He“gave petition-
Yi-grain tablets of phenobarBi-

Be was calld o the witnes. atand 'y
the State and, atten being advised of
his right not to testify, again confessed.
At the time of the inquest petitioner was
without counsel.  The public defender

ppointed to r zogent mm until
hisrraiget ot January

Pelitioner testified at the motion o
suppress to the following version of his
detmotion: 6 was ally questioned
at the second district palice station for
a period in excess of two hours. Upon
his return from the 19th district and
after Anagnost, the robbery victim who
had viewed the line-up, had identified an-
other person as the assailant, Officer Cag-
ney accompanied Anagnost, into the hall
and told him that he had identified the
wrong person. Another officer then en-
tered the room, hit the pettioner in the
stomach and stated that petitioner s
L e ey io
er fell to the floor and vomited water
and a little blood. Officer Cagney spoke
to Townsend 5 or 10 minutes later,

ey of-

loctor if petitioner

“cooperate” and tell the truth

sbout, the Boone murder. Five minutes
Jater the officer had_changed his tac

872 US. 502
Citeas s S.CE
old petitioner that he thought him
innocent and that he would call the
d implying that the doctor would

him a narcotic. The doctor gave

ot
petitioner an injection in the arm and

five pills. Townsend took three of
these immediately. Although he felt
hmu, he felt dizzy and sleepy and his
tance vision was impaired. Anagnost
was then brought into the room, and pe-
titioner was asked by someone to tell

Anagnost that he had robbed him. Pt
titioner then admitted the robbery, and
the next thing he knew was that he was
sitting at a desk. He fell asleep but was
awakened and handed a pen; he signed
his name believing that he was going to
be released on bond. Townsend was tak-
en to his cell but was later taken back to
the room in which he had been before.
He could see “a Iot of lights flickering,”
and someone told him to hold his head up.
This went on for a minute or so, and
petitioner was then again taken back to
his cell. The next morning petitioner’s
head was much clearer, although he could
not. really remember what had occurred
following the injection on the previ:
An officer then told peti-

a number of robberies and murders.
believe I said yes to all of them.”
could not hear very well and felt sleepy.
That afternoon, after he had taken the
remainder of the phenobarbital pills,
was taken to the office of the State's At~
torney. Half asleep he signed another
paper although not aware of its contents.
The doctor gave him six or seven pills
of a different color on Sunday evening.

o took some of these immediately.
They kept him awake all night. The
Sollowing Monday morning he took more
of these pills. Later that day he was
taken to a coroner’s inquest. He tes-
tified at the inquest because the officers
had told him to do so.

Essentially the prosecution witnesses
contradicted all of the above. They tes.

4o bt hoon anostioned
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initially for only one-half hour, that he
had seuffied with the man identified by
Anagnost, and not an officer, and that he
had not vomited. The officers and the
Assistant State’s Attorney also testified
that petitioner had appeared to be awake
and coherent, throughout the evening of
the 1st of January and at all relevant
times thereafter, and that he had not
taken the pills given to him by the doctor
on the evening of the 1st. They stated
that the petitioner had appeared to fol-
low the statement which he signed and
which was read to him at the State’s At-
torney's office. Finally they denied that

been told to testify at the coroner’s in-
quest. As stated above counsel was not
provided for him at this inquest.

here was considerable testimony at

probable effects
barbital. Dr. Mansfield, who had pre-
seribed for

02

titioner on the evening

when he had first confessed, testified for

the prosecution. He stated that a full

therapeutic dose of hyoscine was 1/100

of&gnln lhath e gave Townsend 1/230

ofa hat “phencbarbital * * *

e \ery Wcﬂ combined with [hyoscine
when] you want to quiet” a

I “pac-

use “it has an effect on the

3 but that the dosage administer-

Would not cause amnesia or impairment
of eyesight or of mental condition. The
doctor denied that he had administered
@ rum”  However, he did
not disclose that hyoscine is the same as
scopolamine or that the latter is familiar-
Iy known as “truth serum.” Petitioner's
expert was a doctor of physiology, phar-
macology and toxicology. He was for-
merly the senior toxicological chemist of
Cooke County and at the time of trial was
ap r of pharmacology, chemother-
apy a7 s oA Ul
sity School of Medicine. He testified to

the effect of the injection upon a hypo-
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thetical subject, obviously the petitioner.
The expert stated that the effect of the
prescribed dosae of hyoscine upon the
ssumed to be a narcotic
swould bo of such & nature that it umld
range between absolute sleep

and arowsinets, 13 one extreme,
other extreme * ¥+ would fneorso
rate wmplctr d.wn.-nuu.u

tion And, assu

subject took Yi-grain phcnnlmrluml by

injection and 4-grain orally at the same
time, the expert stated that the dep)
sive effect would be accentu: T
expert tcsufed that the subject would
suffer. total amnesia for five to
ikt bours .md loss of mear vision for
four to six hou

The trial Judrm summarily denied the
motion to suppress and later admitted
the court reporter’s transcription of the
confession into evidence. He made no
findings of fact and wrote no_opinion
stating the grounds of his decision

Thereatter, for the purpose of testing
the credibility of the confession, the evi-
s relatmg to coercion was placed be-
fore the jury. At that time additional
noteworthy testimony was elicited. The
identity of hyoscine and scopolamine was
established (but no mention of the drug’s
properties as a “truth serum” was made).
An expert witness called by the prosecu-
tion testified that Townsend had such a
low intelligence that he was a near mental
defective and “just a little above moron.”

Townsend testified that the officers had
slapped him on several occasions and had
threatened to shoot him. Finally, Officer
Corcoran testified that about 9 p. m., Fri-
day evening, before the doctor’s arrival,
Townsend had confessed to the Boone as-
sault and robbery in response to a ques-

1. Tho final defense witness who testifiel
the moion o mpprent van excused. The
n transpired
e
That's all we b
“The Cour
hearing?.
“Mr. Branion: Defense rests.

i
The de:
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tion propoundsd by Officer Cagney in the
presence o s Fitzgeraid, Martin
and himself. R
Cagn in had ttined saten
sively at the motion to suppre

had mentioned any such confession. Fur-
thermore, both Townsend and Officer
Fitzgerald at the motion to suppress had
flatly said that no statement had been
made before the doctor Al
though the other three officers testified
at the trial, not one of them was asked
to corraborate. this phase of Corcoran’s
testimony

08 :

1t was established that the hbmicide
occurred at about 6 p. m. o December 18,
1 evidence

whi with the
crime, other than his confession, was
the testimony of Campbell, then on pro-
bation for robbery, and of the pathologist
who performed the autopsy on Boone.
Campbell testified that about the “mid-
dle” of December at about 8:30 p.m. he
had seen Townsend walking down a
street in the vicinity of the murder with
a brick in his hand. He was unable to
fix the exact date, did not know of the
Boone murder at the time and, so far as
his testimony revealed, had no reason to
suspect that Townsend had done anything
unlawful previous to their meeting.

The m(ho!nxnt testified that death
was caused by a “severe blow to the top
of his [Boone's] head Con:
trary to the statement in the opinion G
th Tilinofs Supreme Court on direct ap-
peal there no testimony that the
Pends were “located in such a manner
as to have been inflicted by a blow with
a house brick * 11 T1L.2d at 45,
141 N.E2d at 787. In any event, that
court characterized the evidence as mea-

o Conrt: Anyting furthe rom the

Goner: The Stte ets for
.
e
s and admit th
will_pro-
“preseatation of the evidence

372 U.S. 508

Citoas 808
gre and noted that “it was brought out
cross-examination that Campbell had
1 the defendant to obtain his
from custody.” 11 111.2d at
44, 45, 141 N.E2d at 737. Prior to pe-
titioner's trial Campbell was placed on
probation for robbery. Justice Schaefer,
joined by Chief Justice Klingb
dissent, found Campbell's testimony “in-
ntly incredible.” 11 T1l2d at 49, 141

9,

N.E2d at 7

The theory of petitioner’s application
IS did not rest upon alle-
gations of ical coercion. Rather,

it relied upon e hitherte Ll
timony and alleged: (1) that petitioner
vomited water and blood at the police sta-
tion when he became ill from the with-
drawal of narcotics; that scopola-
mine is a “truth serum” and that this
fact was not brought out at the motion
to suppress

205
at the trial; (3) that

scopolamine s e ot ey
with Phenobar] is not the proper
i hiior o & areotich aadict [and
that] * * * [tJhe effect of the intra-
venous njection ur hyoscine and pheno-
barbital produce a phys-
elogieal s peyehological Bondition ads
versely affecting the mind and will * *
[and] & psychic effect which removes the
subject thus injected from the scope of
reality; so that the person so treated is
removed from contact with his environ-
ment, he is not able to see and feel prop-
erly, he loses proper use of his eye-sight,
his hearing and his sense of perception
s ability to withstand interroga-
tion”; (4) that the police doctor will-
fully suppressed this information and in
formation of the identity of hyoscine and
scopolamine, of his knowledge of these
things, and of his intention to inject the
hyoscine for the purpose of producing
in Tows mend “a phy swlvmml and psycho-

and

g g f e
srmxahun rnwltmg ing n-
fessions. ”; (5) that the injec-

tion caused Townsend to confess; (6)
that on the evening of January 1
Aiately after the injection of scopolamine,

745 (106)

‘petitioner cnnle«ed to three murders
and one robbery
e o ok
Although there was some mention of
other. Lml(e\\um‘ at the trial, only the
confl o the Anagnost Tobbery was
stified to

nswer, respondents
ed: “Respondents admit the factual
Mh‘u!lmuu of the petition well pleaded,
but deny that Petitioner is held in cus-
tody by Respondents in violation of the
constitution ar laws of the United States
* & %" However, in the course of the
first argument before the District Court,
it appeared that respondents admitted
nothing alleged in the petition but merely
took the position that the petition, on its.
face, was insufficient to entitle Townsend
cither to a hearing or to his release. In
the course of the second argument after
the remand by this Court, respondents
admitted

08
that “if the allegations of the
petition are taken as true, then the peti-
tioner is entitled to the reliet he seeks
7 and that Townsend had con-
et i g lose g ipepatics Hha
jection of hyoscine. But respondents de-
UK koot Coerigan adversely in-
fiuenced by its [the hyoscines] admin-
mmmn %o the extent that his confes-
as obtained involuntarily” ; that
“Hyoscine is the truth serum”; that “the
police surgeon or the prosecution con-
cealed pertinent, material and relevant
facts”; or that hyoscine was an improper
‘medication under the circumstances. De-
spite respondents’ concession that a dis-
pute as to these facts existed, the district
judge denied Townsend the opportunity
1o call witnesses or to produce other evi-
dence o aupport of his allegations and
ismiss the petition,

Before we granted the most recent

sponse directed to certain of the allega-
tions of the petition for habeas corpus.
Respondents submitted an “additional
answer to petition for habeas corpus” in
which they again admitted that Town-




send had made confessions immediately
after the injection of droge Specifieally
they admitted that petitioner confessed
to the robberies of Anagnost and one
Joseph Martin and to the murders of
Boone, Thomas Johnson, Johnny Stin

and Willis Thompson. The additional
answer revealed the following add lom!
information respecting Townsend
fessions to these crimes, Anagnost had
identified another person, rather than
petitioner, as his assailant. Thomas
Jnhumn before his death, had stated that
his injury hud been an accident. The As-
sistant State's Attorney did riot even
bother to transribe Townsend’s state-
ment with respect to Thompson’s murder
“because the defendant could not recall
the details of the assault which led to the
death * * *” At the Thompson cor-
oner's inquest, when

the deputy coroner

noted that Townsend was then unable to
remember even that he had committed the
crime, Officer Cagney complained: “Why
shouldn't we be given credit for these
Clean-ups.” Despite these circumstances
which made conviction for the Anagnost
robbery and the Johnson and Thompson

at best, a remote possibility,
petitioner was indicted for all of the
crimes to which he had confessed. How-
ever, after a jury trial, he was acquitted
of the murder of Johnny Stinson, and on
the very day that he was sentenced to
death for the Boone murder,
tion of the prosecutor, the i
son and for the robberies of Anagnost
and Martin were dismissed.

5 Fate, 301 US. 433, 440,81 5.0t
" i 3o 6

8. Binckoen v, Alabama, 501 US. 19, 205,
S.Ct 274, 250, 4 LE12d 242,

4. OF course, there are many. relevant cir-

south and inexperience.

Although the petition for habeas cor-
pus contains allegations which would con-
stitute a claim that the police doctor, at.
the trial, had perjured himself, the heart
of Townsend's claim is that his confes-
sion was inadmissible simply because it

ed by the injection of hyoscine.
Ve i e ne whether peti-
tioner's allegations, if proved, would es-
tablish the right to his release.

I

[2-5]  Numerous decisions of thi
Court have established the standards
governing the admissibility_of confes-
sions into evidence. If an individual's
“will was overborne” ® or-if his confes-
sion was not “the product of a rational
intellect and a free will,” 3 his confession
is inadmissible because coerced. These
standards are applicable whether a con-
ession is the product of physical intim-
idation or psychological pressure and, of
course, are equally applicable to a drug-
induced statement. It is difficult to im-
agine a situation in which a confession
‘would be less the product of a free intel-
Ject;less voluntary, than wheh brought

about by a drug having the effect of @
It is not significant

that the drug may have been administer-
ed and the questions asked by persons un-
i yoscine's prnpcnim asa

by police s \\hmh
Bt e s o tenion
not the product of a free intellect ren-
ders that confession inadmissibles The

5. Reapondents do not dinpate his. Tn fact
ot the time o the secom argument bore
m. Distrce Court reamondents ot

it was & facke—toiput 1 vesy Dty

2 w0 xil vy FhEE
it bérum was admmistored
AEAEOS a
vo an involuntary

ich his conviction was

¢ leat genraly socomnised tne
iont doses of
wil,

Clte as 8 5.CX. 745 (196
sion of the ultimate constitutional ques-
tior

Court has usually %0 stated the test.
Stroble v. California, 343 U.

“If the e “which pei
er made * was in fact invol-
untary,  the iy cohisl g

* %7 And in Blackburn v. Alabama,
361U.S. 199, 80 S.CL. 274, 4 L.Ed.2d 242,
‘we held irrelevant the absence of evidence
of improper purpose on the part of the
questioning officers. There the evidence
indicated that the interrogating officers
thought the defendant sane when he con-
fessed, but we judged the confession in-
admissible because the probability was
that the defendant was in fact insane at
the t

[6] Thus we conclude that the peti-

on for haeas corpus alleged a depriva-
tion of constitutional rights. The re-
maining _question before us the
whether the District Court was required
fo hold a hearing to ascertain the facts
which are a necessary predicate to a deci-

the Unted States @54 o 1050)
Dersons are excessively \uwr\rlwl)!c

mm.w e
arked disturhances
inging. (550" SBpTie o
active deliriom
ltemure on,the miblet ,.M
nated wéopolamine “truth it
thought

o true confeasiona: On e contraty 1t

tanatel, porsons nder the in

sou?, a sug-
onible supect might sy give o ulne
affr v MacDonald, Trath
Serum, 40 J.Crim.L. 25,

[7] The problem of the power and
duty of federal judges, on habeas G
to hold evidentiary hearings—that
try issues of fact 8 anew—is a recurring
one. The Court last dealt at length with
it in Brown v. Allen, 344 U.S. 443, 73 §
Ct. 397, 97 L.Ed. 469, in opinions by Jus-
tices Reed and Frankfurter, both speak-
ing for a majority of the Court. Since
hen,

we have but touched upon it.1 We
granted certiorari in the 1959 Term to
consider the question, but ultimately dis-
posed of the case on a more immediate
ground. Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U.S.
534, 540, 81 S.Ct. 735, 739, 5 L.Ed.2 760.
It has become apparent that the opinions
in Brown v. Allen, supra, do not provide
answers for all aspects of the hearing
problem for the lower federa
which have reached widely divergent,
fact often irreconcilable, results® We

eal properties of scopolamine or the likely

M Tandmissible.
6. By temon o taet we men to rfe ¢
termed b,
facts

o 0, 73 5
B it (nmmvn of Mr.
ter)

;u.w; rmm.uf

2 LR
20 1301 (denial of cortiorai with accom-
ing statoment) ;
Siakiced

4, 70 8.C. 655,
Ed20 634 (per curiam) (va

Uritel Sates ex rel. Tlery
20 A3d

Solete v. People, 354 D24 421 (Coa s




mean {o express no opinion on the cor.
rectness of particular decisions. But w
think that it is appropriate at this time
to ulmome the considerations which
ught p 2o

I

[8] The broad considerations bearing

upon the proper_interpretation of the

power of the federal courts on habeas

corpus are reviewed at length_in the
Court’s opinion in Fay
au

, 372 US.
301,83 5.0t 822, and e repeat-
d here. We pointed out there that the
oric coneeption of the writ, anchored
in the ancient common Jaw and in our
Constitution as an effcacious and impera-
tive remedy for delentlom of fundamen-
tal illegality, has constant, to
the present day. W pointeq out.
that the Act of February 5, 1867, c. 25,
§ 1, 14 Stat. 385-386, which in extending
the federal writ to state prisoners de-
scribed the power of the federal courts
o take testimony and determine the facts
de 00 in the largest terms, restated
Wwhat apparently was the common-law un-
derstanding. Fay v. Noia, 372 U.S,
416, 83 S.CL, p. 837, n. 27. The hearing
provisions of the 1867 Act remain sub-
stantially unchanged in the present codi-
fication. 28 U.S.C. § 2243. In constru-
ing the mandate of Congress, so plainly
designed to afford a trial-type proceed-
ing in federal court for state prisoners
aggrieved by unconstitutional detentions,
this Court has consistently upheld the
vower of the federal courts on habeas
corpus to take evidence relevant to claims
of such detention. “Since Frank v,

e ol ms, S (a3
A 0. Chaved v Dickion,
(©CAD Ciny Gov v G
Gy ;'

M:mxum 237 U.S. 309, 331, 35 S.Ct. 5¢
588, 59 LEd. 969, this Court has reco
Sl ol pus in the fede
courts by one convicted of a criminal of-
fense is a proper procedure ‘to safeguard
the liberty of all persons within the ju-
risdiction of the United States against
infringement through any violation of
the Constitution,’ even though the events
which were alleged to infringe did not
appear upon the face of the record of his
conviction.” Hawk v. Olson, 326 U.S.
271, 274, 66 S.Ct. 116, 118, 90 T.Ed. 61.
Brown v. Allen d numerous other cases
have recoymmd this.
[9-11]  The rule could not be other-
The whole history of the writ—its
unique development—refutes a construe-

tion of the federal Sourts’ habess corpus ¢

powers that would assimilate their task
to that of courts of appellte reviny The
function on habeas is different. It is to
test by way of an original civil proceed-
ing, independent of the normal

channels
of review of criminal judgments, the very
sravest allegations. *State prisoners are
entitled to relief on federal
s G R YA ot L s,
tion violates the fundamenta liberties of
et siae 1c
tion by the Federal Constiatie Simply
because detention so obtained is intoler-
able, the opportunity for redress, which
presupposes the opportunity to be heard,
to argue and present evidence, i e
er be totally foreclosed. Se v.
Mangum, 257 U.S. 309, 545550, 83 8.0t
82, 594-596, 59 L.Ed. 969 (dissenting
opinion of Mr. Justice Holmes). It is the
typical, not the rare, case in which con-
stitutional claims turn upon the resolu-
tion of contested factual issues. Thus a

oy Somlen, 20 F20
¢ United S
do, 210 1.2 743 (0D
o Note Habeds Corpus; De-
Al

An Interplay of Ap-
pellato Ambiuity and District Gonrt i
eretion, 68 Ya

Clte as 83 5.0t 745 (106)

Barrow view of the hearing power would
ally subvert Congress’ specific aim in
passing the Act of February 5, 1867, of
affording state prisoners a forum in the
federal trial courts for the determination
of claims of detention in violation of the
Constitution. The language of Congress,
the history of the writ, the decisions of
this Court, all make clear that the power.
of inquiry on federal habeas corpus is
plenar herefore, where an applic
for a writ nf m corpus alleges*facts
ch, if proved, would entitle him to ro.
it shtederd Noteitss which the ap-
plication is made has the power to receive
evidence and try the facts anew.
it 8
[12] We turn now to the considera-
which in certain cases may make
exercise of that power mandatory.
standard—which must be

s
are in dhpubr e federal court in
| habeas corpus must hold an evidentia
| hearing if the habeas applicant did mes
receive a full and fair evidentiary hear-
ate court, either at the time
or in a collateral proceeding.
In other words a federal evidentiary hear-
ing is required
a8
nless the state-court
trier of fact has after a ful hearing re-
liably found the relevant facts

[13] Tt would be unwise to overly par-
ticularize this test. The federal district
Judges are more intimately familiar with
state criminal justice, and with the trial
of fact, than are we, and to their sound
discretion must be left in very large part
the administration of federal habeas cor-
pus. But_ experience proves that a too.

9. In announcing this test we do not mean
o Jmply tha tho stae couts are. e
auired to hold heas 1 make findings
Which satity his standord, becaums syin
hearings are governed to a large extont
by state Jaw.

The existonco of the exhustion of
State remelica requirement (annownced

%7

general standard—the “exceptional cir-
cumstances” and “vital flaw” tests of the
opinions in Brown v. Allen—does not
serve adequately to explain the control-
ling criteria for the guidance of the fed-
eral habeas corpus courts. Some par-
ticularization may therefore be useful.
We hold that a federal court must grant.
an evidentiary hearing to a habeas ap-
plicant under the following ~circum:
stances: If (1) the merits of the factual
dispute were not resolved in the state
hearing;  (2) the state factual deter-
mination is not fairly supported by the
record as a whole; (3) the fact-finding
procedure employed by the state court
was not adequate to afford a full and
fair hearing; (4) there is a substantial
allegation of newly discovered evidence;
(5) the material facts were not ade-
quately developed at the state-court hear-
ing; or (6) for any reason it appears
that the state trier of fact did not afford
the )nh.-... applicant a full and fair fact
hearin;

[14] (1) There cannot even be the|
semblance of a full and fair hearing un-
less the state court dctually reached and

decided the fssues ‘of fact tendered by
the defendant. Thus, if no express find-
ings of fact have been made by the state
court, the District Court must initially
determine whether the state court has
impliedly found material facts,

state court decided the conshtulinmﬂ
claim tendered by the defendant on the

ing but without opinion, it is often like-
ly that the decision is based upon a pro-
cedural issue—that the claim is not col-
Iaterally cognizable—and not on the mer-
In B parts Roal, 117 U5,

4

by
! sapmori s ths

i f aid to the foderal court
sitting in habeas corpus.




0n the other hand, if cm- L
ing occurred in the
e S S
to suppress allegedly unlawful evidence,
s in the instant case—it will usually
be proper to assume that the claim was
rejected on the merits.

[15] Tf the state court has decided
the merits of the claim but has made no
express findings, it may still be possible
for the District Court to reconstruct the
findings of the state trier of fact, either
because his view of the ficts is plain from
his opinion or because of ofher indicia.
In some cases this will be impossible, and
the Federal District Court will be com-
pelled to hold a hearing.

[16-19] Reconstruction is mot pos-
sible if it is unclear whether the state
finder applied correct constitutional

standards in disposing of the claim. Un-
der such circumstances the District Court
cannot ascertain whether the state court
found the law or the facts adversely to the
petitioner’s contentions. Since the deci-
sion of the state trier of fact may rest up-
on an error of law rather than an adverse
determination of the facts, a hearing is
compelled to- ascertain the facts. -~ Of
course, the possibility of legal error may
be eliminated in many situations if the
fact finder has articulated the constitu-
tional standards which he has applied.
Furthermore, the coequal responsibilities

* of state and federal judges in the admin-
stration of federal

a1

constitutional law are

such that we think the district judge may,

in the ordinary case in which there has
been no articulation, properly assume
that the state trier of fact applied cor-
rect standards of federal law to the facts,

is reason to suspect that an incorrect

I
tions in which statements of the trier

standard was in fact applied1® Thus, if
third-degree methods of obtaining a con-
fession are alleged and the state court
refused to exclude the confession from
evidence, the dis
that the st:
against the petitioner,
course, that_third-de

ly produce a coerced confession

[20] In any event, even if it is clear
that the state trier of fact utilized the
proper standard, a hearing is sometimes
required if his decision presents a situa
-called facts and
gnificance [are] so
blended that they cannot b severed in
consideration.” Rogers v. Richmond, su-
pra, 365 U.S. at 546, 81 S.Ct. at 742
Sce Frand v Mangun, wupra, 257, U8
at 347, 35 S.Ct. a imes, J., dis-
Gt Wi e i judge can
be reasonably certain that the state trier|
would have granted relief if he had be-
lieved petitioner’s allegations, he cannot|
be sure that the state trier in denying
relief disbelieved these allegations. I
any_combination of the facts alleged
would prove a violation of constitutional
rights and the issue of law on those facts
presents a difficult or novel problem for
decision, any hypothesis as to the relevant
factual determinations of the state trier
involves the purest speculation. The fed-
eral

ae

court cannot exclude the possibility

that the trial judge believed facts which

showed a_deprivation of constitutional

rights and yet (erroneously) concluded

that relief should be denied. Under these

ances it is impossible for the

Federal court to reconstruct the facts, and
a hearing must be held.

[21] (2) This Court has consistently
Teld that state factual determinations not
fairly supported by the record cannot be

o fat will do on more than creato doubt

as to whether the correct standard has
E ol et o
trict Court Hiearing to dotermine the con-
stitutional fssue will be necessary.

\
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conclusive of federal rights. Fiske v.
Kansas, 274 U.S. 380, 385, 47 S.Ct. 655,
656, 71 L.Ed. 1108; Blackburn v. Ala-
ma, 361 U.S 208-209, 80 S.Ct.
274, 281, 4 LEA2d 242. Where the fun-
damental liberties of the person are
claimed to have been infringed, we care-
state-court, record.
Blackburn v. Alabama, supra;
55 U.S. 165, 78 S.Ct.
The duty of the

District Court on habeas is
exacting.

[22-24] (3) However, the obligation
of the Federal District Court to seruti-
nize the state-court findings of fact goes
farther than this. Even if all the rele-
vant facts were presented in the state-
court hearing, it may be that the fact-
finding procedure there employed was not
adequate for reaching reasonably correct
Tesults. If the state trial judge has
made serious procedural errors (respect-
ing the claim pressed in federal habeas)
in such things as the burden of proof, a
federal hearing is required. Even where
the procedure employed does not violate
the Constitution, if it appears to be
seriously inadequate for the ascertain-
‘mentof the truth, it is the federal judge’s
duty to disregard the state findings and
take evidence anew. Of course, there are

rrors so grave as to require

ate order directing the habeas

S e

a new trial forthwith. Our present con-

cern is with errors which, although less

serious, are nevertheless grave enough to

deprive the state evidentiary hearing of

its adequacy as a means of finally deter-

mining facts upon which constitutional
rights depend.

a7
), [25-27] (4) Where newly discovered
levidence i alleged in a babeas applica-
tion, evidence which could not reasonably
have been presented to the state trier of
facts, the federal court must grant an
evidentiary hearing. Of course, such
evidence must bear upon the constitu-

ionality of the applicant's detention; the

*<cxislmce merely of newly discovered evi-

dence relevant to the guilt of a state

45 1969
prisoner is not a ground for relief on
federal habeas corpus.  Also, the district
judge is under no obligation to grant a
hearing upon a frivolous or incredible al-
legation of newly discovered evidence.
[28] (5) The conventional notion of
the kind of newly discovered evidence
which will permit the reopening of a
judgment is, however, in some respects
0o limited to provide complete guidance
to the federal district judge on habeas.
X1, for any reston ot aitibutabl o the
Inexcusableneglit of petitidner, oo
. 872 U-S, p. 408, 83 8.C, . 548
o s e illie s e
quate consideration of the constitution-
al claim was not developed at the state
hearing, a federal hearing is compelled.
The standard of inexcusable default set
down in Fay v. Noia adequately pro-
tects the legitimate state interest in
orderly criminal procedure, for it does
not sanction needless piecemeal presenta-
itutional claims in the form

USS. 266, 291, 68 S.Ct. 1049, 1063, 92 L.
Ed. 1356: “The primary purpose of a
habeas corpus proceeding is to make cer-
tain that a man is not unjustly imprison-
ed. And if for some justifiable reason
he was previously unable to assert his
rights or was unaware of the significance
of relevant facts, it is neither necessary
nor reasonable to deny him all opportun-
ity of obtaining judicial relief.”

[29] (6) Our final category is inten-
tionally open-ended because we cannot
ere anticipate all the situations wherem
nhc:\rmwndsmu\dsd Ttis the
of the lstrict udges firs o determine
such necessities in accordance

18

with the
general rules. The duty to try the facts
anew.exists in every case in which the
state court has not after a full hearing
reliably found the relevant facts.

v.
Tt is appropriate to add a few observa-

tions concerning the proper application of
the test we have outlined.
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[30,31] First. The purpose of the
test s to indicate the situations in which
the holding of an evidentiary hearing is
mandatory. In all other cases where the
material facts are in dispute, the holding
of such a hearing is in the discretion of
the district judge. If he concludes that
the habeas applicant was afforded a full
and fair hearing by the state court re-
sulting in reliable findings, he may, and
ordinarily should, accept the facts as
found in the hearing. But he need not.
In every case he has the power, constrain-
ed only by his sound discretion, to receive
evidence bearing upon the applicant’s
constitutional claim. There is every rea-
son to be confident that federal district
judges, mindful of their delicate role in
the maintenance of proper federal-state
relations, will not abuse that discretion.

e hearing power

be used to subvert the integrity of

state criminal justice or to waste the

time of the federal courts in the trial of
frivolous claims.

[32] Second. Although the district
judge may, where the state court has re-
Tiably found the relevant facts, defer to
the state court’s findings of fact, he may
not defer to its findings of law. It is
the district judge’s duty to apply the ap-
plicable federal law to the state court
fact findings independently. The state
conclusions of law may not be given bind-
ing weight on habeas. That was settled
n Brown v. Allen, supra, 344 US. at
506, 73 S.Ct. at 445 (opinion of Mr. Jus-
tice Frankfurter)

[33,34] Third. A District Court sit-
ting in habeas corpus clearly has the
power to compel production of the com-
plete

a0

state-court record. - Ordinarily
such a_record—including the transcript
of testimony (or if unavailable some ade-
quate substitute, such as a narrative rec-
ord), the pleadings, court opinions, and
other pertinent documents—is indispen-

372 US, 318

sable to determining whether the habeas
n ved a full and fair state-
S e
See United States ex

if because no record

be obtained the district judge has
1o way of determining whether a full and
fair hearing which resulied in findings
of relevant fact was vouchsafed, he must,
hold one. 80 also, there may. be cases in
which it is more convenient for the dis-
trict judge to hold an evidentiary hear-|
ing forthwith rather than compel produc-
tion of the record. clear that he
has the power to do so.

Fourth. Tt rests largely with the fed-
eral district judges to give practical form
to the principles announced today. We
are aware that the too promiscuous grant
of evidentiary hearings on habeas could
both swamp the dockets of the District

by the district judges who are
of their paramount responsibility in ¢
area.

v.

[35,36] Application of the foregoing
principles to the particular litigation be-
fore us is not difficult. Townsend re-
ceived
320

evidentiary hearing at his
original trial, where his confession was
held to be voluntary. Having exhausted
his state remedies without receiving any
further such hearing, he turned to the
Federal District Court.
beas corpus relief
out an evidentiary hearing. On appeal

372 US. 322
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from the second denial, the Court of Ap-
peals held that “[o]n habeas corpus, the
district. court’s inquiry is limited to a
study of the undisputed portions of the
record” That formulation was error.
And we believe that on this record it was
also error to refuse Townsend an eviden-
y hearing in the District Court. The
state trial judge rendered meither an
opinion, conclusions of law, nor findings
of fact. He made no charge to the jury
setting forth the constitutional standards
governing the admissibility of confes-
sions. In short, there are 1o indicia which
would indic; ether the trial judge
applied the proper standard of federal
law in ruling upon the admissibility of
the confession. The Illinois Supreme
Court opinion rendered at the time of
direct appeal contains statements which
might indicate that the court thought
the confession was admissible if it satis-
fied the “coherency” standard, Under
that test the confession would be admis-
sible “[s]o long as the accused [was]
capable of making a marrative of past
events or of stating his i participation
in the erime * * =" 11 1112d at 43,
141 NE.2d at 736, As we. Im\u indicated
in Part I of this opinion, this test is not
the proper one. Possibly the state trial
judge believed that the admissibility of
allegedly drug-induced mnfosum was
to be judged by the “coherency” stand-
Sl o e it
an
could be eliminated, and it could be as-

o o the juy deait only with
S0 far as ¢
Even accept-
the instructions,
there i noing in ho harge to tho ury
al judze, like

. Tike the
o Courty i ot hink that thmmr
s conclusively cstablished by a

$ At

Mhowing hat the defe

“accoting the Con
8t e nt dows, it cannot

ettt ah

not compelled. Truo th

certained that correct standards of law
were applied, it is still unclear whether
the state trial judge would have exclud-
ed Townsend's confession as involuntary
if he had believed the evidence which
Townsend presented at the motion to
suppress. The problem which the trial
judge faced was novel and by no means
without difficulty. We believe that the
Federal District Court could not conclude
that the state trial judge admitted the
confession_because he_disbelieved the
evidence which would show that it was
involuntary. We believe that.the find-
ings of fact of the state trier could not
be successfully reconstructed. We hold
that, for this reason, an evidentiary hear-
ing was compelled.1?

Furthermore, a crucial fact was
not disclosed at the state-court hearing:
that the substance injected into Town-
send before he confessed has properties
which may trigger statements in a legal
sense involuntary13 This fact was vital
to whether his confession was the prod-
uct of a free will and therefore admis-
sible, To be sure, there was medical tes-
timony as to the general properties of
hyoscine, from which might have been
inferred the conclusion

that Townsend's
power of resistance had been debilitated.
But the crucially informative character-
ization of the drug, the characterization
which would have enabled the judge and
jury, mere laymen, intelligently to grasp
the nature of the substance under in-

it believed the petitioners expert.

try
of the experts testimony, the confession
was voluntars.

substance injectod, alook with phenobae-
bital, into Townsend) was identical t
seopolamine, and nithr was it d

it scopol I

i
amine (o hyoseine) 1o & “truth serum




iy, was mexphmbly omitted _from
e testimony.  Under
the crcumstances, disclosure of the Hon.
tity of hyoscine as a “truth serum” was
indispensable to a fair, rounded, develop-
ment of the material facts. d
medical experts’ failure to testify fully
cannot realistically be regarded as Town-
send’s inexcusable default. See Fay v.
Noia, 372 U.S, p. 438, 83 S.Ct, p. 848
(Part V).

[38] On the remand it would not, of
course, be sufficient. for the District
Court merely to hear new evidence and
to read the state-court record. Where
an unresolved factual dispute exists, d
meanor evidence is a significant factor in
adjudging credibility. And questions of
credibility, of course, are basic to resolu-
tion of conflicts in testimony. T be
e e competent
evidence, and either party may chooss
to rely solely upon the evidence contail
ed in that record, but the petitioner, and
the State, must be given the opportunity
to present other testimonial and docu-
mentary evidence selevant to the dlmnt-
ed issues. This was not done h

Tn demdmz this case as we do, we do
not mean to prejudge the truth of the
allegations of the petition for habeas
corpus. We decide only that on this rec-
ord the t'edcral dmm judge was obliged
to hold a hea

Reversed nnd remanded.

Mr. Justice GOLDBERG, concurring.

1 join in the opinion and judgment of
the Court and add a few words by wa
of comment on the dissenting opinion of
my Brother STEWART.

cannot agree \-..m Mr. Ju
STEWART that.

to_the jury by the trial judge on the
iSsue of credibility indicate the applic:
tion of a proper constitutional test to
measure the voluntariness—and hence
the admissibility—of the petitioner’s dis
puted confession of the Boone murder.

372 U.S. 392

In my view, the very portions of the in-
structions excerpted by my Brother
ART support, if anything,

p

impermissible standard

was utilized by the trial judge himself
in the suppression hearing.

f, as susgested by my Brother STEW:
se instry

dence the exchisionary

by 1}19 trial m((

motior
1D et canstitut

as does the standard of admissibility
contained in the affirming opinion of the'
Tlinois Supreme Court. While the ap-
pellate court, as pointed out in the
opinion of THE CHIEF JUSTICE, see
PP. 760-761, appears to have adopted a
test of “coherency” to mensure the ad-

porate similar elements, fail to conform
to the requisite test.

he third paragraph of the instrue-
uom auoted by my Brother STEWART

Ioss of control, this instruction indicates
the trial court’s apparer

drug had the effeet of overbearing
petitionecs il but did it
loss of

memory, the confession would
nonelhiless romaly acceptable evidence of
guilt. This conclusion is buttressed by
thc instruction quoted in the concluding

aragraph of mote 2 in my Brother
ETEWARTS dissenting opinion, in

14. Cf. 23 US.C. §§ 2245, 2247,

372 US, 528
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which the trial court indicates that the
ht be disregarded by the

It simply if the drug had the ef-
rted by the petitioner’s expert

in rlx\pulxs& to a hypothetical question,
but only if, in addition, the drug so af-
fected the petitioner's cmmiou«nm that
t he was doing.”

it e oner iRy have been flyiawass
of what he was doing in confessing and

‘whether the drug—whatever label was or
was not affixed to it—so overbore the
petitioner's will that he was unable to

because of the drug,
have been wholly unable to stop himself
from admitting guilt.*

sence of contrary indications,

1 think we must recognize that the mi
Eonntion of iha gt ol

well
have infected the trial judge’s ruling at
the suppression hearing. The inference
r is not negatived by the remain-
der of the instructions, which permit dis-
rogard of the confession if induced by
force, physical or mental, duress, or
promise of reward. In the context of the
instructions as a whole, these references
to “voluntariness” do not meet the prob-
lems raised by the administration of the
drug to the petitioner and do not vitiate
the crucial inference that
aa

the trial judge
viewed exclusion as dependent upon the
presence of facts in addition to a drug-
induced sterilization of the petitioner’s
will

For the reasons contained in the opin-
fon of the Court, and on the basis of
what T believe to be the wholly fair in-

Tho petitioner's nitinl resistance to adm
flood of confessions su

ceiing immelintly upon aduinistzation of
the drug to Lim, see pp. T53-54, all

ference that the trial court misconceive
the proper constitutional measure of ad-
missibility of the petitioner’s confession,
the lack of any indication that the trial
court did utilize the correct test, and the
state appellate court's apparent applica-
tion of a similarly erroncous standard, I

e that a hearing must be held below.

Finally, the Court's opinion does mot
warrant my Brother STEWART'S criti-
cism as to the propriety or wisdom of
artiiabhins. sOGHAAT Vo Garvera) fis
grant of evidentiary hearings in habeas
corpus pxoceedini{s The selting v[ cer-

sitio

ST e s
and application is an appropriate exercise
Court’s adjudicatory obligations.
Particularly when, as here, the Court is
dlrecung the federal judiciary as to its
rol pplying the historic remedy in
dlmuk and sensitive area involving
Pt e o federalism, the careful

enforcement of the Constitution in dif-
ferent parts of the Nation, [we] lay
down as specifically as the nature of the

sentence of State courts.” :
len, 344 U.S. 443, 501-502, 73 S.Ct. 897,
443, 97 LEd. 469 (separate opinion of
Mr. Justice Frankfurter).

Mr. Justice STEWART, whom Mr.
Justice CLARK, Mr. Justice HARLAN,
and Mr. Justice WHITE join, dissenting.

The basis for my disagreement with
the Court can perhaps best be explained
if 1 define at the outset the several areas

h I am entirely in accord with the

az
opinion. First, as to the under-

diate the ren possilty chat s wil was

overborne. Moreover, the reliability of
& iuabi of thba contoudions'la seciousty
fmpaired. See ibid,




Iying issue of constitutional law, T com-
pletely agree that a confession induced
by the administration of drugs is consti
tutionally inadmi in a criminal trial.
Secondly, I agree that the Court of Ap-
peals in this case stated an erroncous
standard when it said that “[o]n habeas
corpus, the district court’s inquiry is
limited to o study of the ummmmd
portions of the record. 276
F.2d 324, 329, Thlr(ll), 1 agree that
where an applicant for a writ of habeas
cts which, if proved,

would entitle him to relief, the federal
court to which the application is mad
has the power to receive evidence and
try the facts anew.t

T differ with the Court' disposition
of this case in two important respects.
First, 1 strongly doubt the wisdom of
using this case—or any other—as a
vehicle for cataloguing in advance a ect
of standards which are inflexibly to
pel district judges to grant evidentiary
hearings in habeas corpus proceedings.
Secondly, I think that a de novo eviden-
tiary hm.ng is not required in the
present case, even under the very stan-
o whxch the Court's opinion elabor-
ates.

I

1 have no guarrel with the Courts
statement of ic governing prin-
ciple which showld determans whethon a
hearing is to be had in a federal habeas
corpus

arm

eeding: “Where the facts are
i dispute, the federal court in habeas
corpus must hold an evidentiary hearing
if the habeas applicant did not receive

b Tptst, e ot verin of 2 TS,
8 2248 dirceted the conrt to *
summary.
the_case, Uy hearing the testimny
o of

5 LE 4
ol Ee
vised 0. that it now provides. that “Tire

a full and fair evidentiary hearing in a
state court, either at the time of the trial
or in a collateral procceding.” P. 757.
But the Court rightly says that “[i]t
would be unwise to overly particularize
this test,” and T think that in attempt
ing to erect m.mm hs’um)z standards
for the myriad situations by
federal habeas mmm S
Court disregards its own wise admoni-
tion,

The Court has done little more today
than to supply new phrases-—~imprecise
in scope and uncertain in meaning—for
the habeas corpus vocabulary of District
Court judges. And because they purport
to establish mandatory y.muremmu
rather than guidelines, the tests elab-
orated in the Court’s oplmnu run mc
serious risk of bc-mmm;{ I
phiases, bhs m\'chumnc

e determine mmhu- or
not a hL.umx is m be h:

More fundamentally, the enunciation
of an claborate set of standards govern-
ing habeas corpus hearings

pages of the Courl’s opinion which set
these standards forth cannot, therefore,
be justified even in terms of the normal
function of dictum. The reasons A'or the
rule against advisory apinio

to decide questions ot z\cm.AU\ in
issue are too well established to need
repeating at this late date. See e. g.
Marine Cooks & Stewards v. Panama
8. 8. Co, 362 U.S. 365, 368, n. 5, 80 S.Ct.
779, 4 LEA.2d 797; International Asso-
ciation of Machinists v. National Labor

ourt. shall smmarily heae and detormine
the faets, and dinpose
'

sk
Wiher,

the state court has reliably
found facts relovant to any issue, the dis.
triet julgo in such a hearing should, of
course, give approvriate deference to such
Sindings. See p. 760,

Cite na 838t
Relations Board, 362 U.S. 411, 415, 80
S.Ct. 822, 825, 4 LEd2d 82 n. 5. I
regard these reasons as peculiarly per-

rules what is essentially an extraordi
ary writ, designed to do justice in ex-

-y and often unpredictable situ-
ations.

a2
I

'F‘\cn accepting the Court's detailed

ring standards in foto, however, I
.mnol agree that any one of them re-
quires the District Court to hold a new
evidentiary hearing in the present case.
And T think, putting these rigid formu-
lations to one side, that accepted prin-
ciples governing the fair and prompt
administration of cmmn.u il
our federal system aff ely counsel
ot . i i oteral comrt hearing
in this case.

The Court refers to two specific defects
which it feels compel a hearing in the
District Court: the absence of “indicia

e whether the trial

ied the proper standard. of

law i ruling upon the admissi-

bility of the confession” and the fact that,

losed in the state hearing

e injected into Town-

send before he confesscd has properties

which may trigger statements in a legal

sense involuntary.” Since the lengthy

extracts from the testimony and plead-

ings in the Court’s opinion el

o me to bear on these issues, it becomes

L

T e e

Court is mistaken in concluding that a
new hearing is required.

During the early morning hours of
January 1, 1954, the petitioner was ar-
rested by the Chicago police. He ad-
mitted having given himself an injec-
tion of heroin 90 minutes before his
arrest. Within an hour of his arrest,
he was questioned for 30 minutes about
various crimes, all of which he denied

5 (1965)
having committed. He was not ques-
tioned again until that evening.

Shortly after the evening questioning.
began, the petitioner complained of
stomach pains and requested a doctor.
A police surgeon was summoned, and he
administered an injection consisting of
2 ce/s of a saline solution in which 1/230
grain of hyoscine hydrobromide and 3

grain of phenobarbital were dissolved.
Slightly more than an hour later, the
petitioner confessed U S s
Boone. The followin; 15 hours after
the police surgeon hm] ‘Sdministered the
hyoscine, the petitioner initialed a copy
of his previous night's statement in the
offices of the State's Attorney General
At the coroner's hearing on January 4,
the petitioner again confessed to the
Boone killing.

A. THE STANDARD OF FEDERAL e Ar-
PLIED BY THE St L Cours
IN RULING UPON THE An\ussmu.m
OF THE CONFESSION.

At the trial, the petitioner’s lawyer
objected to introduction of the confession
on the ground that it was involuntary.
In accordance with Tllinois practice, the
‘motion to suppress was argued before the
judge in the absence of the jury. During
this proceeding, the petitioner testified
that the injection had produced a tem-
porary state of amnesia, that he could
not remember making any confession,
and that various other physical effects
were produced. The police officers pres-
ent at the petitioner's questioning stated
that no change in the petitioner's de-
‘meanor suggesting any loss of his mental
faculties had taken place as a result of the
injection. On the question of the possible
effects of the injection administered to
the petitioner, Dr. Mmsﬁeld e polica
surgeon and a licensed physician, testified
Tor the State that he had trented thou-
sands of narcotics addicts suffering from
withdrawal symptoms, that n about 0%
of such cases he had used the same treat-
o A i petitioner, and
that he could recall no case in his ex-
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perience where his use of hyoscine had
produced loss of memory. A doctor of
Ppharmacology ot @ licens

d
physician) testied on hehalf of the peti-
to ah

tioner, and in answer to a hypothetical
Question stated that a person in the pe
tioner’s condition at the time of interro-
gation could have

a0

been suffering amnesia
and partial loss of consciousness as th
result of the treatment which had been
administered to relieve the narcotic with-
drawal_symptoms. On' cross-examina-
tion, this witness revealed that he had
mever actually seen the effects of hyo-
scine on a human and admitted that he
was unfamiliar with its use in treating
drug addicts. 1t is evident that a finder
of fact could with reason have accorded
more credibility to the evidence offered
by the prosecution than to_that offered
by the defen

2. Among the instructions given were tho
following:
“There has been admitted into evidence
a written confession alleged to have be
made. el ani voluniarily by the defr

Yo are furtlier instrocted that a cone
fession madefreely an

then you may totally dis-

it o,

You are farther instructed that it you
find from the evidence that the defendant
weas given driugs and that said dro
im0 lose his memory and create 1
of amnesia in dhe defonine during_tho

of this defendant by the police
SEBtate' Attarasy and tat the deience
e 2ok, sl o contro i ngwers_or to
assert his will by
Doy e thrin
e contssion,
ou ore imtructed that it you fnt

W erused
(e Soatmat
oty disrognnd the contesion

Tt is true, as the Court today say:
in overruling the motion to suppress
confession, the trial judge did not ex-

I out the exclusionary stan-

pplying. The instructions
to the jury at the end of the case, how-
ever, although directed to the question
of credibility—since that was the issue
before the jury under Lllinois procedure
—were couched in terms of voluntariness,
and they clearly established that the trial
Judge was aware of the correct constitu-
tional standards fo be applied.?
sa

Nothing
in the record indicates that an ‘ncorrect
standard was applied at the suppression
hearing.  Given these circumstances, 1
think it mmplmh Ee b
to assume that t dge did not
apply “the yunym ctanderd ot fonernt
law in ruling upon the admissibility of
the confession.” Where, as her

ion ur furthr intruted dht i

o have made & contes.

here s beon itrodued o eviloncs
the testimony of the

certain drugs had upon a hypothetical per-

Yoo are forther nstrcted tht you

Teged to have made during the time su
fluence, if any, was exerted upon his

OWNSEND v. PA
Clte as 8 8.0t 743 (1963)

eesto ol (acy.trlexlion
tha ate trial judge employed an
erroneous constitutional standard, the
presumption should surely be that the
U S s T

is improper to presume
m tﬂwunl]mlm did not know the law
which the Constitution commands him to
follow. Yet that is precisely the pre-
sumption which the Court makes in this

£
5 Op oo TINGElTRE, FUlr @ o
THE MEDICINE ADMINIST
PETITIONER
Much of the evidence which had been
presented to the judge alone was subse-
quently brought before the jur:
fense counsel in an attempt to diminish
the weight to be given to the confession.
evidence was also adduced by

another licensed physician, who made
clear that hyoscine was identi
scopolamine. The case was submitted to
the jury under unexceptionable instruc-
ns3 and the petitioner was convicted
and sentenced to. denth. The Ilinois
Supreme Court, after reviewing in detail
the evidence bearing on the voluntariness
of the confession, affirmed the conviction.
11 Tl2d 80, 141 N.E2d 720. This
Court denied certiorari, 355 U.S. 850, 78
S.Ct. 76,2 LEd2d 60; rehearing denied,
355 U.S. 887, 79 S.CL. 128, 3 LEd2d 115
The petitioner then instituted post-
conviction proceedings in the state trial
court, His claim in these proceedings
was that the confession had been pro-
cured as a result of the administration
of scopolamine, that the witnesses for the
State were aware of the identity of sco-
polamine and hyoscine and had deliber-
ately withheld the fact of this identity at
trial, and that the petitioner had conse~
auently nt been forded ai opportuni
to make clear the basis for his claim that
hia confession had_ been G o
ourt dismissed the petition, and the
e e

an unpublished opinion, that court con-
cluded as follow
“A stud
original app
the evidence with respect to e
ine and phenobarbital
kel o rea (R T
resolving the issue of the validity of
petitioner's confession. (People vs.
Townsend,
N.E2d 72
(]mr that the issue of the effect of
drug on the confession was be-
m us *. The only matter
which was not presented then was
the fact that hyoscine and scopol-

writ of error contends that this fact
could not have been presented to us
because it was unknown to petitioner
and his counsel at the time. Assum-
ing for the moment the truth of thi
statement, we are of the opinion that
e mere fact that the drug which
was administered to petitioner is
known by two different names pre-
sents no constitutional issue. At the
original trial there was extensive
medical testimony as to the proper-
ties and effects of hyoscine. If hyo-
scine and scopolamine are, in fact,
identical, the medical testimony as
to these properties and effects would
be the same, regardless of the name
of the drug. In determining the
effect of the drug on the validity of
petitioner’s confession, the vital is-
sue was its nature and its effect,
rather than its name. This issue
was thoroughly presented, both in
the trial court and in this Court,
Furthermore, the claim by pe
now that the State ‘suppressed" this
identity of hyoscine and scopolamine
at the trial is destroyed by reference
to the bill of exceptions from the
1 A State medical wit.
ss-examination by peti.

3. See footnote 2, supra.
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tioner's counsel stated: ‘Scopol-

amine or hyoscine are the same.””

Even under the detailed hearing re-
quirements announced today by the
Court, therefore, 1 think it is clear that
the dis
conclude, on the basis
of the full record of mc«uu- proceedings,
that a new hearing on habeas corpus
woult

roper.. For the record of
ne-ats proedef sy abams! thak
the petitioner received a full and fair
earing as to the factual foundation for
his constitutional claim
propertics of the drug which had e
administered to him and the circumstanc-
es surrounding his confession. A total
of 3 medical experts and 17 lay wit-
nesses festified. Their testimony was in
conflict. The trial court determined upon
this conflicting evidence that there was
no factual basis for the petitioner’s claim
that his confession had been involuntary.
There is nothing whatever in the record
to support an inference that the trial
court did not serupulously apply a com-
pletely correct constitutional standard in
determining that the confession was
missibled  The trial courts determina-
tion was fully reviewed by the Supreme
Court of i el sifeieeen
fo poetconyieion procses
T be surs, o mitnba ot b
ath serum”— phr.nL
ientific
. Yet I cannot but agree with
e Hnreema Conc o Tl st tha
mere fact that a drug may be known by
re than one name hardly presents a
constitutional issue.

Under our Constitution the State of
has the power and duty to ad-
min ter its own criminal justice. In

car
e
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment. I think Illinois has clearly ac-
corded the petitioner due process in this

372 U.S, 833

case. To require a federal court now to
hold a new trial of factual claims which
jrere long ago fully and fairly determined

in the courts of Illinois is, I think, to
e prompt admin-
istration of criminal justice, to disrespect.
the fundamental structure of our federal
system, and to debase the Great Writ of
Habeas Corpus.

1 would affirm,

73 v, 477
Ward LANE, Warden, Petitioner,
v.

George Robert BROWN.

No. 283.

Argued Jan. 16 and 17, 1963,
Decided March 18, 1963.

Habeas corpus proceeding by a state
The United States District
Court for the Northern Distrct of Tndi-
ana, South Bend Division, 196 F.Supp.
B
pealed. The Court of Appeals, 302 F.2d
537, affirmed, and the warden petitioned
for certiorari. The Supreme Court, Mr.
Justice Stewart, held that an Indiana
prisoner who, following refusal of public
defender to take an appeal was prevented
from taking an appeal from denial of a

writ of error coram nobis because m» was
an indigent, unable to purchase
seript, was denied equal protection af the
Jaw in_view of fact such appeal could
have been maintained if prisoner had
funds to purchase a transcript.

ran-

Judgments of Court of Appeals and
of District Court vacated and case re-

4. Seo pp. 706767, supra.

372 US. 478

manded for entry of orders in accord-
ance with opinion.

1. Constitutional Law €250
Equal protection of the law requires
that a state with an appellate system
which makes available trial transcripts to
those who can afford them must provide
as adequate appellate review to indigent
defendants. U.S.C.A.Const. Amend. 14.
2. Constitutional Law ¢>250
Once a state chooses to establish ap-
pellate review in criminal cases, the equal
protection clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment requires that the state not
foreclose indigents from access to any
yh'\ of that procedure because of their
, and such principle is not to be
Trmited to direct appeals from eriminal
convictions but extends alike to state
postconviction proceedings.  U.S.CA.
Const. Amend. 1

3. Constitutional Law €250
rinciple that equal protection of

the law requires that once the state
chooses to establish appellate review in
criminal cases, it may not foreclose in-
digents from access to any phase of that
procedure because of their poverty, ap-
plies even though the state has nlrmdy
provided one review on the merits. U.S.
C.A.Const. Amend. 14.
4. Constitutional Law €250

Indiana procedure whereby a per-
son with sufficient funds can appeal as
of right to the Supreme Court of Indiana
from denial of a writ of error coram
nobis, but an indigent can, at will of the
public defender, be entirely cut off from
any appeal did not meet constitutional
standards of equal protection of the law.
U.S.C.A.Const. Amend. 14; Burns' Ann.
St.Ind. §§ 13-1401 et seq,, 13-1402, 13—
1404, 13-1405; Supreme Court Rules
Ind. rules 2-6, 2-40,
5. Constitutional Law €250

An Indiana prisoner who, following
refusal of public defender to take an
appeal was prevented from taking an ap-

1. TndConst. Art. 1, § 13 (1851). In 1854
the Supremo Court of Indiana said: “Tt

LANE v. BROWN 769
Cite s 5,01, 765 (1069
peal from denial of a writ of error coram

fact such appeal could have been main-
tained if p had funds to purchase
a transcript. U.S.C.A.Const. Amend. 14;
Burns' Ann.St.Ind. §§ 13-1401 et seq,
131402, 13-1404, 13-1405; Supreme
Court Rules Ind. rules 2-6, 2-40.

William D. Ruckelshaus, Tndianapolis,
L B A B
cial leave of Court.

Nathan Lev.
respondent.

Mr. Justice STEWART delivered the
opinion of the Court,

South Bend, Ind, for

The respondent, George Robert Brown,
is in an Indiana prison undcr sentence
of death. He is an indigen

78

fed-
eral habeas corpus proceeding the Dis-
trict Court held that Indiana has depriv-
ed Brown of a right secured by the
Fourteenth Amendment by refusing him
appellate review of the denial of a writ
of error coram nobis solely because of his
poverty. 196 F.Supp. 484. The Court
of Appeals affirmed. 302 F.2d 537. We
agree that the Indiana procedure at is-
sue in this case falls short of the require-
ments of the Fourteenth Amendment
of the United States Constitution.

In the administration of its criminal
law, Indiana seems to have long pursued
a conspicuously enlightened policy in the
quest for equal justice to the destitute,
and it is not without irony that the con-
stitutional problem in this case stems
from legislation mdemly enacted to en-
Iavxee that State’s existing system of aid

o the indigent. more than a hun-
red years the Indiana Constitution has
guaranteed the assistance of counsel to
every defendant in a criminal trialt

s not to be thought of, i a civilized com-
munity, for a moment, that any citizen
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CHAPTER 153—HABEAS CORPUS

2241, Power to grant writ.

2242, Application.

2243, Issuance of writ; return; hearing; decision.

. Finality of determination,

2245, Certificate of trial judge admissible in evidence.

2246, Evidence; depositions; affidavits.

2247. Documentary evidence

2048, Return or answer; conclusiveness.

S5, Cortified copies of indictment, plea and judgment; duty of

respondent.

2250, Tndigent petitioner entitled to documents without cost.
. Stay of State court proceedings.

2252. Notice.

2253. Appeal.

9954, State custody; remedies in Federal Courts.

3255, Federal custody; remedies on motion attacking sentence.

§ 2254. State custody; remedies in Federal courts.

(a) The Supreme Court, a Justice thereof, a circuit judge, or a
district court shall entertain an application for a writ of habeas cor-
pus in behalf of a person in custody pursuant to the judgment of a
(/ Site court only on the ground that he i in custody

the Constitution or laws or ‘treaties of the United States.

(b) An application for a ‘writ of habeas corpus in behalf of a per-
son in custody pursuant to the judgment of a State court shall not
be granted unless it appears that the applicant has exhausted the
remedies available in the courts of the State, or that there is either
an absence of available State corrective process or the existence of cir-
cumstances rendering such process ineffective to protect the rights
of the prisoner.

(¢) An applicant shall not be deemed to have exhausted the rem-
edies available in the courts of the State, within the meaning of this
section, if he has the right under the law of the State to raise, by
any available procedure, the question presented.

(@ In any proceeding instituted in a Federal court by an applica-
tion for a writ of habeas corpus by a person in custody pursuant to
the judgment of a State court, a determination after a hearing on
the merits of a factual issue, made by a State court of competent juris-
ietion in & proceeding to which the applicant for the writ and the
State or an officer or agent thereof were parties, evidenced by a writ-
ten finding, written opinion, or other reliable and adequate written
[ indicia, shall be presumed to be correct, unless the applicant shall es-

| tablish or it shall otherwise appear, or the respondent shall admit—
(1) that the merits of the factual dispute were not resolved in
the State court hearing;

28 §2254
(2) that the factfinding procedure employed by the State court
was not adequate to afford a full and fair hearing;

Ch. 153 TATE CUSTODY

(3) that the material facts were not adequately developed at
the State court hearing;

(4) that the State court lacked jurisdiction of the subject mat-
ter or over the person of the applicant in the State court pro-
ceedin

(5) that the applicant was an indigent and the State court, in
deprivation of his constitutional right, failed to appoint counsel
{o represent him in the State court proceeding;

(6) that the applicant did not receive a full, fair, and adequate
hearing in the State court proceeding; or

(7) that the applicant was otherwise denied due process of law
in the State court proceeding;

(8) or unless that part of the record of the State court pro-
ceeding in which the determination of such factual issue was
Tmade, pertinent to a determination of the sufficiency of the evi-
dence to support such factual determination, is produced as pro-
Vided for hereinafter, and the Federal court on a consideration of
auch part of the record as a whole concludes that such factual
determination is not fairly supported by the record:

And in an evidentiary hearing in the proceeding in the Federal court,
when due proof of such factual determination has been made, unless
the existence of one or more of the circumstances respectively set
Torth in paragraphs numbered (1)-to (7), inclusive, is shown by the
applicant, otherwise appears, or is admitted by the respondent, or
“nless the court concludes pursuant to the provisions of paragraph
umbered (8) that the record in the State court proceeding, considered
25 a whole, does not fairly support such factual determination, the
burden shall rest upon the applicant to establish by convincing evi
dence that the factual determination by the State court was erroneous.

() 1f the applicant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence ad-
duced in such State court proceeding to support the State court!
dotermination of & factual issue made therein, the applicant, if able,
shall produce that part of the record pertinent to a determination of
the sufficiency of the evidence to support such determination.
ant, because of indigency or other reason is unable to pro-
duce such part of the record, then the State shall produce such part
‘of the record and the Federal court shall direct the State to do so by
order directed to an appropriate State official. If the State cannot
Provide such pertinent part of the record, then the court shall deter-
Tine under the existing facts and circumstances what weight shall be

() A copy of the official records of the State court, duly certified
by the clerk of such court to be a true and correct copy of a finding,
Judicial opinion, or other reliable written indicia showing such &

e

1
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factual determination by the
Federal court proceeding.
June 25, 1948, c. 646, 62 Stat. 967; Nov.
80 Stat. 1105.

State court shall be admissible in the

2, 1966, Pub.L. 89-711, § 2,
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2252, Notice,

2253 Appe:
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Historieal Noto
1066 Amendment. P § 5 “Federal courts® for “Blate Courts” in
s Ak i, unalnted e 2254,

§ 2241. l‘n\\‘cr to grant writ
(1) Writs of habeas corpus may be granted by the Supreme Court,
!hcrco( he district courts and any circuit
e nective jurisdictions. The order of a circuit judge shall be
eI the records of the district.court.of the district wherein
the restraint complained of is had. T
£, and any circuit judge
b) The Supreme Court, any justice thereo X
iy decline to entertain an o lication for a writ of habeas c vas
T e transfor the application for hearing and determination o
the district court having jurisdiction to entertain it.

2

Ch. 153 POWER TO GRANT WRIT 28 § 2241
KOGt efabess corpas hall not extend toje priscner i
ess—
) He is in custody under or by color of the authority of the
United States or is committed for trial before some court there-
of; or
(2) He is in custody for an act done ot omitted in pursuance
of an Act of Congress, or an order, process, judgment or decree
of a court or judge of the United States; or
—— (3 He s in custody in violation of the Con
or treaties of the United States
_ (4) He, being a citizen of a foreign state and domiciled there-
in is in custody for an act done or omitted under any alleged
right, title, authority, privilege, protection, or exemption claimed
under the commission, order or sanction of any foreign state, or
nder color theref,the validity and effect of which depend upan
the law of nations;

itation or laws

(5) It is necessary to bring him into court to testify or for

s corpus is made by
iEmsnt a1 Bestanco of  State couts
of a State which contains two or more Federal judicial districts, the
application may be filed in the district court for the district wherein
such person is in custody or in the district court for the district
Pl tagiats SupmEhell St comiAd and sentenced
ict courts shall have concurrent jurisdi
n. The district court for the district
filed in the exereise of its discretion
and In furtherance of justics may transfer the application to the
other district court for hearing and determination.
June 25, 1948, c. 646, 62 Stat. 964; May 24, 1949, c. 139, § 112, 63
Stat. 105; Sept. 19, 1966, Pub.L. 89-590, 80 Stat. 811.
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